
 

Page 1 of 2 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

MEETING AGENDA 
May 20, 2020 – 1:30 PM 

 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDERS N-25-20 AND N-29-20  

THE SMART BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 
 
ZOOM TELECONFERENCE INSTRUCTIONS 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT PRIOR TO MEETING: 
If you wish to make a comment you are strongly encouraged to please submit your comment by 
5:00 p.m. on Tuesday, May 19, 2020 at  
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/SMARTBoardComments 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT DURING THE MEETING: 
The SMART Board Chair will open the floor for public comment during the Public Comment 
periods on the agenda. Please check and test your computer settings so that your audio speaker 
and microphones are functioning.  Speakers are asked to limit their comments to two (2) minutes. 
The amount of time allocated for comments during the meeting may vary at the Chairperson’s 
discretion depending on the number of speakers and length of the agenda.   

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Approval of the May 6, 2020 Board Minutes  

 
3. Board Member Announcements 

 
4. General Manager’s Report 

 
5. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 

 
6. Consent  

a. Approval of Monthly Financial Reports 
b. Accept Monthly Ridership Report- April 2020 
c. Accept Clipper START Program Report 
 

 

Page 1 of 111

http://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Board/COC%20Documents/Zoom%20Instructions_05.20.2020.pdf
http://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Board/COC%20Documents/Zoom%20Instructions_05.20.2020.pdf
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/SMARTBoardComments


 

Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 

7. Expansion of SMART Right-of-Way and Scope of Operations by adding Freight Service 
Responsibility and Executing Related Agreements 
 

8. SMART Budget Survey and Service Reduction Options 
 

9. Next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, June 3, 2020 – 1:30 PM 
 

10. Adjournment 
 

              
DISABLED ACCOMODATIONS: 
Upon request, SMART will provide for written agenda materials in appropriate alternative formats, or 
disability-related modification or accommodation, to enable individuals with disabilities to participate in 
and provide comments at/related to public meetings. Please submit a request, including your name, phone 
number and/or email address, and a description of the modification, accommodation, service or 
alternative format requested at least two (2) days before the meeting.  Requests should be emailed to 
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of the Board at lrosas-mendoza@sonomamarintrain.org or submitted by 
phone at (707) 794-3072. Requests made by mail SMART’s, 5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200, 
Petaluma, CA 94954 must be received at least two days before the meeting. Requests will be granted 
whenever possible and resolved in favor of accessibility. 

 

Page 2 of 111

mailto:lrosas-mendoza@sonomamarintrain.org


Page 1 of 12 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  
May 6, 2020- 1:30 PM  

 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDERS N-25-20 AND N-29-20  

THE SMART BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 
 

1. Call to Order 
 
Chair Lucan called the meeting to order at 1:30pm. Directors Connolly, Fudge, Garbarino, 
Hillmer, Naujokas, Pahre, Phillips, Rabbitt, Rogers and Zane were present. Director Arnold 
joined later. 
 
Chair Lucan welcomed everyone who joined the Board meeting through the variety of 
methods. - 
 

2. Approval of the April 15, 2020 Board Minutes  
 

Minutes to be corrected to reflect Director Connolly and Aleta Dupre changes. 
 
MOTION: Director Phillips moved approval of the April 15, 2020 Board Minutes as corrected.  
Director Zane second. The motion carried 11-0 (Director Arnold joined later).  
 

3.  Board Members Announcements 
 

Director Rabbitt stated that he will be participating in the MTC Programming and Allocations 
for the CARES Act Federal Transit Administration Funding distribution. The first meeting is 
scheduled in the next few weeks. 
 
Director Naujokas stated that he will need to leave the meeting early today. 
 
Director Arnold joined the meeting at 1:37pm 
 

Page 3 of 111



Page 2 of 12 

Chair Lucan stated that at the last meeting the Board and staff received a lot of 
comments/suggestions regarding Measure I campaign, and he encouraged the public to 
continue doing so. Chair Lucan invited Directors Connolly, Rabbitt, and Rogers to join Vice 
Chair Pahre and himself to work with staff to coordinate the information received. The 
information will be provided at a future Board meeting. 
 

4. General Manager’s Report 
 
General Manager Mansourian reported that since the start of passenger service in August 
2017, SMART has carried 1,869,524 passengers, 184,000 bicycles, and over 7,000 
wheelchairs. Also, I have continued to provide you weekly ridership data, now showing an 
increase in riders. 
 
He announced that Marin County Supervisors established the “Marin Recovers Task Force” 
(www.marinrecovers.com) to create a plan for the safe reopening of Marin County. The goal 
is to create a collaboration with various agencies, 13 sectors including transportation have 
been identified. They asked him to participate as the Transportation Sector Coordinator. He 
has been in contact with Marin Transit, Golden Gate Bridge and Transportation Authority of 
Marin and will be reaching out to Lyft, Taxi’s, Airporters and others, to prepare plans for 
safety measures for reopening of each sector. 
 
General Manager Mansourian stated that the City of Petaluma Council approved an 
Agreement for the Corona Station construction. Under the agreement the Developer will 
dedicate a 1.27-acre parcel at Corona Road and North McDowell to SMART for the 
construction of the station. The Developer will purchase the Downtown SMART property for 
$8 million and convey the parcel at Corona Road. Staff will bring to the Board at future 
meeting for approval. A group of Citizens have filed a litigation against the City of Petaluma 
and Developer. The Developer asked for an escrow extension to November 2020, due to the 
COVID-19, SMART approved the escrow extension for additional non-refundable deposit.   
 
Lastly, at our next Board meeting, Mr. Mansourian be presenting to the Board Senate Bill 
1029, introduced by Senator McGuire and approved by the Governor. Senate Bill 1029 states 
that it will re-organize the railroad that will be transferred to SMART. Senate Bill 356 
established various agreements for Senate Bill 1029. 
 
Comments 
Director Connolly stated that he is glad to read that the bike share along the right-of-way is 
moving forward. He asked the status of the Clipper Start Program with Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission (MTC). Mr. Mansourian responded that MTC did not award 
SMART’s request to join the program. Staff will provide a written report to the Board. 
 

5. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
  

Steve Birdlebough stated that he is having a difficult time hearing the meeting.  

Page 4 of 111

http://www.marinrecovers.com/


Page 3 of 12 

Richard Brand he thanked the Board members whom he has been in touched with and whom 
have been putting a lot of time exchanging ideas. He also attended the Citizen’s Oversight 
Committee meeting a couple of weeks ago, approximately 40 people attended the meeting. 
He suggested having a press release announcing to the public that they can listen to SMART’s 
meeting via new technology. 
 
Eris Weaver stated she is happy to see people using the pathways again. At the last Board 
meeting there were discussions about being more open in receiving public comment and 
engaging with the community; however, she is very surprised that the Citizen’s Oversight 
Committee meeting in April 2020 is not discussed in the General Manager’s Report or in the 
Board packet for today’s meeting. She suggested including the Citizen’s Oversight Committee 
meeting report in the Board packet. 
 
Jack Swearingen said that the Friends of SMART are aware of the letter that William Richards 
submitted to the Board. He suggested that the Board consider some of the comments made.  
 
Aleta Dupre stated that the Zoom Teleconference is very helpful to engage in the meetings. 
She suggested having a consistent train schedule throughout the day, and understands it’s 
difficult to change. She would like the Board and SMART to strongly advocate to other 
agencies the Clipper and Apps. SMART provides a very streamline ticketing service, for the 
public to have a consistent system to use public transportation. 
 
Duane Bellinger stated that it would have been helpful to have a discussion on the second 
Petaluma station at an open session Board meeting. He said that the traffic situation at 
Downtown Petaluma and proposed Corona station are not well thought out. For SMART to 
give an extension on a real estate transaction until November without public input is 
improper in his opinion, especially considering the appraisal used in the negotiation is three 
years old and excluded the value that was added by SMART. He said the Board is neglecting 
their fiduciary duty to receive maximum price for property. The support from Petaluma has 
gone down, for Measure Q was 77% and for Measure I it was 55%, which is 1/3 loss of the 
base in East Petaluma. He asked the Board to analyze the reason for the support decrease. 
 
Steve Birdlebough stated that he is Citizen’s Oversight Committee member. At the last 
meeting they had a large audience a received feedback/comments. The Committee will 
review and prepare a staff report to present to the full Board at a future meeting. Another 
Citizen’s Oversight Committee meeting is scheduled after the next May Board meeting. He 
asked members of the public to be patient.  
 
Ben Peters stated how disappointed the citizens of Petaluma are with SMART in particular 
with SMART’s management. He strongly encouraged every Board member to review the City 
of Petaluma Council minutes of May 4th. The Petaluma City Council did approve the 
Agreement, it was with universal condemnation of how SMART’s management negotiated 
the Agreement. Every single member of Petaluma at the City Council expressed their 
frustration and disappointment with SMART’s management. The citizens of Petaluma, 

Page 5 of 111



Page 4 of 12 

echoing their elected leaders will be working on a vote with no confidence for SMART’s 
General Manager.  If anything like Measure I was to come back it would have to be with new 
management at SMART, he added.  The Corona Station is a disaster and the lawsuit has an 
opportunity of succeeding due to not having an Environmental Impact Report. A Mitigated 
Negative Declaration does not meet the basic legal standards for a complex project. Petaluma 
is unhappy with SMART’s management, and would like to see a functioning train and 
management. The Petaluma Mayor strongly condemned how SMART has acted on this 
project. This is disappointing and frustrating and looks forward for further opportunity for the 
public to provide comments on the second Petaluma Station.  
 
General Manager Mansourian stated that the comments received at the Citizen’s Oversight 
Committee meeting regarding Measure I were documented and provided to the Vice Chair 
Pahre and Chair Lucan to review with the sub-committee as mentioned earlier. The Citizen’s 
Oversight Committee will continue to meet through this process.  The Citizen’s Oversight 
Committee is a separate committee and once their agenda and minutes are approved the 
Clerk can distribute to members of the public. 
 
General Manager Mansourian said that he strongly disagrees with Mr. Peters comments that 
every Petaluma City Council member picked a fight with him at the meeting. Director Rabbitt 
and himself have clarified at various Board meetings that SMART does not have any approval 
jurisdiction or authority over the Corona property development. The development is with the 
City of the Petaluma and Developer. SMART’s agreement with the City of Petaluma is the sale 
of Downtown Petaluma property and receiving 1.27-acres at Corona Road and subject to your 
Board policy approval the proceeds will build the second Petaluma Station. 
 
Director Rabbitt stated that General Manager Mansourian spoke accurately. The agreement 
is to sell the Downtown Petaluma property and received 1.27-acres for the construction of 
the second Petaluma Station to fulfill the City of Petaluma vision. SMART has nothing do to 
with the development of either site (Corona Road property and Downtown Property). It is a 
CEQA Lawsuit that was filed, from people who don’t approve of the development project. He 
acknowledges the General Manager Mansourian for the extension for which the developer 
provided additional non-refundable funds into escrow. It is very disappointing there is 
misinformation on this particular project.  
 

6. Consent 
a. Accept COVID-19 Actions Taken – Status Report 
 
Chair Lucan asked for Board and public comments on the proposed Consent Agenda. 
 
MOTION: Director Arnold moved approval of the Consent Agenda as presented. Director 
Naujokas second. The motion carried 12-0. 
 
 
  

Page 6 of 111



Page 5 of 12 

7. Fiscal Year 2019-20 Budget Update, Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget Reductions, and Approval of 
Early Action Items 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Erin McGrath stated that the PowerPoint presentation is available on 
SMART’s website. Highlights include: 

▪ Overview 
▪ Challenges and CARES Act Update 
▪ Revenue Projection 

o Challenges for next budget 
o Fiscal Year 2020-21 
o Wide Range Possibilities 

▪ Input on Budget Reductions Strategies 
o Bucket #1: One-time savings: Total of $3.5 million (each will be put on hold until 

other funding can be identified. The budget will not include/make use of one-time 
revenue anticipated for Railroad Square or Petaluma Property) 

o Bucket #2: Reduction in Ongoing Expenses Non-Salary: Total of $2.6 million (the 
sooner we get started on these items the more we will save) 

o Bucket #3: Reduction in Expenses Due to Reduction in Service 
▪ Approve Early Actions on Reductions  

o Early Notice to Wi-Fi Contractors 
o Authority for Contract Extension with PFM to pursue refinancing 
o Rail liability Insurance: Cost avoidance strategy 

 
Comments 
Director Arnold asked for clarification on the Black Point repair cost. Ms. McGrath responded 
that there had been some accidents damaging the bridge that have not been repaired. Mr. 
Mansourian said that the bridge need repairs from two hit and run by barges accidents that 
occurred two years ago. Once Senate Bill 1029 agreement is approved by your Board, SMART 
will use those funds to repair the damages.    
 
Director Naujokas asked if staff has research the possibility of turning the Wi-Fi to a revenue 
source, like airlines. Ms. McGrath responded that the fee would be high vs. the revenue 
received. Mr. Mansourian stated that an on-board survey was conducted and passengers 
were not in favor of paying.  Director Naujokas asked if not purchasing the $95 million in 
insurance exposes SMART to uninsured liability. Ms. McGrath responded that you are always 
exposed to greater risk than you can purchase. We believe that the risk of the service given 
our safety that is being provided is very low. This is an acceptable risk for where SMART is 
today. 
 
Director Rogers asked for clarification of the elimination of the Wi-Fi on-board and not the 
Wi-Fi at stations platform. Ms. McGrath responded that the stations platform Wi-Fi will 
continue and is free and being provided through a public/private partnership with Sonic and 
a number of benefits were negotiated through the partnership. 
 

Page 7 of 111



Page 6 of 12 

 
Director Naujokas left the meeting at 2:33pm  
 
Director Phillips thanked Ms. McGrath for the report and the reasonable assumptions made. 
He asked for more detail of the PFM service contract of $150,000. Ms. McGrath responded 
that it’s a preliminary cost based on the hours they need to work. Once an estimated cost is 
provided, she will report back to the Board.  
 
Director Fudge asked if there can be one (1) hot spot on the train instead of Wi-Fi, for less 
cost.  Ms. McGrath responded that staff can research that technology. Director Fudge is in 
favor of Customer Service being provided at SMART, where staff can provide accurate 
information.  
 
Director Garbarino said that transferring the Customer Service to SMART staff is an excellent 
idea, and a good cost savings.  She thanked Ms. McGrath for a very clear presentation .and 
detailed staff report. 
 
Director Rabbitt thanked Ms. McGrath and staff for the report. He asked if the deficit at the 
end of this year will be absorbed through fund balance and not carried over.  He asked if the 
$2.9 million shortage will have to come from the reduction of service and/or the second 
phase of CARES Act funds.  
 
Director Zane thanked Ms. McGrath for a very clear presentation and report. She asked if the 
fare revenue estimate reductions, are those numbers based on what is happening at this 
time. Ms. McGrath responded that the revenue will depend on what the on-going cuts your 
Board approves today, which could impact the fare revenue. The chart shows 30% projection 
reductions of what would have been received in the next fiscal year. Director Zane said that 
the great recession affected the sales tax over a three-year period, where would SMART be 
considered mild, moderate or deep impact with the sales tax at this time. Ms. McGrath 
responded that it is very to predict how it will go up. The great recession occurred over a two- 
year period, however the COVID-19 shutdown occurred fast and has remained. It’s possible 
that the fiscal year 2020 impact could be less, and the fiscal year 2021 impact would be 
higher, it is reasonable to assume that it could be as low as 15% and high 20% and will not 
recover in one year but it could take up to three years. In the fiscal year 2020 budget, SMART 
will not be using as much of the reserves, due to the CARES Act funding that SMART has 
received.  The upcoming budget will hope to solve the problems for the next three years, 
knowing that the entire economy can be shut down and will recover in six, nine months or 
one year. 
 
Director Connolly questioned the elimination of the on-board Wi-Fi as a proposed measure. 
If the proposed new train schedule will be the primary focus for commuters, and there is a 
fairly large contingency of students whom take the train for school. The Wi-Fi is an important 
service for those travelers would impact ridership or use of SMART service in a negative way. 
Has SMART conducted any analysis or public outreach regarding Wi-Fi usage. The tree 

Page 8 of 111



Page 7 of 12 

mitigation shows a savings of approximately $2.2 million; how does it align with fire 
mitigation priorities for both counties. Ms. McGrath responded that there is no relationship 
between the two.  SMART will continue to perform weed abatement along the right-of- way 
for fire safety. SMART is also working with PG&E, who is conducting fire mitigation that 
crosses the right-of-way. With the efforts of property owners, PG&E and SMART there are no 
concerns. The Wi-Fi to riders’ specific outreach has not been conducted at this time. The 
equipment will remain and SMART can re-evaluate in 6 to 8 months and can turn it back on 
at a later time.  
 
Vice Chair Pahre stated that Ms. McGrath said that the Wi-Fi will have the option to turn back 
on once SMART evaluates and determines if it is affecting ridership. She thanked Ms. McGrath 
for the transparent approach, where she presents the Board the thought processes that has 
been discussed with the General Manager. It is very easy to look at a piece of paper and not 
being able to understand, and perhaps this is why the members of the public question.  As 
the Golden Gate Bridge representative, the Customer Service at Golden Gate Bridge handles 
a lot of behind the scene pieces; she is very supportive that SMART takes charge. 
 
Director Phillips stated that the assumptions made are reasonable and added that the City of 
San Rafael received from sales tax consultant a recommendation of 18% reduction over a 
three-year period. He said that the Wi-Fi is an important service. 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Erin McGrath continued the presentation. Highlight include: 

▪ Bucket #3: Reduction on Ongoing Services and Staff total of $5.8 million 
o Elimination of Weekend Service 

- Cost reductions of $2.2 million 
- Net Savings of $1.6 million 
- Revenue Loss of $600,000 

o Reconfiguration of Train Service to 22 Trips Daily 
- 5 morning and afternoon commute trains, with 1 midday 
- Net Savings of $4.7 million  
- Revenue loss of $1.5 million  

o Other Reductions to Benefits and Pay 
- Eliminate cost of living increases 
- Capping SMART’s share medical plans 
- Voluntary Separation Incentives (depending years of service) 

  
General Manager Mansourian stated that it is a very difficult time for staff and the Board. He 
has been working with the department heads and the Chief Financial Officer on two budgets 
scenario: 1) Measure I being successful and 2) Measure I not being successful. Now COVID-
19 has added to the complexity of SMART’s budget. Assuming SMART receives the CARES Act 
funds of $10 million and the federal balance of $6.6 million, we still need to go through the 
painful process. Working with department heads and operations staff, we sit in those meeting 
feeling we are drilling a hole in our hearts because we are eliminating service and positions. 
Matching the service and staffing levels to meet the Budget goals, we asked ourselves what 

Page 9 of 111



Page 8 of 12 

level of service can we provide and still meet the target budget reduction, and we operate on 
a single track with is challenging and complex. Highlight include: 

▪ What it takes to Operate a Commuter Train 
o Board of Directors 
o General Manager  
o Administration Division/Functions 
o Operations Division 

▪ Operations Division/Functions 
o Transportation: 29 Engineer-Conductors, 10 Dispatch – Field Supervisors, and 2.5 

Bridge Tenders 
o Maintenance of Way (Track, Signal System, Facilities and Pathways) 

- Tracks:  currently own 57.3 miles plus 25 miles Brazos, with pending 21 more 
miles when SB 1029 is approved; 74 miles of vegetation control; Federal 
Railroad Administration required inspections; and 9 track employees 
responsible 

- Signal Systems: 72 at-grade crossing, 7 at-grade crossings, 64 wayside signals, 
38 switches, Positive Train Control, Federal Railroad Administration required 
inspections; and 11 signal system employees responsible 

- Facilities: 2 tunnels, 32 bridges, 12 stations plus Windsor, 12 miles of 
bicycle/pedestrian pathways, 5 park and rides lots plus Windsor, 25 miles of 
fencing, 4 maintenance facilities; and 4 facility employees responsible 

o Vehicle Maintenance  
- 18 train cars (Diesel Multiple Units) 
- 32 Maintenance and Agency Vehicles 
- 28 Employees: 10 Laborers: clean inside the train, fueling, cleaning bathrooms 

and waste disposal; 16 vehicle technicians and supervisors covering 3 shifts; 
and 2 parts and inventory control 

- Federal Railroad Administration required inspections 
▪ What does it take to run only one train 

o Need to maintain 45 miles of tracks 
o Need to maintain all grade-crossings 
o Need to maintain all signal systems 
o Need to maintain all stations 
o Need to maintain Positive Train Control 
o Need to staff and manage a 24-7, 365 days a year dispatch center 

▪  Staff needed to run only one train  
o 4 Engineer/Conductors 
o 4 Dispatch and Field Supervisors 
o 19 Tracks, Signals, Facility and Pathway 
o 5 Vehicle Maintenance 
o 3 Safety and Security 
o 1 Train Control 
o 1 Code Compliance 
o 1 Administrative Support 

Page 10 of 111



Page 9 of 12 

o 1 Manager 
o Including Payroll, Finance, Legal, Human Resources, IT, Purchasing, Real Estate, 

and Capital 
 

▪ SMART – Operating Schedule Overview (32 minutes headways) 
▪ Pre COVID-19 Schedule Illustration (38 Trips) 
▪ COVID-19 Schedule Illustration (16 Trips)  
▪ 5-1-5 Example Schedule (22 Trips) 
▪ Summary - We have identified a range of budget options and savings proposals.  

o Bucket #1: One-time savings:  Total of $3.5 million 
o Bucket #2: Reduction in Ongoing Expense, Non-Service:  Total of $2.6 million 

annually 
o Bucket #3: Reduction in Ongoing Expense Due to Reductions in Service/Staff: Net 

savings of $5.8 million annually 
▪ Recommendations 

1)  Provide Input on Budget and Operational Changes   
2)  Approve Early Actions on Fiscal Year 2019-20 and 2020-21 Budget items for: 
 a.  Elimination of On-Board Wi-Fi Service 
 b. Reduce rail liability insurance 
 c.  Proceed with steps for Bond Refinancing 
 d.  Direct staff to notify public on service reductions  
 

Chair Lucan stated that staff is recommending three immediate action items.  
 

Comments 
Aleta Dupre stated that this is not an easy to make decisions, the budget is already very lean 
and not a lot that can be taken. She is okay removing the Wi-Fi, however there is a lot of 
people and students that have limited internet or none at all. Certainly, the Wi-Fi is helpful to 
those whom don’t have consistent 24-hour internet access. She voiced concerns about the 
reduction of the train insurance, however she understands. Lastly, she is concerned that if 
tree mitigation is reduced because it could cause hazard along the right-of-way. 
 
Duane Bellinger would like to know how much income is SMART receiving from a real estate 
transaction in Petaluma. It seems that the Corona project is related to the Windsor project. 
If funds are needed to complete the Petaluma/Corona project, he suggested that only the 
platform and Positive Train Control to be built until other funds become available. His vehicle 
insurance is reducing liability due to less driving, SMART is providing fewer trains service and 
liability is less, he asked if SMART has received a rate reduction. 
 
Chair Lucan suggested taking action of staff recommendations, since Director Phillips will 
need to leave the meeting. 
 
Director Phillips stated that he is in favor of the three recommendations by staff and will have 
to leave the meeting. 

Page 11 of 111



Page 10 of 12 

Director Phillips left the meeting at 3:20pm. 
 
Director Connolly suggested that the elimination of the on-board Wi-Fi be revised, once staff 
received feedback from members of the public and riders.  
 
Director Zane suggested that staff conduct community engagement prior to eliminating the 
on-board Wi-Fi service.  
 
Director Fudge stated that the free Wi-Fi attracts riders, however its over $500,000. It will 
hurt the segment of riders that have limited internet service. The elimination Wi-Fi can also 
potentially save one or two positions/jobs. It’s a difficult decision to eliminate Wi-Fi and jobs. 
Assuming when SMART can add items back there will be discussion in the future.  If sales tax 
revenue is higher than anticipated would providing Wi-Fi back to passengers would be the 
least expensive. Mr. Mansourian responded that once its eliminated, staff would have to 
negotiate a new contract.  
 
Director Rogers stated that immediate actions are necessary to stabilize the budget. It is not 
ideal to eliminate the on-board Wi-Fi; in the short term the public will understand. He agrees 
with Director Connolly that once community engagement around Measure I the changes 
being proposed will need to be part of the discussion. The Board needs to make clear the 
commitment that we are going to listen and receive feedback and that the Board will consider 
at a later time. In the short-term due to the many uncertainly, he is willing to approve staff 
recommendations.  
 
Vice Chair Pahre moved to approve the three immediate action recommendations Director 
Rabbitt Second. The Board will revisit the Wi-Fi contract once feedback is received.  
 
Director Rabbitt stated that nobody wants to eliminate Wi-Fi, however the cost is $500,000. 
 
MOTION: Director Pahre moved to Approve Early Notice to Wi-Fi Contractors and continue 
to monitor how it affects ridership and part of the Boards discussions. Director Rabbitt 
second. The motion carried 10-0 (Directors Naujokas and Phillips absent). 
 
MOTION: Director Rogers moved to Proceed with steps for Bond Refinancing with PFM 
contract extension. Director Fudge second. The motion carried 10-0 (Directors Naujokas and 
Phillips absent). 
 
MOTION: Director Garbarino moved to Approve Rail Liability Insurance from $295 million to 
$200 million. Director Arnold second. The motion carried 10-0 (Directors Naujokas and 
Phillips absent). 
 
Chair Lucan asked the Board to provide staff direction to Bucket #3 – Reduction in Ongoing 
Services and Staff  
 

Page 12 of 111



Page 11 of 12 

Director Rogers stated that SMART has not conducted outreach with the public. It is a 
discussion that will need to happen to know what type of service they would like from SMART. 
Is it going to be a commuter rail service that gets people to their jobs/home or a focus on 
tourism? He would like to receive information prior to making a decision. He suggested having 
historical spending information with the budget, that the public can understand the spending 
and engage them in the process. 
 
Director Connolly said he concurs with Director Rogers statement particularly around 
listening and public engagement as SMART moves forward with operations of the system. He 
suggested conducting analysis with different operating scenarios during the week, like 22 
trips vs. 16 trips. How does the weekend service see itself with the rail service moving 
forward, we are going to learn from the public. We are in a drastic position to do cost 
reductions scenario at this time. 
 
Director Naujokas joined the meeting 3:40pm  
 
Director Fudge stated that when shelter-in-place ends and travel resumes, people’s habits 
will change and start to travel locally. A mini tourism boost can occur and she suggested 
researching with the travel tourism. Just looking back to on SMART’s milestones this is a very 
difficult decision that needs to happen. She understands the logic of 22 trips per day, and 
need to hear from the public in the next few weeks, since SMART’s budget needs approval in 
June 2020.  Her goal is to layoff as few people as possible and keep as many employed.  
 
Director Rabbitt stated that he has been in contact with Sonoma County Tourism, which have 
state wide program that will start when shelter-in-place start to lift. He suggested conducting 
outreach to evaluate public expectation the next two weeks. He is worried that once shelter-
in-place is removed, people will not take public transportation not trusting the system. 
SMART needs to show how clean and safe the train is.  
 
Director Zane stated that public input needs to be heard prior to reducing/cutting service. 
The community outreach and engagement are very critical at this point.  
 
Director Arnold asked how will outreach be conducted in the next two weeks. Mr. 
Mansourian responded outreach by social media, newspaper, and website. All the decisions 
made by the Board will require implementation and constant budget monitoring. It could also 
be difficult retrieving staff once they are layoff. These are difficult decision that need to 
happen prior to final budget approval in June.  
 
Director Pahre stated that it’s going to be a challenge for the Board to know from the public 
responses which are life changing or pleasure experience. We need to ask why they ride 
SMART, for pleasure or commute service. The Board and staff will have tragic challenges 
ahead. 
 
 

Page 13 of 111



Page 12 of 12 

Chair Lucan stated SMART is faced with difficult decisions. “We as an agency have evolved 
from a construction agency to a transit agency”. At this time, we need to get creative of how 
to engage the public due to COVID-19, where the Board is not making decision in a vacuum 
but with as much public input. Perhaps using Zoom teleconference to engage the public, 
many different ways. Also, the Board decisions on the budget, do not necessary mean it will 
be implemented on July 1st.  
 
General Manager Mansourian said he will provide an update/status at the next meeting of 
the following items: 1) SB 1029 status; 2) Petaluma Agreement; and 3) Santa Rosa to provide 
the Board with more options.    
 
Director Rabbitt thanked staff and acknowledge that it’s a very difficult time. It is very 
important to provide as much information as possible and receive feedback in the next few 
weeks. The choices and decisions will be the best of what is available at the time. 
 
Director Arnold said that during this COVID-19 crisis, the Marin County Supervisors provide 
messages to the public via email.  She suggested that Board members can provide SMART 
message via those contacts.  
 
Director Naujokas stated that SMART is faced with various challenges, however there could 
be opportunities.  
 
Director Garbarino acknowledged all the hard work that staff has provided during COVID-19. 
Staff has the support of the Board to make the correct decision. It is really had to image where 
SMART was prior to COVID-19. 
 

8. Next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, May 20, 2020 – 1:30PM  
 

9. Adjournment – Meeting adjourned at 4:28PM.  
  
 Respectfully submitted, 
  

 
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza 

 Clerk of the Board      
 
 Approved on:          

Page 14 of 111



  

 

 

 

 

 
Eric Lucan, Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
 
Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  
 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Joe Naujokas 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 

 

 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

 

AGENDA ITEM 6a 

May 20, 2020 
 
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT:  Monthly Finance Reports 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Information Item  
 
SUMMARY:   
We are presenting the monthly reports for activity through the month 
of April. The budget report shows transactions for the first ten months 
of the fiscal year. Fare revenues, which had averaged over $325,000 a 
month, were $76,047 for the month of April. We have received 8 
payments from the State against our sales tax revenue owed, and that 
total is $27,514,993. We have not yet received any receipts that would 
inform us on the impact of the stay-at-home orders. Bond fund 
investments through April totaled $20,032,219 while other cash and 
investments equaled $44,802,131.  Expenditures are on target to be 
at or below authorized budgeted amounts and will be examined and 
reported as part of the budget presentation next month.   
 
Very truly yours, 
 
    /s/ 
Erin McGrath 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
Attachment(s): 1)  Monthly Finance Report 
   2)  Contract Summary Report  

 

Page 15 of 111



FY 2019-20

Approved Budget
Actual

Remaining 

Budget

Revenues

Administration

Sales/Use Taxes  $                    27,973,136  $       19,404,459  $          8,568,677 

Interest Earnings 295,000 626,674 -

Rent - Real Estate 265,755 305,892 -

Advertising Revenue 221,750 318,920 -

Miscellaneous Revenue 50,000 124,132 -

Administration Subtotal 28,805,641 20,780,076 8,568,677 

Operations

Fund Balance 9,505,068 9,505,068 -

Sales/Use Tax 11,292,866 8,110,534 3,182,332 

Fare & Parking Revenue 4,187,000 3,058,606 1,128,394 

Federal Funds - 29,121 -

State Grants 7,404,794 3,649,738 3,755,057 

Other Charges 40,000 227,322 -

Operations Subtotal 32,429,728 24,580,388 8,065,783 

Capital

Fund Balance 28,620,039 28,620,039 -

Federal Funds 4,650,000 1,490,281 3,159,719 

State Grants 14,010,000 7,850,601 6,159,399 

Other Governments/Misc 4,528,192 3,794,322 733,870 

Measure M 200,625 - 200,625 

MTC - 192,015 -

Miscellaneous Revenue - 300,000 -

Capital Subtotal  $               52,008,856  $    42,247,259  $    10,253,612 

Revenue Total  $             113,244,225  $    87,607,723  $    26,888,073 

Expenditures

Administration

Salaries & Benefits  $                      5,146,304  $          3,626,511  $          1,519,793 

Services & Supplies 6,835,130 3,575,145 3,259,986 

Debt Service/Other Charges 16,847,600 7,412,600 9,435,000 

Machinery & Equipment 95,000 45,942 49,058 

Administration Subtotal 28,924,034 14,660,198 14,263,836 

Operations

Salaries & Benefits 16,146,984 11,080,534 5,066,450 

Services & Supplies 11,781,730 5,603,372 6,178,359 

Buildings & Capital Improvements 4,501,014 1,737,110 2,763,904 

Operations Subtotal 32,429,728 18,421,015 14,008,713 

Capital

Salaries & Benefits 1,732,501 1,015,977 716,524 

Services & Supplies 1,304,340 255,605 1,048,735 

Other Charges 1,127,965 683,047 444,917 

Land 11,000 11,000 -

Machinery & Equipment 15,350,088 10,750,241 4,599,848 

Infrastructure 32,482,961 12,996,182 19,486,779 

Capital Subtotal  $               52,008,856  $    25,712,052  $    26,296,803 

Expenditure Total  $             113,362,618  $    58,793,266  $    54,569,352 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Monthly Finance Reports

Through April 2020

Page 16 of 111



Investment Report

Amount

Bond Reserve Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool  $       17,072,500 

Interest Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 1,151,781 

Project Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool                             -   

Principal Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 1,807,938 

SMART Operating Accounts

Bank of Marin 18,319,535 

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 26,482,596 

Total  $       64,834,349 

Captial Project Report

Budget Actual Remaining

Additional Railcar Purchase

Revenues  $               11,000,000  $      8,250,000  $      2,750,000 

Expenditures  $               11,000,000  $      8,250,000  $      2,750,000 

San Rafael to Larkspur Extension

Revenues  $               55,435,059  $    52,718,404  $      2,716,656 

Expenditures  $               55,435,059  $    53,064,154  $      2,370,905 

Windsor Extension

Revenues  $               65,000,000  $      1,159,036  $    63,840,964 

Expenditures  $               65,000,000  $      3,229,396  $    61,770,604 

Petaluma Payran to Southpoint Pathway

Revenues  $                 3,261,098  $      1,622,070  $      1,639,028 

Expenditures  $                 3,261,098  $      2,556,566  $          704,532 

Page 17 of 111



C
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0
 

P
ro

je
c

te
d

A
.J

. J
an

it
o

ri
al

 S
er

vi
ce

Ja
n

it
o

ri
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
al

l S
ta

ti
o

n
s,

 R
o

b
la

r,
 R

O
C

, a
n

d
 F

u
lt

o
n

$
10

2,
3

20
$

73
,1

4
5

A
ir

 T
ec

h
n

o
lo

gy
 W

es
t

M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 a

n
d

 O
n

-C
al

l R
ep

ai
r 

fo
r 

A
ir

 C
o

m
p

re
ss

o
rs

$
6,

0
00

$
4,

1
65

A
lc

o
h

o
l &

 D
ru

g 
Te

st
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
, L

LC
D

O
T 

D
ru

g 
an

d
 A

lc
o

h
o

l T
e

st
in

g
$

39
,0

0
0

$
8,

4
46

A
lli

an
t 

In
su

ra
n

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

In
su

ra
n

ce
 B

ro
ke

ra
ge

 &
 R

is
k 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
80

,0
0

0
$

0

A
ls

tr
o

m
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

D
M

U
 C

o
lli

si
o

n
-D

am
ag

ed
 R

ep
ai

r 
W

o
rk

 a
n

d
 O

ve
rh

au
ls

$
20

2,
5

43
$

10
6,

5
27

A
m

er
ic

an
 R

ai
l C

o
n

su
lt

an
ts

, I
n

c.
R

ai
lr

o
ad

 B
ri

d
ge

 E
n

gi
n

ee
ri

n
g,

 In
sp

ec
ti

o
n

, &
 D

es
ig

n
$

48
,6

7
2

$
11

,3
0

7

A
ra

m
ar

k 
U

n
if

o
rm

 S
er

vi
ce

s
Em

p
lo

ye
e

 U
n

if
o

rm
 P

ro
vi

d
er

 a
n

d
 C

le
an

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
e

$
31

,7
2

4
$

21
,5

4
1

A
sb

u
ry

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
(A

ES
)

R
ec

yc
lin

g 
&

 D
is

p
o

sa
l S

er
vi

ce
 f

o
r 

U
se

d
 O

il,
 F

u
el

 F
ilt

er
s,

 R
ag

s,
 a

n
d

 R
el

at
ed

 E
q

u
ip

m
en

t
$

10
,0

0
0

$
2,

1
95

B
ar

b
ie

r 
Se

cu
ri

ty
 G

ro
u

p
Se

cu
ri

ty
 P

at
ro

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
al

o
n

g 
R

ig
h

t-
o

f-
W

ay
$

20
0,

0
00

$
17

5,
1

75

B
ar

n
es

 &
 C

o
m

p
an

y,
 L

LC
Sa

fe
ty

 O
u

tr
ea

ch
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
25

,0
0

0
$

19
,8

3
8

B
e

ac
o

n
 E

co
n

o
m

ic
s

Sa
le

s 
Ta

x 
R

ev
en

u
e 

Fo
re

ca
st

 C
o

n
su

lt
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

10
,0

0
0

$
10

,0
0

0

B
e

co
m

in
g 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t
Em

er
ge

n
cy

 B
u

s 
B

ri
d

ge
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
25

,5
3

8
$

10
,5

8
8

B
e

tt
in

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n
s

B
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
 In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n

s
$

8,
8

63
$

7,
0

16

B
id

d
le

 C
o

n
su

lt
in

g 
G

ro
u

p
, I

n
c.

Fe
d

er
al

 E
q

u
al

 E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

O
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y 
P

la
n

 C
re

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

$
7,

5
00

$
5,

0
00

B
ig

 C
at

 A
d

ve
rt

is
in

g
D

ig
it

al
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

18
,0

0
0

$
15

,0
0

0

B
ig

gs
 C

ar
d

o
sa

 A
ss

o
ci

at
es

, I
n

c.
En

gi
n

ee
ri

n
g 

D
es

ig
n

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

P
ay

ra
n

 t
o

 S
o

u
th

p
o

in
t 

M
u

lt
i-

U
se

 P
at

h
w

ay
$

43
,9

5
4

$
10

,5
5

0

B
ra

d
fo

rd
 D

. A
n

d
er

se
n

 d
b

a 
A

n
d

er
se

n
 W

in
d

o
w

 T
in

ti
n

g
In

st
al

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

H
ig

h
 H

ea
t 

R
ej

ec
ti

n
g 

Ti
n

t 
o

n
 D

M
U

 W
in

d
o

w
s

$
4,

1
50

$
4,

1
50

B
ri

gh
t 

St
ar

 S
ec

u
ri

ty
, I

n
c.

Se
cu

ri
ty

 P
at

ro
l S

er
vi

ce
s 

at
 S

M
A

R
T'

s 
C

al
 P

ar
k 

Tu
n

n
el

$
6,

1
00

$
3,

1
18

B
u

rk
e,

 W
ill

ia
m

s 
&

 S
o

re
n

se
n

, L
LP

Li
ti

ga
ti

o
n

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

16
3,

5
13

$
2,

3
06

C
A

LO
P

P
S 

- 
C

it
y 

o
f 

Fo
st

er
 C

it
y

H
R

 R
ec

ru
it

m
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

3,
5

00
$

3,
5

00

C
er

ti
fi

ed
 E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

G
ro

u
p

Te
m

p
o

ra
ry

 S
ta

ff
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

42
,3

2
9

$
18

,2
5

5

C
in

q
u

in
i &

 P
as

sa
ri

n
o

, I
n

c.
R

ig
h

t-
o

f-
W

ay
 L

an
d

 S
u

rv
ey

in
g 

an
d

 R
el

at
ed

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

60
,0

0
0

$
34

,2
2

2

C
o

re
y,

 C
an

ap
ar

y 
&

 G
al

an
is

N
TD

 C
o

m
p

lia
n

t 
P

as
se

n
ge

r 
C

o
u

n
ti

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
33

,6
0

3
$

33
,6

0
3

D
eA

n
ge

lo
 B

ro
th

er
s,

 L
LC

 (
D

B
I S

er
vi

ce
s)

V
eg

et
at

io
n

 C
o

n
tr

o
l S

er
vi

ce
s

$
37

,6
5

1
$

37
,6

5
1

D
el

ta
 W

h
ee

l T
ru

in
g 

So
lu

ti
o

n
s

M
o

d
if

ic
at

io
n

s 
to

 t
h

e 
W

h
ee

l T
ru

in
g 

M
ac

h
in

e
$

34
,9

1
1

$
0

D
o

u
g 

W
ill

ia
m

s
Fi

re
 a

n
d

 L
if

e 
Sa

fe
ty

 C
o

n
su

lt
an

t
$

8,
0

00
$

7,
2

80

D
r.

 L
an

ce
 O

'C
o

n
n

o
r

O
cc

u
p

at
io

n
al

 H
ea

lt
h

 S
cr

ee
n

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
3,

6
00

$
34

0

D
r.

 M
ar

k 
C

le
m

en
ti

P
re

-E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

P
sy

ch
o

lo
gi

ca
l E

va
lu

at
io

n
s

$
25

,0
0

0
$

17
,2

4
4

eL
o

ck
 T

e
ch

n
o

lo
gi

es
, L

LC
St

at
io

n
 B

ik
e 

Lo
ck

er
s 

an
d

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
54

,5
7

6
$

39
,3

3
4

Em
p

ir
e 

C
le

an
er

s
U

n
if

o
rm

 D
ry

-C
le

an
in

g,
 L

au
n

d
er

in
g,

 a
n

d
 R

el
at

e
d

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

40
,0

0
0

$
19

,4
4

0

Em
te

c 
C

o
n

su
lt

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

, L
LC

O
ra

cl
e 

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g 

Sy
st

em
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
50

,0
0

0
$

7,
8

23

eP
at

h
 L

ea
rn

in
g,

 In
c.

B
u

si
n

es
s 

Tr
ai

n
in

g 
Li

b
ra

ry
$

10
,0

0
5

$
10

,0
0

5

eP
at

h
 L

ea
rn

in
g,

 In
c.

C
lo

u
d

-B
as

ed
 T

ra
in

in
g 

/ 
Le

ar
n

in
g 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

So
ft

w
ar

e
$

6,
1

80
$

6,
1

80

Ev
er

b
ri

d
ge

, I
n

c.
N

ix
le

 C
o

m
p

u
te

r 
So

ft
w

ar
e

 (
C

lo
u

d
-b

as
ed

)
$

11
,8

0
0

$
11

,8
0

0

G
eo

rg
e 

H
ill

s 
C

o
m

p
an

y,
 In

c.
Th

ir
d

 P
ar

ty
 C

la
im

s 
A

d
m

in
is

tr
at

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

10
,0

0
0

$
3,

7
91

G
H

D
, I

n
c.

SW
P

P
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

, A
u

to
C

A
D

 M
an

ag
em

en
t,

 T
ra

ff
ic

 a
n

d
 H

yd
ra

u
lic

 A
n

al
ys

is
$

65
,7

5
7

$
59

,7
7

3

G
h

ilo
tt

i B
ro

s,
 In

c.
En

h
an

ce
d

 P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 S
af

et
y 

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
ts

$
57

7,
6

04
$

53
8,

1
58

G
o

ld
en

 G
at

e 
B

ri
d

ge
, H

ig
h

w
ay

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t
W

ee
ke

n
d

 B
u

s 
Se

rv
ic

e 
b

et
w

ee
n

 S
an

 R
af

ae
l T

ra
n

si
t 

C
en

te
r 

an
d

 L
ar

ks
p

u
r 

Fe
rr

y
$

68
,6

6
4

$
19

,8
0

3

G
o

ld
en

 G
at

e 
B

ri
d

ge
, H

ig
h

w
ay

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t
C

u
st

o
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
33

5,
5

80
$

18
5,

8
23

G
P

 C
ra

n
e 

&
 H

o
is

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
C

al
/O

SH
A

 C
ra

n
e 

In
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

15
,0

0
0

$
45

0

G
ra

n
ic

u
s,

 In
c.

M
ed

ia
 S

tr
ea

m
in

g 
&

 In
te

rn
et

 B
ro

ad
ca

st
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

10
,3

4
8

$
7,

7
60

G
ra

n
it

e 
C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 C

o
m

p
an

y
N

o
n

-M
o

to
ri

ze
d

 P
at

h
w

ay
, P

ay
ra

n
 t

o
 S

o
u

th
p

o
in

t
$

2,
0

02
,0

5
3

$
2,

0
01

,8
5

3

H
an

fo
rd

 A
.R

.C
.

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 M

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g 
La

s 
G

al
lin

as
 C

re
ek

 R
ip

ar
ia

n
 E

n
h

an
ce

m
en

t 
P

la
n

$
15

,2
3

0
$

8,
1

60

H
an

so
n

 B
ri

d
ge

tt
 L

LP
Le

ga
l S

er
vi

ce
s

$
17

0,
0

00
$

11
6,

2
13

H
o

ga
n

 L
o

ve
lls

 L
LP

Le
ga

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
- 

Fr
ei

gh
t 

an
d

 P
as

se
n

ge
r 

R
ai

l S
ec

to
r

$
10

0,
0

00
$

23
,2

5
6

Co
nt

ra
ct

 S
um

m
ar

y
A

ct
iv

e 
C

on
tr

ac
ts

 a
s 

of
 M

ay
 1

, 2
02

0

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
T

o
-D

a
te

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0
 A

c
tu

a
ls

-
 

P
ag

e 
1 

of
 3

Page 18 of 111



C
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0
 

P
ro

je
c

te
d

H
o

lla
n

d
 C

o
m

p
an

y
Tr

ac
k 

G
e

o
m

et
ry

 a
n

d
 M

ea
su

re
m

e
n

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

24
,0

0
0

$
24

,0
0

0

H
u

lc
h

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s,

 In
c.

O
n

-C
al

l D
er

ai
lm

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
72

,0
0

0
$

0

In
d

u
st

ri
al

 R
ai

lw
ay

s 
C

o
m

p
an

y
B

al
la

st
 C

ar
 O

p
er

at
io

n
s

$
70

,8
8

4
$

70
,8

8
4

In
n

o
va

ti
o

n
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
So

lu
ti

o
n

s
P

ay
ro

ll 
P

ro
ce

ss
in

g 
So

lu
ti

o
n

s
$

35
,4

0
0

$
20

,0
0

4

In
te

lle
tr

ac
e,

 In
c.

In
te

rn
et

/C
el

lu
la

r 
To

w
er

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
40

,0
0

0
$

22
,1

8
0

In
te

lli
ge

n
t 

Te
ch

n
o

lo
gy

 S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s,
 In

c.
M

ax
im

o
 M

M
S 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
17

6,
0

00
$

14
4,

8
35

Le
et

e 
G

en
er

at
o

rs
G

en
er

at
o

r 
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

$
1,

4
32

$
1,

1
95

LM
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 C
o

n
su

lt
in

g
D

is
ab

ili
ty

 A
cc

es
s 

C
o

n
su

lt
in

g
$

12
,0

0
0

$
2,

5
13

LT
K

 E
n

gi
n

ee
ri

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

V
eh

ic
le

 a
n

d
 S

ys
te

m
s 

D
es

ig
n

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

17
8,

5
07

$
15

4,
4

76

M
an

ag
ed

 H
ea

lt
h

 N
e

tw
o

rk
Em

p
lo

ye
e

 A
ss

is
ta

n
ce

 P
ro

gr
am

 (
EA

P
) 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
2,

3
38

$
1,

9
22

M
as

ab
i L

LC
SM

A
R

T 
M

o
b

ile
 T

ic
ke

ti
n

g 
P

ilo
t 

P
ro

je
ct

$
57

,6
0

0
$

39
,7

5
0

M
ax

A
cc

el
C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

So
ft

w
ar

e 
D

es
ig

n
/I

m
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

/A
ss

et
 M

an
ag

em
e

n
t

$
14

,0
0

0
$

10
,0

8
7

M
az

e 
&

 A
ss

o
ci

at
es

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 A

u
d

it
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
46

,6
6

4
$

42
,6

0
3

M
G

ro
d

n
er

, L
LC

P
ro

je
ct

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
94

,0
0

0
$

20
,5

2
5

M
ik

e 
B

ro
w

n
 E

le
ct

ri
c 

C
o

.
O

n
-C

al
l E

le
ct

ri
ca

l M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
$

19
,8

9
5

$
4,

0
11

M
ili

tu
s,

 In
c.

C
yb

er
se

cu
ri

ty
 M

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g 
an

d
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t
$

40
,0

0
0

$
40

,0
0

0

M
ili

tu
s,

 In
c.

C
yb

er
se

cu
ri

ty
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

40
,0

0
0

$
40

,0
0

0

M
o

d
er

n
 R

ai
lw

ay
 S

ys
te

m
s,

 In
c.

D
es

ig
n

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 o

f 
Sy

st
em

s 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

th
e 

W
in

d
so

r 
Ex

te
n

si
o

n
 P

ro
je

ct
$

1,
0

00
,0

0
0

$
0

N
e

ts
p

ee
d

 S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s,
 In

c.
SM

A
R

T 
P

h
o

n
e 

Sy
st

em
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

$
16

,0
5

0
$

8,
7

32

N
e

ts
p

ee
d

 S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s,
 In

c.
Em

er
ge

n
cy

 T
e

le
p

h
o

n
e 

G
at

ew
ay

 U
p

gr
ad

e 
fo

r 
P

o
rt

o
 S

u
el

lo
 T

u
n

n
el

$
5,

2
72

$
5,

2
72

N
e

tw
o

ve
n

 In
c.

Sh
ar

e
P

o
in

t 
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

, S
u

p
p

o
rt

, I
m

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

, a
n

d
 R

el
at

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
48

,0
0

0
$

38
,5

4
4

N
e

xt
d

o
o

r 
In

c.
U

se
 o

f 
N

e
xt

d
o

o
r 

P
la

tf
o

rm
 f

o
r 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

N
o

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

s
$

7,
6

00
$

4,
5

13

N
o

rt
h

 B
ay

 S
A

P
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Su
b

st
an

ce
 A

b
u

se
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

3,
8

00
$

0

N
o

rt
h

w
es

te
rn

 P
ac

if
ic

 R
ai

lr
o

ad
 C

o
m

p
an

y,
 In

c.
P

ro
vi

si
o

n
 a

n
d

 O
p

er
at

io
n

 o
f 

B
al

la
st

 C
ar

$
36

,0
0

0
$

25
,7

6
0

O
cc

u
p

at
io

n
al

 H
ea

lt
h

 C
en

te
rs

 o
f 

C
A

P
re

-E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

Ev
al

u
at

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

25
,0

0
0

$
13

,4
8

0

P
am

co
 M

ac
h

in
e 

W
o

rk
s,

 In
c.

R
ai

lr
o

ad
 W

h
ee

l P
re

ss
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

37
8,

0
00

$
16

4,
4

90

P
ar

o
d

i I
n

ve
st

ig
at

iv
e

 S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s
P

re
-E

m
p

lo
ym

e
n

t 
B

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

n
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
20

,0
0

0
$

10
,1

5
0

P
FM

 F
in

an
ci

al
 A

d
vi

so
rs

, L
LC

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 A

d
vi

so
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

10
0,

0
00

$
67

,1
9

6

P
iv

o
ta

l V
is

io
n

, L
LC

Se
cu

ri
ty

 S
o

ft
w

ar
e 

Li
ce

n
si

n
g

$
2,

2
00

$
2,

2
00

P
la

ti
n

u
m

 A
d

vi
so

rs
, L

LC
St

at
e 

Le
gi

sl
at

iv
e 

A
d

vo
ca

cy
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
60

,0
0

0
$

60
,0

0
0

P
o

rt
o

la
 S

ys
te

m
s,

 In
c.

U
n

in
te

rr
u

p
te

d
 P

o
w

er
 S

u
p

p
ly

 B
at

te
ry

 B
ac

ku
p

 a
t 

SM
A

R
T 

St
at

io
n

s
$

63
,7

0
0

$
30

,4
9

9

P
o

rt
o

la
 S

ys
te

m
s,

 In
c.

SM
A

R
T 

St
at

io
n

 N
e

tw
o

rk
 C

o
n

fi
gu

ra
ti

o
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

20
2,

5
41

$
17

8,
8

09

P
re

ci
si

o
n

 W
ir

el
es

s
Te

ch
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 f

o
r 

La
n

d
 M

o
b

ile
 R

ad
io

$
25

,0
0

0
$

3,
4

34

P
re

m
ie

r 
Fa

ll 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
, I

n
c.

In
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 C

er
ti

fi
ca

ti
o

n
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

SM
A

R
T'

s 
Fa

ll 
P

ro
te

ct
io

n
 E

q
u

ip
m

en
t

$
8,

0
00

$
2,

7
84

R
ai

l E
n

te
rp

ri
se

s
B

al
la

st
 C

ar
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 L

o
gi

st
ic

s 
C

o
o

rd
in

at
io

n
$

35
,0

0
0

$
28

,9
1

4

R
ai

lP
ro

s,
 In

c.
P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 E
n

gi
n

ee
ri

n
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

 f
o

r 
La

rk
sp

u
r 

Ex
te

n
si

o
n

$
25

0,
0

00
$

17
9,

7
06

R
ey

ff
 E

le
ct

ri
c 

C
o

m
p

an
y

In
st

al
la

ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

ir
cu

it
s 

to
 W

al
l-

M
o

u
n

te
d

 E
V

 C
h

ar
ge

rs
$

4,
3

20
$

4,
3

20

Sa
n

ta
 R

o
sa

 F
ir

e
 E

q
u

ip
m

en
t 

Se
rv

ic
e,

 In
c.

SM
A

R
T 

Fi
re

 E
q

u
ip

m
en

t 
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

$
7,

0
29

$
6,

2
52

SE
FA

C
 U

SA
P

o
rt

ab
le

 L
if

ti
n

g 
Ja

ck
 In

sp
ec

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
er

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

5,
0

00
$

0

Se
rv

P
ro

 o
f 

La
ke

 M
en

d
o

ci
n

o
 a

n
d

 S
o

n
o

m
a 

C
o

u
n

ty
B

io
h

az
ar

d
 C

le
an

-U
p

 a
n

d
 H

az
m

at
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
20

6,
7

95
$

16
6,

7
75

So
n

o
m

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 F
le

e
t 

O
p

er
at

io
n

 D
iv

is
io

n
N

o
n

-R
ev

en
u

e 
Fl

ee
t 

M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$
75

,0
0

0
$

21
,2

4
6

So
n

o
m

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 P
ro

b
at

io
n

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

R
ig

h
t-

o
f-

W
ay

 V
eg

et
at

io
n

 C
o

n
tr

o
l, 

B
ru

sh
 a

n
d

 D
eb

ri
s 

R
em

o
va

l, 
an

d
 H

o
m

el
es

s 
C

am
p

 C
le

an
-u

p
$

30
,0

0
0

$
5,

1
00

So
n

o
m

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 T
ra

n
si

t
B

u
s 

Se
rv

ic
e 

R
o

u
te

 5
6 

(N
o

rt
h

 S
ta

ti
o

n
s)

$
19

2,
1

09
$

12
2,

4
63

Sp
er

ry
 R

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
R

ai
l F

la
w

 D
et

e
ct

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

13
,5

0
0

$
12

,8
1

9

SP
TJ

 C
o

n
su

lt
in

g
N

e
tw

o
rk

 In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

, S
ec

u
ri

ty
, M

ig
ra

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 S
et

u
p

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

36
5,

5
80

$
13

3,
8

53

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
T

o
-D

a
te

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0
 A

c
tu

a
ls

-
 

  

P
ag

e 
2 

of
 3

Page 19 of 111



C
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0
 

P
ro

je
c

te
d

St
ac

y 
an

d
 W

it
b

ec
k,

 In
c.

D
es

ig
n

/B
u

ild
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 o

f 
C

iv
il,

 T
ra

ck
 &

 S
tr

u
ct

u
re

s 
o

f 
W

in
d

so
r 

Ex
te

n
si

o
n

$
8,

3
00

,0
0

0
$

1,
9

09
,4

1
7

St
ac

y 
an

d
 W

it
b

ec
k,

 In
c.

R
ai

lr
o

ad
 T

ra
ck

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
, A

lig
n

m
en

t,
 a

n
d

 R
es

to
ra

ti
o

n
$

22
0,

0
00

$
21

0,
2

10

St
ac

y 
an

d
 W

it
b

ec
k/

H
er

zo
g,

 J
V

D
es

ig
n

/B
u

ild
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 o

f 
C

iv
il,

 T
ra

ck
 &

 S
tr

u
ct

u
re

s 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
La

rk
sp

u
r 

Ex
te

n
si

o
n

$
8,

5
99

,9
5

8
$

8,
1

30
,2

9
3

St
an

te
c 

C
o

n
su

lt
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
, I

n
c.

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l P

er
m

it
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

$
92

,2
7

7
$

6,
1

16

St
er

ic
yc

le
, I

n
c.

M
ed

ic
al

 W
as

te
 P

ic
k-

U
p

 a
n

d
 D

is
p

o
sa

l S
er

vi
ce

s
$

1,
9

18
$

0

Su
e 

Ev
an

s
R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
Su

p
p

o
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

17
,8

4
9

$
13

,4
1

2

Su
m

it
o

m
o

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n

M
an

u
fa

ct
u

re
 &

 D
el

iv
er

y 
o

f 
R

ai
l V

eh
ic

le
s

$
14

,5
6

7,
2

01
$

10
,3

1
7,

1
97

Su
m

m
it

 S
ig

n
al

, I
n

c.
Em

er
ge

n
cy

 C
al

l-
O

u
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

 f
o

r 
Tr

ac
k 

an
d

 S
ig

n
al

s
$

10
,0

0
0

$
0

Su
rv

iv
al

 C
P

R
 &

 F
ir

st
 A

id
, L

LC
Fi

rs
t 

A
id

 a
n

d
 C

P
R

 T
ra

in
in

g,
 A

ED
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 P
ro

gr
am

$
5,

0
90

$
5,

0
90

Sw
if

tl
y,

 In
c.

A
V

L 
M

o
b

ile
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 W

eb
si

te
 In

te
rf

ac
e

$
8,

9
25

$
8,

4
00

Te
rr

is
, B

ar
n

es
 &

 W
al

te
rs

B
al

lo
t 

M
ea

su
re

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 C
o

n
su

lt
in

g
$

15
,0

5
3

$
15

,0
5

3

Th
e 

G
B

S 
G

ro
u

p
In

te
rn

et
 C

o
n

n
ec

ti
vi

ty
 (

W
i-

Fi
) 

fo
r 

SM
A

R
T 

Tr
ai

n
s

$
50

0,
6

90
$

39
9,

5
21

Tr
al

ia
n

t,
 L

LC
O

n
lin

e 
Tr

ai
n

in
g 

P
ro

gr
am

$
2,

4
67

$
2,

4
67

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 C
er

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s,
 In

c.
O

n
si

te
 In

sp
ec

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 T
ra

in
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

8,
0

00
$

4,
1

45

Tr
ill

iu
m

 S
o

lu
ti

o
n

s,
 In

c.
Tr

an
si

t 
Fe

ed
 M

ap
p

in
g 

So
ft

w
ar

e
$

1,
0

00
$

1,
0

00

U
n

it
ed

 M
e

ch
an

ic
al

 In
co

rp
o

ra
te

d
H

V
A

C
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
at

 S
M

A
R

T 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s

$
20

,7
0

0
$

12
,9

6
6

U
n

it
ed

 M
e

ch
an

ic
al

 In
co

rp
o

ra
te

d
B

ri
d

ge
 T

en
d

er
 H

o
u

se
 H

V
A

C
 In

st
al

l P
ro

je
ct

$
8,

7
49

$
8,

7
49

U
ta

h
 T

ra
n

si
t 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

D
M

U
 W

h
ee

l T
ru

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$
28

,4
1

3
$

28
,4

1
3

V
an

 S
co

yo
c 

A
ss

o
ci

at
es

Fe
d

er
al

 L
o

b
b

yi
n

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$

60
,0

0
0

$
45

,0
0

0

V
en

Te
k 

Tr
an

si
t 

In
c.

C
lip

p
er

 V
en

d
in

g 
M

ac
h

in
e 

O
p

er
at

io
n

s 
an

d
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

31
3,

5
57

$
19

1,
5

10

V
en

Te
k 

Tr
an

si
t 

In
c.

C
lip

p
er

 C
ar

d
 V

en
d

in
g 

M
ac

h
in

e 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
A

ss
ig

n
ed

 t
o

 S
M

A
R

T
$

34
1,

7
24

$
26

4,
5

86

W
B

E
Ex

is
ti

n
g 

C
C

TV
 S

ys
te

m
 O

n
-C

al
l M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

$
50

,0
0

0
$

8,
2

16

W
es

t 
C

o
as

t 
A

rb
o

ri
st

s,
 In

c.
Tr

ee
 T

ri
m

m
in

g,
 R

em
o

va
l, 

an
d

 R
el

at
ed

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

66
,9

7
8

$
66

,9
7

8

W
R

A
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l C

o
n

su
lt

an
ts

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l P

er
m

it
ti

n
g,

 M
an

ag
em

e
n

t,
 &

 S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$

20
5,

2
16

$
14

0,
7

47

To
ta
ls

$
42
,3
80
,2
49

$
27
,4
27
,5
66

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
T

o
-D

a
te

F
is

c
a

l 
Y

e
a
r 

1
9

/2
0

 A
c

tu
a

ls
-

  
 

P
ag

e 
3 

of
 3

Ac
tu

al
s-

To
-D

at
e 

in
cl

ud
es

 in
vo

ic
es

 th
at

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

as
 o

f A
pr

il 
30

, 2
02

0,
 b

ut
 m

ay
 n

ot
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
ro

ce
ss

ed
 in

 S
M

AR
T'

s F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ys
te

m

Page 20 of 111



Page 21 of 111



Page 22 of 111



SMART Ridership Report 
Board of Directors, May 20, 2020 

 

APRIL 2020 COVID-19 SHELTER IN PLACE RIDERSHIP REPORT 

 COVID-19 related public health orders to Stay at Home in March 2020 remain in effect and the pandemic 
continues to have severe impacts to SMART’s ridership, along with the ridership of every transit system 
in the nation.  As happened with transit systems around the Bay Area, SMART’s average weekday ridership 
dropped 91% (2,925 boardings the week of March 2-6 to 252 boardings the week of March 30 – April 3).       
 
SMART modified services in March 2020 due to the pandemic, with weekend service annulled starting 
March 21/22 and weekday service reduced first by 4 trips (down to 34) on March 23rd, then by another 
18 trips, (down to 16), on April 6.  The week of April 6-10 saw a weekday average ridership of 181.  That 
figure increased 38% to 249 average weekday riders during the first week in May.    
 
For the first ten months of Fiscal Year 2020 (July 1 – April 31), SMART’s total ridership, including during 
the COVID period is down 7% overall.  Fare payments through the Clipper and SMART App systems are 
down 16% in Fiscal Year 2020, due to the COVID-related ridership losses and a variety of Free Fare days 
and programs offered in Fiscal Year 2020.  Weekend/Holiday ridership, not including weekends after 
March 14-15 due to COVID-related service annulments, is up 5% from Fiscal Year 2019.  The Weekender 
pass celebrating the Larkspur Extension and Veteran/Military Free Veterans-Memorial weekends have 
contributed to a 7% decrease in fare collection on Weekends/Holidays in FY 2020.   
 
The total number of bicycles onboard have increased 10% year-over-year, with the percentage of riders 
bringing bicycles onboard growing from 9.5% in April 2019 to 15.4% in April 2020, and 23% the first week 
in May. 

 

 

MONTHLY TOTALS YEAR-OVER-YEAR April 2019 April 2020 % Change

Total Ridership (Onboard Counts) 60,256 6,230 -90%

Total Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 54,627 5,579 -90%

Average Weekday Ridership (Onboard Counts) 2,418 215 -91%

Average Weekday Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 2,201 192 -91%

Average Weekend/Holiday Ridership (Onboard Counts) 883 0 -100%

Average Weekend/Holiday Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 777 12 -98%

Total Bikes Onboard 5,750 958 -83%

Total Wheelchairs Onboard 193 24 -88%

FISCAL YEAR-TO-DATE

First 10 months 

FY19

First 10 months 

FY20 % Change*

Total Ridership (Onboard Counts) 597,111 553,349 -7%

Total Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 538,670 452,015 -16%

Average Weekday Ridership (Onboard Counts) 2,425 2,261 -7%

Average Weekday Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 2,238 1,898 -15%

Average Weekend/Holiday Ridership (Onboard Counts) 957 1,009 +5%

Average Weekend/Holiday Paid Ridership (Clipper + App Only) 756 703 -7%

Total Bikes Onboard 56,135 61,541 +10%

Total Wheelchairs Onboard 2,085 2,086 +0%
*NOTES:  COVID-19 Stay at Home Orders issued third week of March 2020.  SMART annulled services starting March 21.  SMART experienced similar 

ridership reductions to other transit systems in the Bay Area and Nationally.  Free fare days and free fare programs offered in Fiscal Year 2020 also 

contributed to lower Clipper + App numbers than Fiscal Year 2019.

Page 23 of 111



AGENDA ITEM 6c 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Eric Lucan, Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

 
 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

 
Joe Naujokas  
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

 
 

 
Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 
 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

May 20, 2020 
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors  
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT: Information Requested regarding Clipper START  

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Information Item 
 
SUMMARY: 
Your Board requested additional information regarding SMART’s January 2020 
application to the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) for Low-Carbon 
Transit Operating Funds to pay for necessary software program to enter into the 
Clipper START low income fare program.  A summary of the outcome, that SMART 
was not selected to receive the funds, was presented in the April General Manager’s 
Report to the Board.   
 
As you recall, there were two parts to the action your Board took in January.  The 
first part was the adoption of a Low-Income Fare Policy by your Board and request 
to be admitted into the Clipper START low income fare regional program in 
development for launch of a pilot phase this month.  The second part was Your 
Board’s authorization of submittal of an application for Low Carbon Transit 
Operating Program funds to provide up to $700,000 to pay for the software 
programming costs that might be necessary to accommodate SMART within the 
Clipper START Program. The agenda packet for the MTC Programming and 
Allocations Committee meeting of March 11 contained MTC’s detailed staff 
recommendation that resulted in SMART’s request being denied.  The MTC staff 
report is attached and found that SMART’s request did not fit within the several 
screening criteria from policies adopted prior to SMART entering the passenger 
operations phase.   
 
No further written communication has taken place between SMART staff and MTC 
staff regarding either request.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None 
 
REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance    /s/  [ x ] Counsel     /s/  
 
Very truly yours, 
       /s/ 
Joanne Parker 
Programming and Grants Manager 
 
Attachment(s):  1) MTC Programming and Allocations Committee March 11, 2020, 
 Staff Report

Page 24 of 111

http://www.sonomamarintrain.org/


Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
Programming and Allocations Committee 

March 11, 2020 Agenda Item 4a 

MTC Resolution No. 4273, Revised 

Subject:  A request for approval of the program of Projects for the FY2019-20 Cap and Trade 
Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP). 

 
Background: The Low Carbon Transit Operating Program (LCTOP) receives 5% of the state’s 

Cap and Trade auction revenues. Funds are allocated annually, with half of the 
program distributed to transit operators based on revenue, and half distributed to 
regions based on population.  

 
The State Controller’s Office (SCO) released FY2019-20 LCTOP amounts on 
February 14, 2020, totaling $146 million in funding statewide. Approximately $14.2 
million in population-based funds were made available to MTC and $39.1 million in 
revenue-based funds were made available directly to operators in the region. 

 
FY2019-20 Population-Based Funds Programming  

 For MTC’s share ($14.2 million), projects are programmed based on the Cap and 
Trade Funding Framework, MTC Resolution No. 4130, adopted in April 2016; 
approximately $4.7 million is being distributed to each of the following three project 
categories. See Attachment A of Resolution No. 4273, Revised for further detail. 

 
1) North Counties/Small Operators. North county and small operators will 

implement a variety of projects, including service expansion and 
procurement of zero-emission buses and supportive bus-charging 
infrastructure. About $3 million, or 64% of the funds from this category, 
will be used for zero-emission buses or infrastructure.    

 
2) Fare Policy. Funds will be used to support the implementation of the 

Regional Means-Based Transit Fare pilot program, called Clipper START. 
This year’s funding will be focused on providing funding to transit 
operators (as specified in Commission’s pilot program policy) to offset a 
portion of their fare revenue losses as a result of offering a means based 
discount.  As a reminder, the pilot includes BART, Caltrain, GGBHTD, 
and Muni with a discount ranging from 20-50%.  Clipper START is 
expected to begin accepting applications April 1, 2020. 

 
3) Transit Performance Initiative (TPI). The Cap and Trade Funding 

Framework sets aside minimum percentages over five years for SFMTA, 
VTA, and AC Transit. In the first three years of the LCTOP program, the 
Transit Performance Initiative has funded projects for these three operators, 
and the projected minimum set asides have nearly been reached. This year, 
staff released an open call for projects for any LCTOP-eligible operator, 
including SFMTA, VTA, and AC Transit, to propose TPI-eligible projects.  
 
In response to the call, MTC received four applications totaling $6.5 
million. The applications are detailed in Attachment A to this item. A 
review panel consisting of MTC staff evaluated the projects based on their 
readiness, management capacity, cost-effectiveness, and performance 
indicators. Based on the project evaluation, staff recommends funding three 

Page 25 of 111



Programming and Allocations Committee Agenda Item 4a 
March 11, 2020 
Page 2 

out of the four applications. The ECCTA application for Wi-Fi installation 
is the smallest request, and funding the full amount is recommended to 
ensure the improvements are included on paratransit vehicles. The NVTA 
and SFMTA applications are for larger projects with multiple components. 
The remaining TPI funds are recommended to be split between these two 
projects proportional to their total TPI request. The SMART application to 
join Clipper START is not consistent with the adopted Means-Based Fare 
Program Framework or the MTC Cap and Trade Framework, and is not 
recommended for funding through the TPI program. Details and 
recommended award amounts are shown in Attachment A. 

LAVTA FY2017-18 Project Revision 
MTC has also received a request from LAVTA to revise their previously 
programmed FY2017-18 project in the north counties/small operators category. The 
zero emissions bus purchase originally planned for those funds is being delayed, so 
the LCTOP funds planned for the purchase need to be shifted to another project that 
can be implemented this year in order to spend the funds within the time limit 
required by Caltrans. LAVTA is requesting to shift the funds to the Fare-Free 
Summer Rides Promotion, an operational project that will fund a fare-free promotion 
during June, July, and August in 2020 and 2021. LAVTA will be submitting a 
Corrective Action Plan to Caltrans to request this change, but Caltrans requires MTC 
to take action to reprogram the funds and provide concurrence on the change.  

Issues: Schedule: Project sponsors are responsible for submitting applications to Caltrans by 
April 8, 2020. Staff recommends that MTC approval of Resolution No. 4273, 
Revised be conditioned on local support documentation being submitted to Caltrans. 
Pending Commission approval, staff will submit Resolution No. 4273, Revised to 
Caltrans as documentation of the region’s contribution of population-based funds to 
the various LCTOP projects.  

Disadvantaged Communities: LCTOP requires 50% of funds spent in a jurisdiction 
to benefit a Disadvantaged Community, if any are located in that jurisdiction. As the 
recipient of population-based funds for the region, MTC must ensure this 
requirement is met overall for the region’s funds. Additionally, the agencies 
receiving MTC’s population-based funds must meet this requirement for their own 
jurisdiction. These requirements will be met through the list of projects in 
Attachment A of Resolution No. 4273, Revised, with over 90% of funds going to 
projects that directly benefit Disadvantaged Communities or otherwise satisfy the 
state’s requirement by investing in zero-emission buses or supporting infrastructure.  

Recommendation: Refer Resolution No. 4273, Revised to the Commission for approval. 

Attachments:  Attachment A – Transit Performance Initiative Applications and Scoring 
MTC Resolution No. 4273, Revised 

Therese W. McMillan 

Page 26 of 111



MTC Programming and Allocations Committee

Item 4a ‐ Attachment A

FY 2019‐20 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program ‐ Transit Performance Initiative Applications and Scoring

Operator Project Title Project Description

Funding 

Request Staff Notes

LCTOP 

Recommended 

Funding Amount

NVTA

Imola Park and 

Ride and Express 

Bus Stop 

Improvements

Improvements to the park‐and‐ride at SR‐29 at 

Imola Ave, including in‐line bus stations at the 

on/off ramps, intersection and sidewalk 

improvements to help riders reach new bus 

stops from the park and ride, improved lighting, 

signal improvements including bus signal 

priority technology, and long‐term bicycle 

parking for riders. $1,301,799

Enables significant time savings for riders by re‐

routing bus route 29 en route to the El Cerrito 

BART Station and route 11x en route to the 

Vallejo Ferry Terminal from Downtown Napa 

to SR‐29. 

This project is partially funded through a 

previous TPI round focused on the North Bay.  $1,052,102

SMART

Clipper START for 

SMART

Software and hardware modifications to 

implement the Clipper START regional low‐

income rider fare program on SMART 

commuter rail services. $700,000

MTC has done extensive planning and 

outreach work to determine the scope and 

extent of the Clipper START pilot program, 

which is funded through another LCTOP set‐

aside amount. Funding an addition to the 

program through TPI would not be consistent 

with either the adopted Means‐Based Fare 

Program Framework or the MTC Cap and 

Trade Framework. Staff has received inquiries 

from multiple transit operators interested in 

joining the Clipper START pilot program and 

will present this information to the 

Commission as part of the Clipper START pilot 

program evaluation. $0

March 11, 2020

Page 1 of 2Page 27 of 111



MTC Programming and Allocations Committee

Item 4a ‐ Attachment A

FY 2019‐20 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program ‐ Transit Performance Initiative Applications and Scoring

March 11, 2020

Operator Project Title Project Description

Funding 

Request Staff Notes

LCTOP 

Recommended 

Funding Amount

ECCTA

Wi‐Fi for Bus and 

Paratransit Rider 

Connectivity

Enable Wi‐Fi access for customers systemwide ‐ 

on buses, microtransit vehicles, and paratransit 

vehicles. This will improve the rider experience 

and increase rider access to the mobile 

paratransit scheduling app, the MyRide on‐

demand scheduling service, and the planned 

Integrated Dynamic Transit Operation (IDTO) 

app, which will allow a rider transferring 

between two Tri‐Delta buses to request the 

next bus hold for up to 5 minutes if their 

current bus is running late. $340,505

The IDTO app (currently in testing and planned 

to be in operation by Summer 2020) will save 

individual riders 30 to 60 minutes in wait time 

due to missed connections, but may delay 

other riders on a held vehicle for up to 5 

minutes. 

Additionally, passengers would have increased 

access to the new paratransit scheduling app 

and the MyRide on‐demand scheduling 

service.

Tri‐Delta has received a significant amount of 

requests for Wi‐Fi on board their vehicles, 

including for trip planning purposes. Tri‐Delta's 

low‐income, senior, and ADA users have 

access to affordable smart phones, but may 

not be able to afford large data plans. $340,505

SFMTA

27 Bryant 

Tenderloin Transit 

Reliability Project

Improve the reliability of the 27 Bryant Muni 

line by simplifying the route from four to two 

turns, increasing stop spacing to an average of 

two blocks in areas without steep grades, 

extending bus zones at eight stops, adding 

transit bulbs at eight intersections, and 

enhancing pedestrian safety for riders accessing 

bus stops through sidewalk bulbs, new 

crosswalks, and signal improvements. $4,118,000

The 27 Bryant route experiences significant 

delays due to traffic congestion in the 

downtown area, frequent stops, and traffic 

signal delay. This project would reduce delays 

and improve travel times by simplifying the 

route and reducing the number of stops 

required. Additional improvements would 

enhance the rider experience and rider safety.  $3,328,131

$4,720,738Total

Page 2 of 2Page 28 of 111



 
 Date: March 22, 2017 
 W.I.: 1515 
 Referred by: PAC 
 Revised: 03/22/17-ED 04/26/17-C 
  05/24/17-ED 03/28/18-C 
  05/23/18-ED 04/24/19-C 
  06/26/19-C 03/25/20-C 
 
 

ABSTRACT 

Resolution No. 4273, Revised 

 

This resolution adopts the allocation requests for the Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit 

Operations Program for the San Francisco Bay Area. 

 

This resolution includes the following attachments: 

 

Attachment A – Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit Operations Program – Population-based 

Funds Project List 

 

This resolution was amended through Executive Director’s Administrative Authority on March 

22, 2017 to update the name of the GGBHTD project. 

 

This resolution was revised via Commission Action on April 26, 2017 to replace the SFMTA 

Geary Bus Rapid Transit Phase 1 project with the AC Transit San Pablo and Telegraph Rapid 

Bus Upgrades project. 

 

This resolution was amended through Executive Director’s Administrative Authority on May 24, 

2017 to replace the City of Union City Convert New Cutaway Vans from Gasoline to Gasoline-

Hybrid project with the AC Transit East Bay Bus Rapid Transit project.  

 

This resolution was revised via Commission Action on March 28, 2018 to add the FY 2017-18 

LCTOP Population-based Funds Project List to Attachment A, and to add the Transit 

Performance Initiative Project Savings Policy as Attachment B. 

 

This resolution was amended through Executive Director’s Administrative Authority on May 23, 

2018 to replace the FY 2017-18 AC Transit East Bay Bus Rapid Transit project with the AC 

Transit San Leandro BART – Transit Access Improvements project.   

 

Page 29 of 111



ABSTRACT 
MTC Resolution No. 4273 
Page 2 
 
 

 

This resolution was revised via Commission Action on April 24, 2019 to add the FY 2018-19 

LCTOP Population-based Funds Project List to Attachment A.  

 

This resolution was revised via Commission Action on June 26, 2019 to replace the FY 2018-19 

VTA Fast Transit Program: Speed Improvement Project with the VTA 2021 Zero Emission Bus 

Procurement project. 

 

This resolution was revised via Commission Action on March 25, 2020 to add the FY 2019-20 

LCTOP Population-based Funds Project List to Attachment A and to revise LAVTA’s FY2017-

18 project.  

 

Further discussion of these actions is contained in the Programming and Allocations Summary 

Sheets dated March 8, 2017, April 12, 2017, March 7, 2018, April 10, 2019, June 12, 2019, and 

March 11, 2020.  

 
 

Page 30 of 111



 
 Date: March 22, 2017 
 W.I.: 1515 
 Referred by: PAC 
 
 
RE: Cap and Trade Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 

 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION NO. 4273 

 

 WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) is the regional 

transportation planning agency for the San Francisco Bay Area pursuant to Government Code 

Section 66500 et seq.; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Plan Bay Area (“Plan”), the region’s integrated long-range transportation 

and land use plan adopted by MTC, provides the planning foundation for transportation 

improvements and regional growth throughout the San Francisco Bay Area through 2040; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan includes a $3.1 billion reserve from future Cap and Trade funding; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan identifies the expected uses of Cap and Trade funding as including 

but not limited to transit operating and capital rehabilitation/replacement, local streets and roads 

rehabilitation, goods movement, and transit-oriented affordable housing, consistent with the 

Plan's focused land use strategy; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan states that Cap and Trade revenues will be allocated to specific 

programs through a transparent and inclusive regional public process; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan calls for the process to ensure that at least 25 percent of the Cap 

and Trade revenues will be spent to benefit disadvantaged communities in the Bay Area; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Senate Bill 852 (Statutes 2014) establishes the Low Carbon Transit 

Operations Program (LCTOP) from the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund; and 

 

 WHEREAS, MTC is the recipient of the population-based funding in LCTOP funds 

pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 99313 and 99314; and 

 

Page 31 of 111



MTC Resolution No. 4273 
Page 2 
 

 

 WHEREAS, MTC has adopted Resolutions 4123 and 4130, a Programming Framework 

for the Cap and Trade funds and Transit Core Capacity Challenge Grant program; and 

 

 WHEREAS, staff has prepared a LCTOP population-based funding allocation request 

list, Attachment A, for submittal to Caltrans based on the distribution formula in Resolution 

4130, said attachment attached hereto and incorporated herein as though set forth at length; and  

 

WHEREAS, MTC is an eligible project sponsor and may receive state funding from the 

LCTOP now or sometime in the future for transit projects; and  

 

WHEREAS, the statutes related to state-funded transit projects require a local or regional 

implementing agency to abide by various regulations; and  

 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 862 (2014) named the Department of Transportation 

(Department) as the administrative agency for the LCTOP; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Department has developed guidelines for the purpose of administering 

and distributing LCTOP funds to eligible project sponsors (local agencies); and  

 

WHEREAS, MTC wishes to implement the LCTOP program of projects attached hereto 

as Attachment A; now, therefore, be it 

 

 RESOLVED, that MTC adopts LCTOP program of projects, attached hereto as 

Attachment A, and finds it consistent with the RTP; and, be it further 

 

 RESOLVED, that MTC agrees to comply with all conditions and requirements set forth 

in the applicable statutes, regulations and guidelines for all LCTOP funded transit projects; and, 

be it further  

 

 RESOLVED, that MTC hereby authorizes the submittal of the project nominations and 

allocation requests to the Department in LCTOP funds attached hereto as Attachment A; and, be 

it further  

 

 RESOLVED, that the Executive Director is authorized to make changes to Attachment A, 

including revisions to existing allocation requests up to $1,000,000, and authorize new 

Page 32 of 111



MTC Resolution No. 4273 
Page 3 

allocations up to $1,000,000 to conform to sponsor requests, and Caltrans and State Controller's 

actions. 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

7 
The above resolution was entered into by the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
at a regular meeting of the Commission held 
in San Francisco, California, on March 22, 2017. 

Page 33 of 111



Date: March 22, 2017

WI: 1515

Referred by: PAC

Attachment A

Resolution No. 4273

Revised: 03/22/17‐ED  04/26/17‐C

05/24/17‐ED  03/28/18‐C 

05/23/18‐ED  04/24/19‐C

06/26/19‐C  03/25/20‐C

FY 2016‐17 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Requests
Based on State Controller's Office Letter dated 2/1/2017

Agency

 Date 

CCCTA 3/22/17
ECCTA 3/22/17
LAVTA 3/22/17
NVTA 3/22/17

AC Transit (from Union City)
4 5/24/17

WCCTA 3/22/17

GGBHTD1 3/22/17

Marin Transit1 3/22/17

City of Fairfield
2

3/22/17

Solano County Transit
2

3/22/17

City of Petaluma
3

3/22/17

City of Santa Rosa3 3/22/17

Sonoma County Transit3 3/22/17
North Counties / Small Operat
MTC 3/22/17
AC Transit 4/26/17

TOTAL
 * MTC approval conditioned on local support documentation submitted to Caltrans

1. Marin County received $120,438, and distributed between Marin Transit and GGBHTD as noted.

2. Solano County received $196,109, and distributed between City of Fairfield and Solano County Transit as noted.

3. Sonoma County received $230,423, and distributed between City of Petaluma, City of Santa Rosa, and Sonoma County Transit as noted. 

4. City of Union City received $33,064 and released funds back to MTC. These funds have been re‐programmed to AC Transit for FY16‐17 as noted. When MTC distributes population‐based funds for the FY17‐18 LCTOP 

program according to the Cap and Trade Funding Framework (MTC Resolution No. 4130, Revised), the same amount will be redirected from the Transit Performance Initiative category to the North Counties/Small 

Operators category, provided that sufficient funds are available. 

30,450$                                  

74,635$                                  

45,803$                                  

67,091$                                  

3,373,683$                            

1,118,681$                            
1,118,681$                            

Project(s)
Martinez Shuttle
Pittsburg eBART Connector Service Demonstration Project
Las Positas College Easy Pass Fare Voucher Program
Vine ZEB Procurement Program

East Bay Bus Rapid Transit Project
Continue Expanded Service on Route 11

Purchase Sixty‐seven (67) 40‐Foot Diesel‐Electric Hybrid Buses

MCTD 2016 Transit Service Expansion

  FY 2016‐17 LCTOP

Population‐Based Funding  

228,378$                               
137,935$                               
94,419$                                  
65,105$                                  

129,018$                               

27,715$                                  

80,639$                                  

122,069$                               
1,136,320$                            

Electric Bus Purchase

33,064$                                  

Local Bus Fleet Replacement ‐ Diesel‐Electric Hybrid Buses

SolTrans Electric Bus Purchase

Weekday Afternoon Service Enhancements

Increased Frequency on Trunk Routes ‐ Santa Rosa CityBus Operating

Clipper Fare Payment System
San Pablo and Telegraph Rapid Bus Upgrades 

Page 1 of 4 Page 34 of 111



Date: March 22, 2017

WI: 1515

Referred by: PAC

Attachment A

Resolution No. 4273

Revised: 03/22/17‐ED  04/26/17‐C

05/24/17‐ED  03/28/18‐C 

05/23/18‐ED  04/24/19‐C

06/26/19‐C  03/25/20‐C

FY 2017‐18 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Requests
Based on State Controller's Office Letter dated 2/7/2018

Agency
 Date 

CCCTA 3/28/18
CCCTA 3/28/18
ECCTA 3/28/18
LAVTA 3/25/20
NVTA 3/28/18

Union City
1

3/28/18
WCCTA 3/28/18

GGBHTD
2

3/28/18

Marin Transit
2

3/28/18

City of Fairfield3 3/28/18

Solano County Transit
3

3/28/18

City of Petaluma4 3/28/18

City of Santa Rosa
4

3/28/18

Sonoma County Transit4 3/28/18
North Counties / Small Operat
MTC 3/28/18
SFMTA 3/28/18

VTA 3/28/18
AC Transit 5/23/18
AC Transit 3/28/18

TOTAL
 * MTC approval conditioned on local support documentation submitted to Caltrans

2. Marin County received $337,880, and distributed between Marin Transit and GGBHTD as noted.

3. Solano County received $550,170, and distributed between City of Fairfield and Solano County Transit as noted.

4. Sonoma County received $646,434 and distributed between City of Petaluma, City of Santa Rosa, and Sonoma County Transit as noted. 

Clipper Fare Payment System
Mission Bay Loop

Phase 1
San Leandro BART ‐‐ Transit Access Improvements

Paratransit Vehicle Replacement

182,646$                               

125,822$                               

MCTD 2016 Transit Expansion [Third year]

Electric Bus Infrastructure Upgrade Project

SolTrans Electric Bus Purchase

Continue Service ‐‐ New Route 381
Fare‐Free Summer Rides Promotion
Vine Zero Emission Bus (ZEB) Procurement Program

Purchase Sixty‐four (64) 40‐foot Diesel‐Electric Hybrid Buses 202,999$                               

Purchase and Install New AVL/CAD/APC System 85,426$                                  

Project(s)

New Service and Additional Weekend Trips (Martinez DAC)
Low/No Electric Bus

579,338$                               
210,780$                               

9,464,626$                            
South Alameda County Major Corridors Travel Time Improvement 

Enhanced Weekday Afternoon Transit Service
Maintain Increased Frequency on Trunk Routes and Improve Route 15 

Service ‐ Santa Rosa CityBus Operating

Electric Bus Purchase 342,183$                               
3,220,928$                            
3,138,381$                            
1,440,568$                            

874,631$                               

  FY 2017‐18 LCTOP

Population‐Based Funding  

375,378$                               
265,319$                               
386,968$                               
264,885$                               

134,881$                               

189,628$                               

360,542$                               

77,990$                                  

226,261$                               

1. City of Union City amount includes $33,064 in funds from Transit Performance Initiative category as discussed in note 4 of FY2016‐17 table.

Page 2 of 4 Page 35 of 111



Date: March 22, 2017

WI: 1515

Referred by: PAC

Attachment A

Resolution No. 4273

Revised: 03/22/17‐ED  04/26/17‐C

05/24/17‐ED  03/28/18‐C 

05/23/18‐ED  04/24/19‐C

06/26/19‐C  03/25/20‐C

FY 2018‐19 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Requests
Based on State Controller's Office Letter dated 1/31/2019

Agency
 Date 

CCCTA 4/24/19
CCCTA 4/24/19
ECCTA 4/24/19

LAVTA 4/24/19

NVTA 4/24/19
Union City 4/24/19
WCCTA 4/24/19

GGBHTD
1 4/24/19

Marin Transit
1

4/24/19

City of Fairfield
2

4/24/19

Solano County Transit2 4/24/19

Solano County Transit
2

4/24/19

City of Petaluma
3

4/24/19

City of Santa Rosa3 4/24/19

Sonoma County Transit3 4/24/19
North Counties / Small Operat
MTC 4/24/19
SFMTA 4/24/19

VTA 6/26/19
AC Transit 4/24/19

TOTAL
 * MTC approval conditioned on local support documentation submitted to Caltrans

1. Marin County received $512,444, and distributed between Marin Transit and GGBHTD as noted.

2. Solano County received $834,413 and distributed between City of Fairfield and Solano County Transit as noted.

3. Sonoma County received $980,411 and distributed between City of Petaluma, City of Santa Rosa, and Sonoma County Transit as noted. 

4. This project is not considered eligible for the TPI category but will count toward VTA's minimum set‐aside. VTA is expected to commit a like amount of a local funds to a TPI project. Staff will follow up on this 

commitment through semi‐annual TPI updates to the Commission.

Electrical Infrastructure for Charging All‐Electric Buses

Purchase One Zero‐Emission Replacement Bus

Maintain Increased Frequency on Routes 1 and 2

Electric Bus Purchases

Infrastructure for Regional Means‐Based Transit Fare Pilot
West Portal Optimization and Crossover Activation

14,354,475$                         

4,834,859$                            
4,759,808$                            
2,184,830$                            

375,378$                               
Project(s)

Martinez to Amtrak BART II
Free Fares for Routes 11, 14, and 16 Serving the Monument Corridor
New Route 383
Purchase Four (4) Zero‐Emission Replacement Buses and Related 

Support Infrastructure

NVTA Zero Emission Bus Procurement Project 
Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for Union City Transit Fleet
"Spare the Fare" ‐‐ Free Rides on Weekday Spare the Air Days

Purchase Sixty‐four (64) 40‐foot Diesel‐Electric Hybrid Buses

Purchase Four 40ft Electric Transit Vehicles

Electric Infrastructure Upgrade Phase I

SolTrans All‐Electric Bus Purchase

2021 Zero Emission Bus Procurement
4

Dumbarton Innovative Deployments to Enhance Arterials (IDEA)

  FY 2018‐19 LCTOP

Population‐Based Funding  

1,326,504$                            
1,248,474$                            

140,000$                               

406,815$                               

287,598$                               

122,145$                               

347,666$                               

510,600$                               

140,680$                               
129,561$                               

307,876$                               

204,568$                               

596,332$                               
586,893$                               

401,737$                               

277,010$                               

Page 3 of 4 Page 36 of 111



Date: March 22, 2017

WI: 1515

Referred by: PAC

Attachment A

Resolution No. 4273

Revised: 03/22/17‐ED  04/26/17‐C

05/24/17‐ED  03/28/18‐C 

05/23/18‐ED  04/24/19‐C

06/26/19‐C  03/25/20‐C

FY 2019‐20 Low Carbon Transit Operations Program Requests
Based on State Controller's Office Letter dated 2/14/2020

Agency
 Date 

CCCTA 3/25/20

CCCTA 3/25/20
ECCTA 3/25/20

LAVTA 3/25/20
NVTA 3/25/20
Union City 3/25/20
WCCTA 3/25/20

GGBHTD
1

3/25/20

Marin Transit1 3/25/20

City of Fairfield2 3/25/20

Solano County Transit2 3/25/20

City of Petaluma
3

3/25/20

City of Santa Rosa3 3/25/20

Sonoma County Transit
3

3/25/20
North Counties / Small Operators Subtotal

MTC 3/25/20
NVTA 3/25/20
ECCTA 3/25/20
SFMTA 3/25/20

TOTAL
 * MTC approval conditioned on local support documentation submitted to Caltrans

1. Marin County received $508,238 and distributed between Marin Transit and GGBHTD as noted.

2. Solano County received $827,564 and distributed between City of Fairfield and Solano County Transit as noted.

3. Sonoma County received $972,364 and distributed between City of Petaluma, City of Santa Rosa, and Sonoma County Transit as noted. 

274,736$                               
139,526$                               
128,498$                               

304,638$                               

203,600$                               

231,718$                               

595,846$                               

Project(s)
Martinez Amtrak to BART III 

Purchase One Replacement Zero‐Emission Bus

Maintain Increased Frequency on Routes 1 and 2

Electric Bus Purchase

3,328,131$                            

Spare the Fare ‐ Free Rides on Spare the Air Days

Golden Gate High Speed Ferry Vessel Acquisition

Purchase four 40ft Electric Transit Vehicles

Electric Infrastructure Upgrade, Phase 1

Electrical Infrastructure for Charging All‐Electric Buses

Free Fares for Routes 11, 14, and 16 serving the Monument Corridor II
Hydrogen Fueling Station
Purchase four (4) Zero‐Emission Replacement Buses and Related Support 

Infrastructure
NVTA Zero Emissions Bus
Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for Union City Transit Fleet

1,052,102$                            
340,505$                               

215,710$                               

748,023$                               
582,076$                               

398,439$                               

14,236,650$                         

120,890$                               

341,082$                               

510,392$                               
4,795,174$                            

4,720,738$                            
Imola Park and Ride and Express Bus Stop Improvements
Wi‐Fi for Bus and Paratransit Rider Connectivity
27 Bryant Tenderloin Transit Reliability Project

  FY 2019‐20 LCTOP

Population‐Based Funding  

Discount Fare Subsidy for BART, Caltrain, GGBHTD, and SFMTA, Regional 

Means‐Based Transit Fare Pilot

Page 4 of 4 Page 37 of 111



 
 Date: March 28, 2018 
 W.I.: 1515 
 Referred by: PAC 
 
 Attachment B 
 MTC Resolution No. 4273 
 Page 1 of 1 
 
 

Transit Performance Initiative Project Savings Policy 
 
The following policy is adopted for projects funded through the Transit Performance Initiative 
Investment Program, including those projects funded with federal STP/CMAQ funds and Low 
Carbon Transit Operations Program funds: 
 

Savings following project completion may be used to expand the scope of the project, if 
the expanded scope provides additional quantifiable benefits to the original transit 
corridor. The expanded scope must be approved by MTC staff prior to expenditure. All 
other project savings will be returned to MTC proportionally.  

 
Staff will update the Commission on any such actions through the semi-annual Transit 
Performance Initiative updates. 
 

Page 38 of 111



  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Eric Lucan, Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
 
Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  
 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Joe Naujokas 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 

 

 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

 

AGENDA ITEM 7 

 
May 20, 2020 
 
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT:  Expansion of SMART Right-of-Way and Scope of Operations by 
adding Freight Service Responsibility and Executing Related Agreements 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 

As provided in SB 1029 (McGuire), Consideration of SMART becoming a 
Common Carrier and Freight service provider (directly or through a contract) 
with the understanding of all of its privileges, opportunities and obligations 
from Sonoma-Mendocino County line south to Corte Madera and east to Napa 
River. Upon affirmative confirmation of the policy before your Board, in order 
for us to move forward, the following actions are required by your Board: 

1. Approve the concept of SMART becoming a Common Carrier and 
Freight service provider (directly or through a contract) with the 
understanding of all of its privileges, opportunities and obligations 
from Sonoma-Mendocino County line south and east to Napa River. 

2. Accept the additional right-of-way from Downtown Healdsburg to 
Sonoma-Mendocino County Line (20.8 miles). 

3. Authorize the General Manager to execute the “Asset Transfer 
Agreement” between SMART and NWPCo in substantially the form 
attached hereto as (Attachment 2). 

4. Authorize the General Manager to execute the Baseline Agreement 
between State of California and SMART in substantially the form 
attached hereto as (Attachment 3). 

5. Direct the Chair of the Board and General Manager to work with 
Senator McGuire, other State Legislators, Governor and his/her 
administration to secure the funding needed for the ongoing 
maintenance and capital project of the freight area. 

6. Authorize General Manager to file required documents with the 
Surface Transportation Board authorizing SMART to acquire railroad 
right-of-way and transferring common freight carrier rail operations 
authority to SMART for all freight services south of Mile Post 89. 

7. Authorize General Manager to issue a Request for Proposal to seek a 
freight consultant who would perform Economic Feasibility Study of 
the entire SMART owned area and analysis for the options to provide 
freight services in the future. 

Page 39 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 2 of 8 
 

 

8. Authorize General Manager to negotiate and execute an agreement with NWPCo. to provide interim 
service to the existing freight customers until the Board has made a permanent decision. 

9. Request the Chair of the Board to assign a number of Board members and the General Manager to 
meet with officials from County of Sonoma, Town of Sonoma, First Responders and the affected 
Community regarding the future of the existing practice of storage of Liquidated Petroleum Gasoline 
(LPG) and report back to the Board in a future public meeting.  

 

SUMMARY:   
The State of California is dissolving the North Coast Railroad Authority (NCRA), which currently owns the 
right-of-way north of Healdsburg and has freight easements on most of SMART’s property and is 
responsible for freight service along our right-of-way. The State is planning to distribute certain portions 
of the Railroad right-of-way and assets to SMART and to a new planned Great Redwood Trail Agency that 
will oversee the implementation of a trail system on northern portions of the NCRA right-of-way.  SMART 
is slated to receive the southern portion of the NCRA right-of-way from Downtown Healdsburg (MP 68.2) 
to the Sonoma-Mendocino County line (MP 89.0) as well as $2 million dollars to address the cost of 
deferred maintenance and needed repairs. SMART’s additional $8 million of estimated capital and 
maintenance needs are yet to be funded. Senate Bill Nos. 1029 and 356 direct the dissolution of NCRA 
and modifies the Public Utilities Code as necessary, including making the necessary provisions for SMART 
to operate freight. 

 

HISTORY:   
The history of the Northwestern Pacific Railroad line is extensive.  We will not attempt to tell it all here, 
but simply provide a high-level summary.  Freight and passenger rail service has existed in various forms 
through Marin and Sonoma counties since the late 1800s.  There were ferry connections in Tiburon and 
Larkspur that moved freight cars as well as passengers to San Francisco.  In fact, mile post zero of the 
railroad is the Ferry Building in San Francisco.  Lines spanned to Sonoma, Pt. Reyes, Eureka and other 
destinations.  In addition to transporting people, the railroad shipped lumber, eggs from Petaluma, wine 
and other goods.  Passenger service was discontinued south of Willits in 1958.  There was a succession of 
bankruptcies and rail companies closing as Highway 101 was improved, trucking became cheaper, natural 
resources became scarcer and maintaining the railroad became significantly more expensive.  
 
Portions of the right-of-way began to enter public ownership in 1989 when the North Coast Railroad 
Authority (NCRA) was established by the California Legislature under the North Coast Railroad Authority 
Act.  

 
In 1986, Congressman Bosco introduced and succeeded in passing HR2 which purchased Southern Pacific 
right-of-way for $24M for a future railroad use by public. As additional portions of the right-of-way began 
to enter public ownership in 1989 when the North Coast Railroad Authority (NCRA) was established by 
the California Legislature under the North Coast Railroad Authority Act.  

 
In 2006, NCRA selected Northwestern Pacific Company (NWPCo) as their freight operator. Around the 
same time, the Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District in conjunction with Marin and 
Sonoma Counties began purchasing southern portions of the railroad from the Southern Pacific Railroad.   
For two decades before NCRA was created, railroads had fallen on hard times around the country and 

Page 40 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 

certainly here in Northern California. In 2006, NCRA selected Northwestern Pacific Company (NWPCo) as 
their freight operator who continues to provide freight today. 
 
Around the same time, the Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District in conjunction with 
Marin and Sonoma Counties began purchasing southern portions of the railroad from the Southern 
Pacific Railroad. The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Commission (SMART Commission) was a transitional 
body made up of Marin and Sonoma County supervisors and City Representatives that provided 
governance during the early planning phase of SMART. SMART Commission was staffed by Suzanne 
Wilford (now Smith) and Farhad Mansourian, the two Executive Directors of Sonoma and Marin 
Congestion Management Agencies.  
 
Assembly Bill No. 2224, approved on August 31, 2002, created the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
we have today that was designed to operate in harmony with existing freight service that operates upon 
the same rail line. 

 
Senate Bill 1029 (McGuire) 
Senator Mike McGuire introduced SB 1029 in February of 2018 and it was signed into law by Governor 
Jerry Brown on September 29, 2018.  

 
The overriding vision of the bill was to create a single trail system that would stretch over 300 miles from 
San Francisco Bay to Humboldt Bay, adjacent to, or on, the railbed. This was no small feat.  With SMART 
as a successful passenger rail owning many miles of the tracks, the North Coast Railroad Authority owning 
the rest and the NCRA freight contractor NWPCo with an exclusive and extensive freight lease, there were 
many facets to making this all happen.  

 
The Senator and his staff worked closely with SMART on the bill right from the start and throughout the 
process as the bill went through the legislative process and on to the Governor’s desk.  

 
One of the biggest hurdles was what to do with NCRA and the debt they had incurred over the many 
years since their inception?   
 
With no train north of Cloverdale possible given the 200+ miles of dilapidated rail infrastructure and a 
significant debt, Senator McGuire decided to eliminate NCRA.  To build the Great Redwood Trail, NCRA 
would be replaced with a Trail agency north of the Sonoma/Mendocino County line, and everything south 
of that County line would go to SMART. Under current state law (per SB 1029), NCRA is no longer a freight 
rail agency and their new mission is to “Transition to Trails” – in other words, their job is to work with 
SMART and Trail organizations on the Great Redwood Trail, and establish a plan to transfer their right-
of-way to an authority that builds trails, and then close down forever.   
 
After months of conversation and negotiation with SMART Board members, staff and others, Senator 
McGuire’s SB 1029 was amended to put this agreement in place.  As signed, the bill had these priorities, 
according to Senator McGuire: 

▪ Preserve and protect this 300-mile jewel of a public transportation right-of-way. 
▪ Transition the NCRA’s priorities from rail to trail. 

Page 41 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 

▪  Complete a financial study of NCRA so the right of way can go to responsible agencies and NCRA 
can be shuttered. 

▪ Start the process of re-opening this stunning North Coast transportation corridor as a world class 
Trail. 

▪ Enable SMART to acquire and take over the freight contract from Northwestern Pacific Company 
in order to put it back into the public’s hands and help improve the safety and reliability of the 
entire corridor.  
 

Section 17 of SB 1029 specifically involved SMART and NCRA’s freight contractor, NWPCo. This section 
(excerpt below) appropriates $4 million for the public acquisition of the privately held freight contract on 
the SMART/NCRA rail line. 
 
SB 1029 (2018) SEC. 17. The sum of four million dollars ($4,000,000) is hereby appropriated to the State 
Transportation Agency from the Public Transportation Account for rail improvements on the corridor 
owned by the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District and the North Coast Railroad Authority. These 
moneys shall be allocated to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District for the acquisition of freight 
rights and equipment from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company to ensure efficient provision of 
goods movement requirements in the corridor in the context of growing passenger service. Following a 
signed Baseline Agreement between the State Transportation Agency and the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail 
Transit District that articulates deliverables, the anticipated expenditure schedule, and reporting 
requirements, the Secretary of Transportation may transfer these moneys to the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District pursuant to the provisions of the baseline agreement. These moneys shall not be 
transferred to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District for the acquisition of freight rights and 
equipment from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company unless the terms and conditions of the 
baseline agreement have been approved by both the Secretary of Transportation and the Director of 
Finance. If these moneys are not transferred to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District within two 
years of the chaptering of this act, these moneys shall be returned to the Public Transportation Account.  

 
The Process is summarized here: 
 
To implement the requirements of SB 1029, the following agreements are to be reached before the 
designated $4M funding is to expire at the end of June 2020: 

▪ NWPCO and SMART must reach an agreement for the sale of the freight contract, equipment, 
easements, etc. for a State funded $4 million (see attachment 1)(subject to approval by the NCRA 
and SMART Board of Directors) 

▪ SMART and the California State Transportation Agency must execute a Baseline Agreement that 
will provide State funding and will stipulate timetable and deliverables. (see attachment 2). This 
is subject to the approval of SMART Board of Directors and Approval by State Secretary of 
Transportation and State Director of the Department of Finance. 

▪ Approval by the Federal Surface Transportation Board who has jurisdiction over freight in the 
United States. 

 
The State of California’s interest in this transaction is based upon the 2018 State Rail Plan and connectivity 
between SMART passenger and freight with national and regional rail service (AMTRAK and Capital 
Corridor).  In the State’s view, as SMART builds out additional miles of service territory and carries more 

Page 42 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 

people, it is important that SMART has complete control over their rail line. Having the freight contract 
in SMART’s hands will make the potential for an East-West train from Novato to Suisun City substantially 
easier. In 2019, the State funded an east-west passenger rail feasibility study that has the support of 
Counties of Marin, Sonoma, Transportation Authorities of Napa and Solano as well a number of business 
advocacy groups. But while the acquisition of the freight rail contract comes with significant advantages, 
it also has some expensive responsibilities. 
 
After extensive review of the line from the Napa River to Novato and from Healdsburg to the 
Sonoma/Mendocino County line, it is clear there are necessary infrastructure and safety fixes to bring 
the line up to a reasonable and safe requirement. The maintenance and upkeep of the rail line from 
Novato to Schellville has been in the hands of a private freight rail contractor for over 12 years now, and 
with an underfunded NCRA before that, and is in need of an upgrade all around.  
 
These upgrades are not overly expensive by rail standards, but will take some one-time and ongoing 
dollars. Senator McGuire was already able to secure $2 million for SMART in the FY 19/20 budget to help 
defray these costs, but recognizes that it will take an additional $8 million over the next few years.  
 
Senator McGuire is in a good position to secure additional dollars.  The Senator represents nearly the 
entire 300 mile plus rail line, and is on the Transportation Committee, the Senate Budget Committee and 
the Budget Subcommittee on Transportation.  Senator McGuire helped secure $3 million in state funding 
to carry out the audit and assessment of NCRA and the trail master planning. He was also able to secure 
an additional $8.8 million dollars to help run NCRA and pay off their debts and the Senator helped secure 
over $30 million from California Transportation Commission (CTC) and other sources for trails along the 
corridor in the last couple of years. The Senator has requested an additional budget item for SMART 
already for FY 20/21.  
 
Current Actions and Pending Legislations: 
Senate Bill No. 356 (McGuire), that was passed by California Senate, in its current form and intent will 
provide for the following: 
 
NCRA: 

▪ Property transfer from NCRA to SMART and all rights title and interest in the rail corridor and 
assignment of all contracts, equipment, leases, agreements and licenses south of 
Mendocino/Sonoma County line to Healdsburg.  This will preserve the right-of-way and property 
for future freight and passenger rail service.   

▪ NCRA to relinquish all Freight and Excursion Easement rights over SMART’s right-of-way 
(Healdsburg South).  

▪ A Transfer of all rail related personal property and equipment owned by NCRA and/or leased by 
NWPCo (South of MP 89).  

▪ Execute any Surface Transportation Board (STB) approvals needed, for a similar and concurrent 
transfer (to be executed by NWPCo) for all fee title, easement, use and licenses common carrier 
responsibilities for all assets south of Mile Post 89 line immediately, subject to/or upon STB 
approval  
 

 

Page 43 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 

NWPCo: 
▪ Relinquishment and the transfer of all NWPCo’ s rights and privileges (long term lease) to use or 

operate rail service/common carrier authority responsibilities to SMART (South of MP 89). 
▪ A Bill of Sale for all rail related personal property and equipment owned by NWPCo.  
▪ An Assignment and Assumption Agreement for all contracts, equipment leases/licenses.  
▪ Quit Claim Deed for all rights, title and interest in any improvements and all rights, title and 

interest in any easements, leases, licenses and right of way south of MP 89 to SMART. 
▪ Apply and execute any Surface Transportation Board (STB) approvals needed, for a similar and 

concurrent transfer (To be executed by NCRA) for all fee title, easement, use and licenses for all 
assets south of the Mile Post 89 line immediately but subject to/or upon STB approval. 

 
SMART:  SUMMARY OF OBLIGATIONS  
▪ Assumes maintenance responsibility for an additional 45 miles of right-of-way, including 

Bridges/crossings etc.  Currently SMART maintains only the portion of the right-of-way (“shared” 
track) where SMART operates passenger service.  

 
SMART assumes freight duties over the rail line south of the Sonoma/Mendocino county line (Mile Post 
89). As the new exclusive freight operator, SMART will assume all “common carrier” duties over the rail 
line south of Mile Post 89. As the common carrier, SMART will need to continue to provide freight 
transportation to all existing local customers and to all parties on the rail line upon reasonable request, 
including requests for the transportation of hazardous materials. In addition, as the common carrier for 
freight SMART must now also comply with the all the requirements and regulations of the Surface 
Transportation Board.  
 
The Surface Transportation Board (STB) of the United States is a federal, bipartisan, independent 
adjudicatory board. The STB was established in 1996 and has broad economic regulatory oversight of 
railroads, including rates, service, the construction, acquisition and abandonment of rail lines, carrier 
mergers and interchange of traffic among carriers. The Board has wide discretion, through its exemption 
authority from federal, state and local laws, to tailor its regulatory activities to meet the nation's changing 
transportation needs.  
 
As a freight “common carrier”, the STB will require SMART to bear the obligations to serve any customer 
upon reasonable request (reasonable business/economic sense); without unreasonable discrimination; 
at just and reasonable rates; and with higher duty of care. These requirements mean that during the 
transfer of property and responsibilities SMART must continue to serve NWPCo’s current customers to 
comply with the requirements of STB, we are proposing to retain the existing freight operator to continue 
serving the existing customers on an interim basis until the feasibility study is completed and approved 
by your Board. 
 
Environment/Operational Benefits: 
In acquiring the freight operation responsibilities SMART will gain complete control over its right-of-way, 
allowing for much closer coordination of use of the rail line, improving dispatching and scheduling options 
and allowing SMART to have the ability to provide increased freight services to local freight customers in 
a more efficient and environmentally friendly way.  As we build future stations and extensions, this will 
benefit SMART’s ability to grow service.  

Page 44 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 

 
FUNDING:   
SB 1029 and SB 356 thus far provides $2 million to SMART, to address the identified deferred 
maintenance items such as repair of the Black Point Bridge, and in cooperation and collaboration with 
California Department of Transportation (CALTRANS) as a joint safety project, repairing the Schellville 
and Highway 37 at grade crossings, fortifying railroad embankments and mainly general maintenance of 
the railroad right-of-way. These unfunded needs for SMART have been identified as $8 million for track, 
signal and infrastructure repairs and maintenance of the Brazos branch and the new property north of 
Downtown Healdsburg. 
 
POLICY DECISION: 
Your Board previously discussed the issues involving NCRA, NWPCo., SB 1029 and SB 356 and the 
related real estate transactions and at numerous times have taken position of support for SB 1029. 
Additionally, SMART supported Senator McGuire’s efforts in getting the required funding to implement 
the goals of SB 1029 and SB 356 and communicated SMART’s support to Governor Newsom and various 
State Legislators. 
 
In the past 2 years, as outlined by SB 1029, we have been negotiating with NWPCo. for the acquisition 
of the rail line and freight easement and in the last 12 months with State of California’s Task Force on 
SB 1029. Upon affirmative confirmation of the policy before your board, in order for us to move 
forward, the following actions are required by your board: 
 

1. Approve the Concept of SMART becoming a Common Carrier and Freight service provider 
(directly or through a contract) with the understanding of all of its privileges, opportunities and 
obligations from Sonoma-Mendocino County line south and east to Napa River. 

2. Accept the additional Right-of-way from Downtown Healdsburg to Sonoma-Mendocino County 
Line (20.8 miles). 

3. Authorize the General Manager to execute the “Asset Transfer Agreement” between SMART 
and NWPCo in substantially the from attached hereto as (Attachment 2). 

4. Authorize the General Manager to execute the Baseline Agreement between State of California 
and SMART in substantially the from attached hereto as (Attachment 3). 

5. Direct the Chair of the Board and General Manager to work with Senator McGuire, other State 
Legislators, Governor and his/her administration to secure the funding needed for the ongoing 
maintenance and capital project of the freight area. 

6. Authorize General Manager to file required documents with the Surface Transportation Board 
authorizing SMART to acquire railroad right-of-way and transferring common freight carrier rail 
operations authority to SMART for all freight services south of MP 89. 

7. Authorize General Manager to issue a Request for Proposal to seek a freight consultant who 
would perform Economic Feasibility Study of the entire SMART owned area and analysis for the 
options to provide freight services in the future. 

8. Authorize General Manager to negotiate and execute an agreement with NWPCo to provide 
interim service to the existing freight customers until the Board has made a permanent 
decision. 

Page 45 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 

9. Request the Chair of the Board to assign a number of Board members and the General Manager 
to meet with officials from County of Sonoma, Town of Sonoma, First Responders and the 
affected Community regarding the future of the existing practice of storage of Liquidated 
Petroleum Gasoline (LPG) and report back to the Board in a future public meeting.  

 
If your board approves these steps, we will move forward with completing the required agreement 
but will not execute any documents until NCRA Board and State of California have all approved the 
aforementioned documents. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
  /s/ 
Farhad Mansourian 
General Manager 
 
Cc: Senator McGuire 
 Jason Liles 

State of California Task Force 
Chad Edison  

 Doug Bosco 
 Mitch Stogner 
 
Attachment(s):   

1) Senator McGuire Letter, dated May 15, 2020 
2) California State Transportation and SMART Baseline Agreement 
3) Asset Transfer Agreement 
4) Senate Bill 1029 
5) Senate Bill 356 
6) Exhibition Map 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 46 of 111



Mr. Eric Lucan, Chair 
May 15, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 15, 2020 
 
 
Mr. Eric Lucan, Chair 
SMART Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
  
Dear Chair Lucan: 
 
I hope this letter finds you and your family safe and healthy. 
 
I am writing today in support of your agenda item on the NWPCo freight contract acquisition. I 
know how much work your Board and staff have put into this over the last couple of years and I 
am impressed with the progress that has been made.  
  

There is no doubt in my mind that having the freight contract as part of the SMART portfolio is 

not only good public policy but also good business. And it’s something the District has needed – 

complete control over your own right of way. Consolidating all rail operations on this line into 

one public entity is in the best interest of our communities and having a public board with local 

officials making the decisions is good for everyone.  

 

And, according to NWPCo financials, the freight operations are currently profitable and will give 

SMART an alternative revenue source for operations and maintenance, even in this down 

economy. 

 

Looking at the bigger picture, the state is seeking ways to fund the SMART extension to 

Cloverdale and has already underwritten a study to look at the feasibility of running 

SMART west to east, from Novato to Suisun City. Extending your right of way ownership to the 

north and obtaining the freight contract can only make these projects easier to achieve in the 

long run.

Page 47 of 111



Mr. Eric Lucan, Chair 
May 15, 2020 
Page 2 
 
 
We have worked hard in the Senate over the years to bring state dollars to SMART and will 
continue to do so to ensure you are made whole on this added obligation. We have been quite 
successful over the last couple of years in acquiring funding for the whole SB 1029 process, and 
that includes $2 million up front to SMART to make infrastructure improvements related to this 
project. As a member of both the Senate Transportation Committee and the Senate Budget 
Committee, I will continue to fight to ensure SMART has the funds it needs to take care of these 
new assets and to continue to expand and serve our remarkable communities such as the $20 
million in state funds that were recently secured to move SMART into Windsor. 
  

Auditors from the Department of Finance and the experts at the State Transportation Agency 

have gone over this deal with a fine-tooth comb and I trust them when they say the deal is 

worth the investment. 

 
This contract belongs in public hands. It is an innovative and logical solution and opens 
alternative revenue sources for the rail district. I am grateful for the proactive leadership your 
board has shown through this entire process.  
  
Thank you for your hard work and please let me know if I can answer any questions.  
 
Warmest Regards, 

 
 
 
 
 

MIKE McGUIRE 
Senator 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48 of 111



 

 

 
 
 

California State Transportation Agency 
 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
 

Baseline Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 49 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 2 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

RECITALS ___________________________________________________________________________ 4 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS _______________________________________________________________ 5 

ARTICLE II – PROJECTS AND ADMINISTRATION______________________________________________ 6 

Section 1.  Projects and Project Management ____________________________________________ 6 

Section 2.  Program Supplement ______________________________________________________ 6 
A. General ___________________________________________________________________ 6 
B. Project Overrun _____________________________________________________________ 8 
C. Cost Savings and Project Completion ____________________________________________ 8 
D.  Scope of Work ______________________________________________________________ 9 
E.  Program Supplement Amendments _____________________________________________ 9 

Section 3.  Allowable Costs and Payments _______________________________________________ 9 
A. Allowable Costs and Progress Payment Invoice ____________________________________ 9 
B. Final Invoice ______________________________________________________________ 10 

ARTICLE III – GENERAL PROVISIONS _____________________________________________________ 10 

Section 1. Funding ________________________________________________________________ 10 

Section 2.  Audits and Reports _______________________________________________________ 10 
A. Cost Principles _____________________________________________________________ 10 
B. Record Retention __________________________________________________________ 11 
C. Reporting Requirements _____________________________________________________ 12 

Section 3.  Special Requirements _____________________________________________________ 13 
A. California Transportation Commission Resolutions ________________________________ 13 
B. SMART Resolution __________________________________________________________ 13 
C. Termination _______________________________________________________________ 13 
D. Third Party Contracting ______________________________________________________ 14 
E. Change in Funds and Terms/Amendments _______________________________________ 15 
F. Project Ownership _________________________________________________________ 15 
G. Disputes _________________________________________________________________ 17 
H. Hold Harmless and Indemnification ____________________________________________ 18 
I. Labor Code Compliance _____________________________________________________ 18 
J. Non-Discrimination Clause ___________________________________________________ 18 
K. State Fire Marshal Building Standards Code ______________________________________ 19 
L. Americans with Disabilities Act ________________________________________________ 19 
M. Access for Persons with Disabilities ____________________________________________ 20 
N. Disabled Veterans Program Requirements _______________________________________ 20 
O. Environmental Process ______________________________________________________ 20 
P. Force Majeure _____________________________________________________________ 20 

ARTICLE IV – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS _______________________________________________ 21 

Section 1.  Miscellaneous Provisions __________________________________________________ 21 
A. Successor Acts _____________________________________________________________ 21 

Page 50 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 3 

B. Successor and Assigns to the Parties ___________________________________________ 21 
C. Notice ___________________________________________________________________ 21 
D. Amendment ______________________________________________________________ 22 
E. Representation and Warranties of the Parties ____________________________________ 22 
F. Construction, Number, Gender and Captions ____________________________________ 23 
G. Complete Agreement _______________________________________________________ 23 
H. Partial Invalidity ___________________________________________________________ 23 
I. Conflicts__________________________________________________________________ 24 
J. Counterparts ______________________________________________________________ 24 
K. Governing Law ____________________________________________________________ 24 

Appendix A - _______________________________________________________________________ 26 

Appendix B - _______________________________________________________________________ 27 

 

  

Page 51 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 4 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 

Effective Date of this Agreement: April 30, 2020 or upon signature by all parties, 
whichever is later 

Termination Date of this Agreement: April 30, 2025 

SMART: Sonoma Marin Area Rail Transit (“SMART”) 

Present Funding Sources: Statutes of 2018, Ch. 934 S.B. 1029 (McGuire, 2018), 
section 17; Assembly Bill 74 Budget Act 2019-2020 – FY 
2019-20 Item 0521-101-0001.  

 

RECITALS 

1. WHEREAS, Section Seventeen of Senate Bill 1029 (McGuire, 2018) appropriated 
$4,000,000.00 (four million dollars) for the Sonoma Marin Area Rail Transit (“SMART”) to acquire 
freight rights and equipment from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company (“NWP Co.”), 
subject to specified conditions;  

2. WHEREAS, SMART and NWP Co. have negotiated in good faith and come to tentative 
agreement to transfer NWP Co.’s freight rights and assets to SMART; 

3. WHEREAS, the $4,000,000.00 will revert to the Public Transportation Account if CalSTA 
has not transferred the funds to SMART by September 28, 2020;  

2. WHEREAS, Item 0521-101-0001 of the Budget Act 2019-2020 Assembly Bill 74 (Ting, 2019) 
includes $2,000,000.00 (two million dollars) for SMART for safety upgrades and maintenance 
upon acquisition of a freight contract as specified in Chapter 934 of the Statutes of 2018; 

3. WHEREAS, the Surface Transportation Board (“STB”) requires that existing freight 
customers continue to be served after a transfer of freight rights;  

4. NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and the rights, duties and covenants set 
forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree to the following:  

5. This Agreement, entered into effective as of the date set forth above, or upon signature 
by all parties, whichever is later, is between SMART and the STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and 
through the California State Transportation Agency (“CalSTA”) as may be amended from time to 
time. 

Page 52 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 5 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings 
specified herein. 

1.1 “Act” refers to SB 1029 (McGuire, 2018), North Coast Railroad Authority Closure and 
Transition to Trails Act, Chaptered September 29, 2018, which, among other things, appropriated 
$4 million for the acquisition of freight rights and equipment from the Northwestern Pacific 
Railroad Company to ensure efficient provision of goods movement requirements in the context 
of passenger service. 

1.2 “Agreement” shall mean this Baseline Agreement, inclusive of all appendices and Program 
Supplements.  

1.3 “Award Agreement” shall mean a project-specific subcontract to this agreement executed 
following Project award and may include Project specific information, expected outcomes, and 
deliverables. 

1.4 “California Department of Transportation” or “Caltrans” or “Department” means the 
State of California, acting by and through its Department of Transportation of the State of the 
State of California, and any entity succeeding to the powers, authorities and responsibilities of 
the Department invoked by or under this Agreement or the Program Supplements. 

1.5 “California Transportation Commission” or “CTC” shall refer to the commission 
established in 1978 by Assembly Bill 402 (Chapter 1106, Statutes of 1977). 

1.9 “Overall Funding Plan” has the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 2(A)(5)(c). 

1.11 “Program Supplement” shall mean a project-specific amendment to this Agreement that is 
pursuant to the SB 1029 or 2019-2020 Budget Act funding or following any additional 
appropriations or allocations and shall include all Project specific information needed to 
encumber funding and shall include expected outcomes and deliverables. 

1.12 “Program Supplement Last Expenditure Date” refers to the last date for SMART to incur valid 
Project costs or credits.   

1.13 “Program Supplement Termination” shall occur when after SMART’s obligations have 
been fully performed as set forth in Article II, Section 2D and Article III, Section 3(C)(2) or when 
terminated by convenience as set forth in Article III, Section 3(C)(1). 

1.14 “Project” shall mean the project identified in the scope of work of a program supplement 
executed by SMART and State. 

1.15 “Project Closeout Report” shall have the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 3(B). 

1.16 “Project Financial Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 2(A)(5)(d). 

Page 53 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 6 

1.17 “Progress Payment Invoice” shall have the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 3A. 

1.18 “Project Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 2(A)(5)(b). 

1.19 “Scope of Work” has the meaning set forth in Article II, Section 2(A)(5)(a). 

1.20 “Secretary” shall mean the Secretary of the California State Transportation Agency (CalSTA). 
Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to the Secretary includes CalSTA and its 
officers and employees.  

1.21 “State” shall mean the State of California, including its agencies and departments, and their 
officers and directors. 

ARTICLE II –PROJECT AND ADMINISTRATION 

Section 1.  Project and Project Management 

1. The acquisition of freight rights and equipment and projects to support freight and 
passenger rail on the corridor, pursuant to the Act and the Budget Act, are implemented by 
CalSTA in accordance with the legislation.  Under delegation from CalSTA, the Department may 
administer any program supplements in accordance with the best management practices 
identified in the administration of similar Department grant programs.   

2. SMART will cause each specific track project Board Resolution to be attached as part of 
any Program Supplement as a condition precedent to the acceptance of Budget Act or other 
appropriations and allocations (upon availability and allocation), for each such project. 

3. All inquiries during the term of this Agreement and any applicable Program Supplement 
will be directed to the project representatives identified below: 

State’s Project Administrator:  

California State Transportation Agency 

Chad Edison 

Chief Deputy Secretary for Rail and Transit 
Phone: [Enter Phone #] 

Email: [firstname.lastname@  gov] 

SMART’s Project Administrator: 

Agency Name 

Agency Contact Name 

Title 

(XXX) XXX-XXXX 

Contact email 

Section 2.  Program Supplement 

A. General  

1. This Agreement shall have no force and effect with respect to the Project unless and until 
a separate Project specific program supplement hereinafter referred to as “Program 
Supplement,” adopting all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement has been fully executed 

Page 54 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 7 

by both State and SMART.  The effective date of this Agreement shall be upon signature by all 
parties.  

2. SMART agrees to complete the defined scope of work for the Project, described in the 
Program Supplement adopting all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

3. A financial commitment of actual funds will only occur in each detailed and separate 
Program Supplement.  No funds are obligated by the prior execution of this Agreement alone. 

4. SMART further agrees, as a condition to the release and payment of the funds 
encumbered for the scope of work described in each Program Supplement, to comply with all of 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and all the agreed-upon special covenants and 
conditions attached to or made a part of the Program Supplement provided the nature of that 
specific scope of work is identified and defined in the special covenants and conditions. 

5. The Program Supplement shall include a detailed scope of work, which shall include but 
not be limited to, a Project Description, Project deliverables, requirements for each Project 
deliverable, a Project Schedule, an Overall Funding Plan with anticipated expenditures, a Project 
Financial Plan and reporting requirements.   

a. The Scope of Work shall include a detailed description of the Project and will 
itemize the major tasks and their estimated costs, as well as the Project deliverables and the  
requirements for each Project deliverable. 

b. The Project Schedule shall include major tasks and/or milestones and their 
associated beginning and ending dates and duration. 

c. The Overall Funding Plan shall itemize the various Project Components, the 
committed funding program(s) or source(s), and the matching funds to be provided by SMART 
and/or other funding sources, if any [these Components include Environmental and Permits; 
Plans, Specifications and Estimates (PS&E); Right-of-Way (ROW); and Construction (including 
transit vehicle acquisition)] and an anticipated expenditure schedule. 

d. The Project Financial Plan shall identify estimated expenditures for the Project 
Component by funding source, provided that for the purposes of this Agreement the State is only 
monitoring compliance for expenditures of State funds.  

6. Adoption and execution of the Program Supplement by SMART and State, incorporating 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement into the Program Supplement as though fully set 
forth therein, shall be sufficient to bind SMART to these terms and conditions when performing 
the Project and the Program Supplement shall incorporate the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement by reference.  Unless otherwise expressly delegated to a third-party in a resolution 
by SMART’s governing body, which delegation must be expressly assented to and concurred in 
by State, the work performed pursuant to the Program Supplement shall be managed by SMART. 

Page 55 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 8 

7. The estimated cost and scope of the Project will be as described in the applicable Program 
Supplement.  The State shall not participate in any funding for the Project beyond those amounts 
actually encumbered by the State as evidenced in the applicable Program Supplement. 

8. Upon the stated expiration date of this Agreement, any Program Supplement executed 
under this Agreement for the Project with obligations that are not fully completed pursuant to 
the approved Project Schedule shall be deemed to extend the term of this Agreement only to 
conform to the specific Project termination or completion date, including completion of 
deliverables and reporting requirements contemplated by the applicable Program Supplement, 
in order to allow that uncompleted Project to be administered under the extended terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. No new program supplements may be authorized during an 
extended term. 

B. Project Overrun 

1. If SMART or the State determine, at any time during the performance of the Project, that 
the Project budget may be exceeded, SMART shall take the following steps: 

a. Notify the designated State representative of the nature and projected extent of 
the overrun and, within a reasonable period thereafter, identify and quantify potential cost 
savings or other measures which SMART will institute to bring the Project Budget into balance; 
and 

b. Identify the source of additional SMART or other third-party funds that can be 
made available to complete Project.  SMART agrees that the allocation of additional funds is 
subject to appropriation and allocation; and SMART understands and agrees that CalSTA cannot 
guarantee additional funding.  

C. Cost Savings and Project Completion 

1. SMART is encouraged to evaluate design and construction alternatives that would 
mitigate the costs of delivering the commitments for the Project. SMART shall take all 
commercially reasonable steps that are necessary in accordance with best management practices 
in order to rehabilitate segments of the alignment for freight and passenger rail operations.  In 
determining cost savings, the Parties shall take into account all avoided costs, including avoided 
design, material, equipment, labor, construction, testing, acceptance and overhead costs, and 
avoided costs due to time savings, and all the savings in financing costs associated with such 
avoided costs.  

2. If there is an identification and implementation of any CalSTA-approved alternative 
resulting in reduction of the Project costs, the parties agree that SMART shall provide a prorated 
share of Project or Project component cost savings based on the overall project match to the 
State no later than 30 days after the submission of the final invoice.  Subject to CalSTA’s written 
approval, savings may be used towards another project component or towards increasing project 

Page 56 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 9 

benefits that are consistent with the original project purpose while maintaining the overall 
project match, if any, referenced in the project award and program supplements. 

3. Program supplements will indicate the Project or Component proration of funding match, 
if any. 

4. SMART agrees to complete the Project and accepts sole responsibility for the payment of 
any cost increases.  

D.  Scope of Work 

1. SMART shall be responsible for complete performance of the work described in the 
approved Program Supplement for the Project related to the commitment of encumbered funds.  
All work shall be accomplished in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act, the Public 
Utilities Code, the Government Code, annual Budget Acts and other applicable statutes and 
regulations.  

2. SMART acknowledges and agrees that SMART is the sole controlling entity and manager 
of the Project, and it is solely responsible for the Project’s subsequent employment, operation, 
repair and maintenance for the benefit of the public and for passenger and freight goods 
movement.  SMART shall be solely responsible for complying with the funding and use 
restrictions established by (a) the Act, the Budget Act or subsequent legislation, (b) the State 
Treasurer, (c) the Internal Revenue Service, (d) the applicable Program Supplement and (e) this 
Agreement. 

3. SMART acknowledges and agrees that SMART is responsible for complying with all 
reporting requirements established by the Act and Budget Act according to the Program 
Supplements. 

E.  Program Supplement Amendments 

Program Supplement amendments will be required whenever there are CalSTA actions, including 
but not limited to, Financial Allocations, Financial Allocation Amendments, Time Extensions and 
Technical Corrections.  These changes shall be mutually binding upon the Parties only following 
the execution of a Program Supplement amendment. 

Section 3.  Allowable Costs and Payments 

A. Allowable Costs and Progress Payment Invoice 

1. Not more frequently than once a month, SMART will prepare and submit to State a signed 
Progress Payment Invoice for actual Project costs incurred and paid for by SMART consistent with 
the allocation and Scope of Work document in the Program Supplement and State shall pay those 
uncontested allowable costs.  If no costs were incurred during any given quarter, SMART is 
exempt from submitting a signed Progress Payment Invoice. 

Page 57 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 10 

2. State shall not be required to reimburse more funds, cumulatively, per quarter of any 
fiscal year greater than the sums identified and included in the Project Financial Plan.  The State 
shall hold the right to determine reimbursement availability based on an approved expenditure 
plan and actual funding capacity. Each such invoice will report the total of Project expenditures 
(including those of SMART and third parties) and will specify the percent of State reimbursement 
requested  

B. Final Invoice 

The Program Supplement Last Expenditure Dates(s) refer to the last date that SMART can incur 
valid Project costs or credits.  SMART has one hundred and eighty (180) days after that Last 
Expenditure Date to make already incurred final allowable payments to Project contractors or 
vendors, prepare the Project Closeout Report, and submit the final invoice to State for 
reimbursement of allowable Project costs before those remaining State funds are unencumbered 
and those funds are reverted as no longer available to pay any Project costs.  SMART expressly 
waives and releases any and all rights to allowable reimbursements from State pursuant to this 
Agreement for costs incurred after that termination date and for costs invoiced to SMART for 
payment after that one hundred and eightieth (180th) day following the Project Last Expenditure 
Date. 

ARTICLE III – GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 1. Funding 

1. SMART agrees to contribute at least the statutorily required or other required local 
contribution of matching funds (other than State or federal funds), if any is specified within the 
Program Supplement or any appendices thereto, toward the actual cost of the Project or the 
amount specified, if any, whichever is greater.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, SMART shall 
contribute not less than its required match amount toward the Project cost in accordance with a 
schedule of payments as shown in the Project Financial Plan prepared by SMART and approved 
by State as part of a Program Supplement. 

Section 2.  Audits and Reports 

A. Cost Principles 

1. SMART agrees to comply with Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations 200 (2 CFR 200) Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles for State and Local Government, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards. 

2. SMART agrees, and will assure that, its contractors and subcontractors will be obligated 
to agree to follow 2 CFR 200 and it shall be used to determine the allowability of individual Project 
cost items. Every sub-recipient receiving Project funds as a contractor or sub-contractor under 
this Agreement shall comply with 2 CFR 200.  

Page 58 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 11 

3. Any Project costs for which SMART has received payment or credit that are determined 
by subsequent audit to be unallowable under 2 CFR 200, are subject to repayment by SMART to 
State.  Should SMART fail to reimburse moneys due State within thirty (30) days of demand, or 
within such other period as may be agreed in writing between the Parties hereto, State is 
authorized to intercept and withhold future payments due SMART from State or any third-party 
source whose funding passes through the State, including but not limited to, the State Treasurer, 
the State Controller and the CTC. 

4. The State may terminate a grant for any reason at any time if it is determined by the State, 
based on an audit under this section, that there has been a violation of any State or federal law 
or policy by SMART during performance under this or any other grant agreement or contract 
entered into with the State.  If the grant is terminated under this section, SMART may be required 
to fully or partially repay funds.  

B. Record Retention 

1. SMART agrees, and will assure that, its contractors and subcontractors shall establish and 
maintain an accounting system and records that properly accumulate and segregate incurred 
Project costs and matching funds by line item for the Project.  The accounting system of SMART, 
its contractors and all subcontractors shall conform to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP), enable the determination of incurred costs at interim points of completion, and provide 
support for reimbursement payment vouchers or invoices.  All accounting records and other 
supporting papers of SMART, its contractors and subcontractors connected with Project 
performance under this Agreement and each Program Supplement shall be maintained for a 
minimum of three (3) years from the date of final payment to SMART under a Program 
Supplement and shall be held open to inspection, copying, and audit by representatives of State, 
the California State Auditor, and auditors representing the federal government.  Copies thereof 
will be furnished by SMART, its contractors, and subcontractors upon receipt of any request made 
by State or its agents.  In conducting an audit of the costs and match credits claimed under this 
Agreement, State will rely to the maximum extent possible on any prior audit of SMART pursuant 
to the provisions of federal and State law.  In the absence of such an audit, any acceptable audit 
work performed by SMART’s external and internal auditors may be relied upon and used by State 
when planning and conducting additional audits. 

2. For the purpose of determining compliance with Title 21, California Code of Regulations, 
Section 2500 et seq., when applicable, and other matters connected with the performance of 
SMART’s contracts with third parties pursuant to Government Code section 8546.7, SMART, 
SMART’s contractors and subcontractors, and State, shall each maintain and make available for 
inspection all books, documents, papers, accounting records, and other evidence pertaining to 
the performance of such contracts, including, but not limited to, the costs of administering those 
various contracts. All of the above referenced parties shall make such Agreement and Program 
Supplement materials available at their respective offices at all reasonable times during the 
entire Project period and for three (3) years from the date of final payment to SMART under any 
Program Supplement. State, the California State Auditor, or any duly authorized representative 

Page 59 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 12 

of State or the United States Department of Transportation, shall each have access to any books, 
records, and documents that are pertinent to the Project for audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transactions, and SMART shall furnish copies thereof if requested. 

3. SMART, its contractors and subcontractors will permit access to all records of 
employment, employment advertisements, employment application forms, and other pertinent 
data and records by the State Fair Employment Practices and Housing Commission, or any other 
agency of the State of California designated by State, for the purpose of any investigation to 
ascertain compliance with this Agreement and the Act.  

C. Reporting Requirements 

1. Reporting requirements of SMART will include whether reported implementation 
activities are within the scope of the Project Program Supplement and in compliance with State 
laws, regulations, and administrative requirements. 

2. Progress Reporting shall be no more frequently than monthly and no less frequently than 
semi-annually at the discretion of the State and shall generally include the following information: 

a. Activities and progress made towards implementation of the project during the 
reporting period and activities anticipated to take place in the next reporting period; 

b. Identification of whether the Project is proceeding on schedule and within budget; 

c. Identification of whether the Project Deliverables are proceeding on schedule. 

d. Identification of changes to the Project funding plan, milestone schedule, or 
deliverables completion date; and 

e. Any actual or anticipated problems which could lead to delays in schedule, 
increased costs or other difficulties for either the Project or other State funded projects impacted 
by the Projects scope of work and the efforts or activities being undertaken to minimize impacts 
to schedule, cost, or deliverables; 

3. Within one year of the Project or reportable Project components becoming operable, the 
implementing agency must provide a final delivery report including at a minimum: 

a. Scope of completed Project as compared to Programmed Project; 

b. Performance outcomes derived from the project shall include but not be limited 
to before and after measurements and estimates for ridership, service levels, benefits to 
disadvantaged communities, low income communities, and/or low income households, and 
project co-benefits as well as an explanation of the methodology used to quantify the benefits. 

c. Before and after photos documenting the project 

Page 60 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 13 

d. The final costs as compared to the approved project budget by component and 
fund type, and 

e. The project duration as compared to the project schedule in the project 
application. 

Section 3.  Special Requirements 

A. California Transportation Commission Resolutions 

1. SMART shall adhere to applicable CTC policies on “Timely Use of Funds” and/or successor 
resolutions in place at the time a Program Supplement is executed. 

2. SMART shall be bound to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and CTC Resolutions 
in place at the time the Program Supplement is signed (as applicable) and all restrictions, rights, 
duties and obligations established therein on behalf of State and CTC shall accrue to the benefit 
of the CalSTA and shall thereafter be subject to any necessary enforcement action by CalSTA or 
State.  All terms and conditions stated in the aforesaid CTC Resolutions in place at the time the 
Program Supplement is signed (if applicable) shall also be considered to be binding provisions of 
this Agreement. 

3. SMART shall conform to any and all permit and mitigation duties associated with Project 
as well as all environmental obligations established by law or regulation at the time a Program 
Supplement is signed, as applicable, at the expense of SMART and/or the responsible party and 
without any further financial contributions or obligations on the part of State unless a separate 
Program Supplement expressly provides funding for the specific purpose of hazardous materials 
remediation. 

B. SMART Resolution 

1. SMART has executed this Agreement pursuant to the authorizing SMART resolution, 
attached as Appendix B to this Agreement, which empowers SMART to enter into this Agreement 
and which may also empower SMART to enter into all subsequent Program Supplements 
adopting the provisions of this Agreement. 

2. If SMART or State determines that a separate Resolution is needed for each Program 
Supplement, SMART will provide information as to who the authorized designee is to act on 
behalf of SMART to bind SMART with regard to the terms and conditions of any said Program 
Supplement or amendment and will provide a copy of that additional Resolution to State with 
the Program Supplement or any amendment to that document. 

C. Termination  

1. Termination Convenience by State 

Page 61 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 14 

a. CalSTA reserves the right to terminate funding for any Program Supplement, upon 
written notice to SMART in the event that SMART fails to proceed with Project work in 
accordance with the Program Supplement, or otherwise violates the conditions of this 
Agreement and/or the Program Supplement or the funding allocation such that substantial 
performance is significantly endangered. 

b. No such termination shall become effective if, within thirty (30) days after receipt 
of a notice of termination, SMART either cures the default involved or, if not reasonably 
susceptible of cure within said thirty (30)-day period, SMART proceeds thereafter to complete 
the cure in a manner and time line acceptable to CalSTA set in advance and in writing by CalSTA. 
Any such termination shall be accomplished by delivery to SMART of a notice of termination, 
which notice shall become effective not less than thirty (30) days after receipt, specifying the 
reason for the termination, the extent to which funding of work under this Agreement is 
terminated and the date upon which such termination becomes effective, if beyond thirty (30) 
days after receipt.  During the period before the effective termination date, SMART and State 
shall meet to attempt to resolve any dispute. 

c. Following a fund encumbrance made pursuant to a Program Supplement, if 
SMART fails to expend monies within the time allowed specified in the Program Supplement, 
those funds shall revert, and be deemed withdrawn and will no longer be available to reimburse 
Project work unless those funds are specifically made available beyond the end of that Fiscal Year 
through re-appropriation or other equivalent action of the Legislature and written notice of that 
action is provided to SMART by State. 

d. In the event CalSTA terminates a Program Supplement for convenience and not 
for a default on the part of SMART as is contemplated in this section, SMART shall be reimbursed 
its authorized costs up to State’s proportionate and maximum share of allowable Project costs 
incurred to the date of SMART’s receipt of that notice of termination, including any unavoidable 
costs reasonably and necessarily incurred up to and following that termination date by SMART 
to effect such termination following receipt of that termination notice. 

2.  Termination After SMART’s Obligations Fully Performed 

Following project completion, and all obligations as defined in the Program Supplement are fully 
performed, including Project completion of all deliverables and reporting, the Program 
Supplement shall be terminated.  If the Project obligations are not fully performed, as defined 
under this section, SMART may be required to fully or partially repay funds. 

D. Third Party Contracting 

1. SMART shall not award a construction contract over $10,000 or other contracts over 
$25,000 [excluding professional service contracts of the type which are required to be procured 
in accordance with Government Code Sections 4525 (d), (e) and (f)] on the basis of a non-
competitive negotiation for work to be performed under this Agreement without the prior 

Page 62 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 15 

written approval of State.  Contracts awarded by SMART, if intended as local match credit, must 
meet the requirements set forth in this Agreement regarding local match funds. 

2. Any subcontract entered into by SMART as a result of this Agreement shall contain the 
provisions of ARTICLE III – GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section 2. Audits and Reports and shall 
mandate that travel and per diem reimbursements and third-party contract reimbursements to 
subcontractors will be allowable as Project costs only after those costs are incurred and paid for 
by the subcontractors. 

3. In addition to the above, the pre-award requirements of third party 
contractor/consultants with local transit agencies should be consistent with Local Program 
Procedures (LPP-00-05). 

4. SMART agrees to pay and to require its contractors to pay employees in accordance with 
federal and state labor laws. 

E. Change in Funds and Terms/Amendments 

This Agreement and the resultant Program Supplements may be modified, altered, or revised 
only by a written amendment that is executed by all of the parties in accordance with Article IV, 
section 1.D. 

F. Project Ownership 

1. Unless expressly provided to the contrary in a Program Supplement, subject to the terms 
and provisions of this Agreement, SMART, or a designated subrecipient acceptable to State, as 
applicable, shall be the sole owner of all improvements and property included in the Project 
constructed, installed or acquired by SMART or subrecipient with funding provided to SMART 
under this Agreement.  SMART, or subrecipient, as applicable, is obligated to continue operation 
and maintenance of the physical aspects of the Project dedicated to the public transportation 
purposes for which Project was initially approved unless SMART, or subrecipient, as applicable, 
ceases ownership of such Project property; ceases to utilize the Project property for the intended 
public transportation purposes; or sells or transfers title to or control over Project and State is 
refunded the Credits due State as provided in paragraph (2) herein below. 

2. Project right-of-way, Project facilities constructed or reconstructed on the Project site 
and/or Project property (including vehicles and rolling stock) purchased by SMART (excluding 
temporary construction easements and excess property whose proportionate resale proceeds 
are distributed pursuant to this Agreement) shall remain permanently dedicated to the described 
public transit and freight uses in the same proportion and scope, and to the same extent as 
mandated in the Program Supplement, unless State agrees otherwise in writing.  Vehicles 
acquired as part of Project, including, but not limited to, buses, vans, rail equipment, shall be 
dedicated to that rail transportation use for their full economic life cycle, which, for the purpose 
of this Agreement, will be determined in accordance with standard national transit practices and 
applicable rules and guidelines, including any extensions of that life cycle achievable by 

Page 63 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 16 

reconstruction, rehabilitation or enhancements.  The exceptions to this section are outlined 
below:  

a. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 3, State, or any other State-assignee 
public body acting on behalf of CalSTA, shall be entitled to a refund or credit (collectively the 
Credit), at State’s sole option, equivalent to the proportionate Project funding participation 
received by SMART from State if SMART, or a sub-recipient, as applicable, (i) ceases to utilize 
Project for the original intended transportation purposes or (ii) sells or transfers title to or control 
over Project.  If federal funds (meaning only those federal funds received directly by SMART and 
not federal funds derived through or from the State) have contributed to the Project, SMART 
shall notify both State and the original federal source of those funds of the disposition of the 
Project assets or the intended use of those sale or transfer receipts. 

b. State shall also be entitled to an acquisition credit for any future purchase or 
condemnation of all or portions of Project by State or a designated representative or agent of 
State. 

c. The Credit due State will be determined by the ratio of State’s funding when 
measured against the SMART’s funding participation (the Ratio).  For purposes of this Section 4, 
the State’s funding participation includes federal funds derived through or from State.  That Ratio 
is to be applied to the then present fair market value of Project property acquired or constructed 
as provided in (d) and (e) below. 

d. For Rail vehicles, rolling stock or other freight equipment this Credit [to be 
deducted from the then remaining equipment value] shall be equivalent to the percentage of the 
full extendable vehicle economic life cycle remaining, multiplied by the Ratio of funds provided 
for that equipment acquisition.  For real property, this same funding Ratio shall be applied to the 
then present fair market value, as determined by State, of the Project property acquired or 
improved under this Agreement. 

e. The Credit due State as a refund shall not be required if SMART dedicates the 
proceeds of such sale or transfer exclusively to a new or replacement State approved public 
transit or freight rail purpose, which replacement facility or vehicles will then also be subject to 
the identical use restrictions for that new public purpose and the Credit ratio due State should 
that replacement project or those replacement vehicles cease to be used for that intended 
described pre-approved public transit purpose. 

i. In determining the present fair market value of property for purposes of 
calculating State’s Credit under this Agreement, any real property portions of the Project site 
contributed by SMART shall not be included.  In determining State’s proportionate funding 
participation, State’s contributions to third parties (other than SMART) shall be included if those 
contributions are incorporated into the Project. 

ii. Once State has received the Credit as provided for above because SMART, 
or a sub-recipient, as applicable, has (a) ceased to utilize the Project for the described intended 

Page 64 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 17 

transportation purpose(s) for which State funding was provided and State has not consented to 
that cessation of services or (b) sold or transferred title to or control over Project to another party 
(absent State approval for the continued transit operation of the Project by that successor party 
under an assignment of SMART’s duties and obligations), neither SMART, subrecipient, nor any 
party to whom SMART or subrecipient, as applicable, has transferred said title or control shall 
have any further obligation under this Agreement to continue operation of Project and/or Project 
facilities for those described public transportation purposes, but may then use Project and/or 
any of its facilities for any lawful purpose. 

iii. To the extent that SMART operates and maintains Intermodal Transfer 
Stations as any integral part of Project, SMART shall maintain each station and all its 
appurtenances, including, but not limited to, restroom facilities, in good condition and repair in 
accordance with high standards of cleanliness (Public Utilities Code section 99317.8).  Upon 
request of State, SMART shall also authorize State-funded bus services to use those stations and 
appurtenances without any charge to State or the bus operator.  This permitted use will include 
the placement of signs and informational material designed to alert the public to the availability 
of the State-funded bus service (for the purpose of this paragraph, "State-funded bus service" 
means any bus service funded pursuant to Public Utilities Code section 99316). 

G. Disputes 

Parties shall develop a mutually agreed upon issue resolution process, as described below, and 
issues between the Parties are to be resolved in a timely manner. The Parties agree to the 
following: 

1. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on any particular issue relating to either 
Parties’ obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the Parties agree to promptly follow the issue 
resolution process as outlined below: 

a. CalSTA’s project manager and the SMART’s equivalent may initiate the process of 
informal dispute resolution by providing the other Party with written notice of a dispute.  The 
written notice shall provide a clear statement of the dispute, and shall refer to the specific 
provisions of this Agreement or Program Supplement that pertain to the dispute.  CalSTA’s 
project manager and the SMART’s equivalent shall meet and attempt to resolve the dispute 
within five days from the written notice.  If the dispute is resolved, the Parties shall create and 
sign a short description of the facts and the resolution that was agreed upon by the Parties.  

b. If the dispute is not resolved by the fifth day from the written notice, CalSTA’s chief 
deputy for rail and transit and the SMART’s equivalent shall meet and review the dispute within 
five days.  CalSTA’s deputy and the SMART’s equivalent manager shall attempt to resolve the 
dispute within ten days of their initial meeting.  If the dispute is resolved, the Parties shall create 
and sign a short description of the facts and the resolution that was agreed upon by the Parties. 

c. If the dispute is not resolved by the tenth day, CalSTA’s Secretary or  designee and 
the SMART’s equivalent manager shall meet and review the dispute within five days.  CalSTA’s 

Page 65 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 18 

Secretary or designee and the SMART’s equivalent manager shall attempt to resolve the dispute 
within ten days of the initial meeting.  If the dispute is resolved, the Parties shall create and sign a 
short description of the facts and the resolution that was agreed upon by the Parties.   

H. Hold Harmless and Indemnification 

1. Neither State nor any officer or employee thereof shall be responsible for any damage or 
liability occurring by reason of anything done or omitted to be done by SMART, its agents and 
contractors under or in connection with any work, authority, or jurisdiction delegated to SMART 
under this Agreement or any Program Supplement or as respects environmental clean-up 
obligations or duties of SMART relative to Project.  It is also understood and agreed that, SMART 
shall fully defend, indemnify and the State and their officers and employees harmless from any 
liability imposed for injury and damages or environmental obligations or duties arising or created 
by reason of anything done or imposed by operation of law or assumed by, or omitted to be done 
by SMART under or in connection with any work, authority, or jurisdiction delegated to SMART 
under this Agreement and all Program Supplements. 

2. SMART shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless State, the CTC and the State Treasurer 
relative to any misuse by SMART of State funds, Project property, Project generated income or 
other fiscal acts or omissions of SMART. 

I. Labor Code Compliance 

SMART shall include in all subcontracts awarded using Project funds, when applicable, a clause 
that requires each subcontractor to comply with California Labor Code requirements that all 
workers employed on public works aspects of any project (as defined in California Labor Code §§ 
1720-1815) be paid not less than the general prevailing wage rates predetermined by the 
Department of Industrial Relations as effective the date of Contract award by the SMART. 

J. Non-Discrimination Clause 

1. In the performance of work under this Agreement, SMART, its contractor(s) and all 
subcontractors, shall not unlawfully discriminate, harass or allow harassment against any 
employee or applicant for employment because of sex, race, color, ancestry, religious creed, 
national origin, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, age, marital status, family 
and medical care leave, pregnancy leave, and disability leave.  SMART, its contractor(s) and all 
subcontractors shall ensure that the evaluation and treatment of their employees and applicants 
for employment are free from such discrimination and harassment.  SMART, its contractor(s) and 
all subcontractors shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(Government Code section 12900 et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated 
thereunder (California Code of Regulations, Title 2, section 7285 et seq.).  The applicable 
regulations of the Fair Employment and Housing Commission implementing Government Code 
section 12990 (a-f), set forth in Chapter 5 of Division 4 of Title 2 of the California Code of 
Regulations, are incorporated into this Agreement by reference and made a part hereof as if set 
forth in full.  Each of SMART’s contractors and all subcontractors shall give written notice of their 

Page 66 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 19 

obligations under this clause to labor organizations with which they have a collective bargaining 
or other agreements, as appropriate. 

2. Each of the SMART’s contractors, subcontractors, and/or subrecipients shall give written 
notice of their obligations under this clause to labor organizations with which they have collective 
bargaining or other labor agreements. The SMART shall include the non-discrimination and 
compliance provisions hereof in all contracts and subcontracts to perform work under this 
Agreement. 

3. Should federal funds be constituted as part of Project funding or compensation received 
by SMART under a separate Contract during the performance of this Agreement, SMART shall 
comply with this Agreement and with all federal mandated contract provisions as set forth in that 
applicable federal funding agreement. 

4. SMART shall include the non-discrimination and compliance provisions of this clause in all 
contracts and subcontracts to perform work under this Agreement. 

5. The SMART shall comply with the nondiscrimination program requirements of Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  Accordingly, 49 CFR 21 (Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 
Programs of The Department Of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of The Civil Rights Act of 
1964) and 23 CFR Part 200 (Title VI Program and Related Statutes—Implementation and Review 
Procedures) are made applicable to this Agreement by this reference.  Wherever the term 
“Contractor” appears therein, it shall mean the SMART. 

6. The SMART shall permit, and shall require that its contractors, subcontractors, and 
subrecipients will permit, access to all records of employment, employment advertisements, 
application forms, and other pertinent data and records by the State Fair Employment Practices 
and Housing Commission or any other agency of the State of California designated by 
Department to investigate compliance with this Section J. 

K. State Fire Marshal Building Standards Code 

The State Fire Marshal adopts building standards for fire safety and panic prevention. Such 
regulations pertain to fire protection design and construction, means of egress and adequacy of 
exits, installation of fire alarms, and fire extinguishment systems for any State-owned or State-
occupied buildings per section 13108 of the Health and Safety Code. When applicable, SMART 
shall request that the State Fire Marshal review Project PS&E to ensure Project consistency with 
State fire protection standards. 

L. Americans with Disabilities Act 

By signing this Master Agreement, SMART assures State that SMART shall comply with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of 
disability, as well as all applicable regulations and guidelines issued pursuant to the ADA (42 
U.S.C. 12101 et seq.). 

Page 67 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 20 

M. Access for Persons with Disabilities 

Disabled access review by the Department of General Services (Division of the State Architect) is 
required for all publicly funded construction of buildings, structures, sidewalks, curbs and related 
facilities.  SMART will award no construction contract unless SMART’s plans and specifications for 
such facilities conform to the provisions of sections 4450 and 4454 of the California Government 
Code, if applicable.  Further requirements and guidance are provided in Title 24 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 

N. Disabled Veterans Program Requirements 

1. Should Military and Veterans Code sections 999 et seq. be applicable to SMART, SMART 
will meet, or make good faith efforts to meet, the 3% Disabled Veterans Business Enterprises 
goals (or SMART’s applicable higher goals) in the award of every contract for Project work to be 
performed under these this Agreement. 

2. SMART shall have the sole duty and authority under this Agreement and each Program 
Supplement to determine whether these referenced code sections are applicable to SMART and, 
if so, whether good faith efforts asserted by those contractors of SMART were sufficient as 
outlined in Military and Veterans Code sections 999 et seq. 

O. Environmental Process 

Completion of the Project environmental process (“clearance”) by SMART (and/or State if it 
affects a State facility within the meaning of the applicable statutes) is required prior to 
requesting Project funds for right-of-way purchase or construction.  No State agency may request 
funds nor shall any State agency, board or commission authorize expenditures of funds for any 
Project effort, except for feasibility or planning studies, which may have a significant effect on 
the environment unless such a request is accompanied with all appropriate documentation of 
compliance with or exemption from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (including, 
if as appropriate, an environmental impact report, negative declaration, or notice of exemption) 
under California Public Resources Code section 21080(b) (10), (11), and (12) provides an 
exemption for a passenger rail project that institutes or increases passenger or commuter 
services on rail or highway rights-of-way already in use. 

P. Force Majeure 

Each party will be excused from performance of its obligations where such non-performance is 
caused by any event beyond its reasonable control, such as any non-appealable order, rule or 
regulation of any federal or state governmental body, fire, flood, earthquake, storm, hurricane 
or other natural disaster, epidemic, pandemic, war, invasion, act of foreign enemies, hostilities 
(regardless of whether war is declared), civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection, military or 
usurped power or confiscation, terrorist activities, nationalization, government sanction, 
blockage, embargo, labor dispute, strike, lockout or interruption, provided that the party excused 

Page 68 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 21 

hereunder shall use all reasonable efforts to minimize its non-performance and to overcome, 
remedy or remove such event in the shortest practical time.  

Should a force majeure event occur which renders it impossible for a period of forty-five (45) or 
more consecutive days for either party to perform its obligations hereunder, the Parties agree to 
negotiate in good faith to amend the existing  Master Agreement or Supplemental Agreement to 
deal with such event and to seek additional sources of funding to continue the delivery of the 
project and/or operation of the Service. 

ARTICLE IV – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 1.  Miscellaneous Provisions 

A. Successor Acts  

All statutes cited herein shall be deemed to include amendments to and successor statutes to 
the cited statues as they presently exist.  

B. Successor and Assigns to the Parties 

Neither this Agreement nor any right, duty or obligation hereunder may be assigned, transferred, 
hypothecated or pledged by any party without the express written consent of the other party; 
provided, that unless otherwise expressly required herein, a party shall not be obligated to obtain 
the written consent of the other party with respect to any contract related to the Service for the 
provision of goods and/or services to the contracting party in the ordinary course of business.  

C. Notice 

Any notice which may be required under this Agreement shall be in writing, shall be effective 
when received, and shall be given by personal service, or by certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested, to the addresses set forth below, or to such other addresses as may be 
specified in writing and given to the other party in accordance herewith. 

If given to CalSTA:  

California State Transportation Agency  

915 Capitol Mall, Suite 350B 

Sacramento, CA 95814 

Attention: Chief Deputy Secretary for Rail and Transit 

 

with a copy to:  

California Department of Transportation 

Division of Rail and Mass Transportation 

Page 69 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 22 

P.O. Box _____ 

Sacramento, CA 95812- 

Attention: Division Chief for Rail and Mass Transportation 

If given to the SMART: 

Agency Name 

Address. 

City, XXXXX-XXXX 

Attention: Contact Name 

D. Amendment   

This Agreement may not be changed, modified, or amended except in writing, signed by the 
parties hereto, and approved in advance in writing by the Secretary, and any attempt at oral 
modification of this Agreement shall be void and of no effect. 

E. Representation and Warranties of the Parties 

1. SMART hereby represents and warrants to the Department that: 

a. SMART is in good standing under applicable law, with all requisite power and 
authority to carry on the activities for which it has been organized and proposed to be conducted 
pursuant to this Agreement.  

b. SMART has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this 
Agreement by such entity, the performance by it of its obligations thereunder and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby have been duly authorized by the 
governing board of such entity and no other proceedings are necessary to authorize this 
Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby. The Agreements have 
been duly and validly executed and delivered by such entity and constitute valid and binding 
obligations of such entity, enforceable against it in accordance with their terms, except to the 
extent that such enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium or other laws now or hereinafter in effect relating to the creditor’s rights and the 
remedy of specific enforcement and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief, and may be 
subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding 
therefore may be brought.  

c. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its 
obligations thereunder nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby will (i) 
conflict with or result in a breach of any provision of any agreement to which SMART is a party; 
(ii) violate any write, order, judgment, injunction, decrees, statute, rule or regulation of any court 
or governmental authority applicable to such entity or its property or assets. 

Page 70 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 23 

2. CalSTA does hereby represent and warrant with respect to each of this Agreement to 
SMART that:  

a. It validly exists with all requisite power and authority to carry on the activities 
proposed to be conducted pursuant to this Agreement.  

b. It has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement 
and to carry out its obligations thereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the 
performance by it of its obligations thereunder and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated thereby have been duly authorized and no other proceedings are necessary to 
authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby. The 
agreements have been duly and validly executed and delivered by it and constitute valid and 
binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with their terms, except to the extent 
that such enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium 
or other laws now or hereinafter in effect relating to creditor’s rights and other forms of equitable 
relief, and may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which 
any proceeding therefore may be brought.  

c. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its 
obligations thereunder nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby will (i) 
conflict with or result in a breach of any provision of any agreement to which SMART is a party; 
(ii) violate any writ, order, judgment, injunction, decree, statute, rule or regulation of any court 
or governmental authority applicable to such entity or its property or assets.  

F. Construction, Number, Gender and Captions  

The Agreements have been executed in the State of California and shall be construed according 
to the law of said State. Numbers and gender as used therein shall be construed to include that 
number and/or gender which is appropriate in the context of the text in which either is included. 
Captions are included therein for the purposes of ease of reading and identification. Neither 
gender, number nor captions used therein shall be construed to alter the plain meaning of the 
text in which any or all of them appear.  

G. Complete Agreement   

This Agreement, including Appendices, constitutes the full and complete agreement of the 
parties, superseding and incorporating all prior oral and written agreements relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement.   All attached Appendices A and B are hereby incorporated and 
made an integral part of this Agreement by this reference.  

H. Partial Invalidity  

If any part of this Agreement is determined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 
determination shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of any other part of this 

Page 71 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 24 

Agreement and the remaining parts of this Agreement shall be enforced as if such invalid, illegal 
or unenforceable part were not contained herein.  

I. Conflicts   

To the extent that any provision of or requirement of this Agreement may conflict with a 
provision or requirement of any other agreement between the parties hereto, or between a party 
hereto and any other party, which is attached to this Agreement as an appendix, the following 
priority of agreements shall be employed to resolve such conflict. In the event of a conflict, the 
Master Agreement controls the Program Supplement and any further Amendments. 

J. Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and may include multiple 
signature pages, all of which shall be deemed to be one instrument. Copies of this Agreement 
may be used in lieu of the original.  

K. Governing Law 

The Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
California. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement by their duly authorized 
officers. 

 

[SIGNATURES TO FOLLOW] 

  

Page 72 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 25 

 

 
CALIFORNIA STATE  Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit  
TRANSPORTATION AGENCY                       
 
 
BY:  BY:  

 DAVID S. KIM 
Secretary 

 Farhad Mansourian 
General Manager 

 
DATE: 

  
DATE: 

 

                                                           
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND PROCEDURE 
 
 
CALIFORNIA STATE TRANSPORTATION AGENCY 
 
BY:    

  Attorney   

 
DATE: 

   

 

Page 73 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 26 

APPENDIX A 
[DEPARTMENT DELEGATION] 

 
 
 
  

Page 74 of 111



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 

Baseline Agreement No.  

Program Supplement No.  

April 7, 2020   Page 27 

APPENDIX B 
RECIPIENT’S RESOLUTION  

(INSERT AGENCY BOARD RESOLUTION) 
 
 
 

 

Page 75 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 1 of 20 
 

ASSET TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

This Asset Transfer Agreement (the “Agreement”), entered into and effective this __ day of _________, 

2019 (the “Effective Date”), is made and entered into by and between Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 

District, a public transit district established under California law (“SMART”), and the Northwestern 

Pacific Railroad Company (“NWPCO”), a  California Corporation established under California law).  

SMART and NWPCO are sometimes herein referred to individually as a “Party” and collectively as the 

“Parties” to this Agreement. 

 WHEREAS, Senate Bill No. 1029 enacted into law on August 24, 2018, appropriates the sum of 

four million dollars to the State Transportation Agency to be allocated to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail 

Transit District under certain conditions for the acquisition of freight rights and equipment from 

NWPCO; 

 WHEREAS, SMART is authorized to acquire such freight rights and related equipment from 

NWPCO in order to carry out the purposes of Senate Bill No. 1029; 

 WHEREAS, in order to effectuate the intent of Senate Bill No. 1029, NWPCO and SMART hereby 

agree to enter in a baseline agreement for the transfer and conveyance of NWPCO’s freight rights and 

equipment to SMART pursuant to the terms and conditions necessary to receive approval from the State 

Secretary of Transportation and Director of Finance; 

 WHEREAS, the transfer and conveyance of NWPCO’s freight interest, rights and equipment is 

not considered to be a Project subject to environmental review; 

 WHEREAS, in order to effectuate the intent of Senate Bill No. 1029, NWPCO shall consummate 

an Agreement with the North Coast Rail Authority, (“NCRA”) to discontinue NWPCO operations South of 

milepost 89.0 (Sonoma/Mendocino County line) and to assign, transfer and convey its freight rights and 

equipment related thereto to SMART; 

 WHEREAS, in order to effectuate the intent of Senate Bill No. 1029, the NCRA-SMART 2011 

Operating and Coordination Agreement dated June 20th, 2011, and as thereafter amended dated 

December 13, 2017, shall continue to be in full force and effect for operations north of milepost 89.0 

only.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants and agreements 

herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are 

hereby acknowledged, the parties intending to be legally bound hereby agree as follows: 

I. DEFINITIONS 

 1.1 Defined Terms.  As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in 

this Section 1. 1 (such definitions to be equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of the term 

defined) as follows: 

Page 76 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 2 of 20 
 

 “Acquired Assets” - Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b) hereof. 

 “Action” – Shall mean any suit, claim, action, arbitration, audit or proceeding before any court, 

tribunal, arbitral body or other Governmental Entity. 

 “Administration and Proration Agreement” - Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 

hereof. 

 “Agreement” – Shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto. 

 “Ancillary Agreements” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1 hereof. 

 “Assignment and Assumption Agreement” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(iv) 

hereof. 

 “Assumed Liabilities” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3 hereof. 

 “Bill of Sale” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(iii) hereof. 

 “Closing” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1 hereof. 

 “Closing Date” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1 hereof. 

 “Contracts” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(iv) hereof. 

 “Environmental Claim” - Shall mean any claim, action, demand, or notice by or on behalf of any 
Governmental Entity, person or entity alleging potential liability under, or a violation of, any 
Environmental Law.  
 

“Environmental Laws” - Shall mean federal, state or local laws or any applicable regulation, rule, 
order or decree relating to pollution or protection of the environment, including but not limited to laws 
relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants or 
hazardous or toxic material or wastes, including petroleum, into ambient air, surface water, ground water 
or land or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, 
disposal, transport or handling of pollutants, contaminants or hazardous or toxic materials or wastes, 
including but not limited to petroleum. 

 
“Environmental Permits” - Shall mean any and all permits, licenses, approvals, registrations, 

notifications, exemptions and any other authorization pursuant to or required under any Environmental 
Law. 

 
“Environmental Remedial Action” - Shall mean any and all actions required to (i) clean up, remove, 

treat, contain or in any other way take remedial action or response action of or with respect to any 
Material of Environmental Concern in the environment; (ii) prevent the Release or threat of Release or 
minimize the further Release of Materials of Environmental Concern so they do not migrate or endanger 
public health or welfare or the indoor or outdoor environment; or (iii) perform pre-remedial studies and 
investigations and post-remedial monitoring and care.  The term “Environmental Remedial Action” 
includes without limitation any action which constitutes a “removal”, “remedial action” or “response” as 

Page 77 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 3 of 20 
 

defined by Section 101 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601(23), (24), and (25), as amended, and the same or 
similar words as used and defined under counterpart laws of applicable states or other jurisdictions. 

 
“Environmental Report” - Shall mean any report, study, assessment, audit or other similar 

document prepared by or on behalf of NCRA or NWPCO, which addresses any issue of actual or potential 
noncompliance with, or actual or potential liability under, any Environmental Law. 

 
 “Excluded Assets” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2 hereof. 

 “Excluded Liabilities” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 hereof. 

 “Governmental Entity” - Any agency, authority, entity, board, bureau, court, commission, 

department, instrumentality or administration of the United States government, any state government or 

any local or other governmental body in a state, territory or possession of the United States or the District 

of Columbia, with jurisdiction over the applicable subject matter. 

 “Liens” – Shall mean any lien, security interest, option, mortgage, pledge, restriction or 

encumbrance, except if created as a result of applicable federal and state securities law restrictions. 

 “Material Adverse Effect” - Shall mean a change or effect that (i) has or is reasonably likely to have 

an adverse effect on the business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operation of an 

entity, or (ii) impairs or is reasonably likely to impair an entity’s ability to perform any of its obligations 

under this Agreement, which, in each case, results or is reasonably likely to result in an out of pocket 

expenditure of more than  $50,000__ (the “Dollar Threshold”) over and above available insurance 

coverage, but shall not mean a change or effect (i) that relates to the economy and financial markets 

generally and not specifically to such entity, (ii) that relates to the industry in which such entity operates 

generally and not specifically to such entity,  (iii) that results from natural disasters, calamities and other 

force majeure events, or (iv) that results from any outbreak or escalation of armed hostilities, any acts of 

war or terrorism. 

 “Materials of Environmental Concern” - Shall mean any material or substance that is defined or 
classified as a “hazardous substance”, “hazardous material”, “hazardous waste”, “pollutant”, 
“contaminant”, or any other substance regulated pursuant to or that could give rise to liability under the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. § 9601(14)), as 
amended; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. § 1321), as amended; the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6903, 6921), as amended; the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act (33 U.S.C. § 1317(a)(1)), as amended; the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7412), as amended; the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Uniform Safety Act of 1990 (49 U.S.C. App. § 1802(4)), as amended; 
the Federal Insecticide and Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. § 136), as amended; analogous state and local laws; 
and any other Environmental Laws. 
 
 “NCRA” – Shall mean the North Coast Railroad Authority or any successor agency designated by 

law which may be responsible for NCRA’s debts, liabilities or obligations following the Closing. 

 “Notice” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.7 hereof. 

Page 78 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 4 of 20 
 

 “Party” or “Parties” – Shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto. 

 “Quitclaim Deed” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(i) hereof. 

 “Rail Line” – Shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a)(i) hereof. 

 “Release” – Shall mean any release, emission or discharge of any Material of Environmental 

Concern, in, into or onto the environment, including any release, as defined in CERCLA or any other 

Environmental Law, of any Material of Environmental Concern.  

 “SMART” – Shall mean the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District. 

 “STB” – Shall mean the Surface Transportation Board of the Department of Transportation or any 

successor federal agency with primary jurisdiction over the Rail Line conveyance transaction that is the 

subject of this Agreement. 

 “Taxes” – Shall mean all ad valorem and real property taxes, personal property taxes, sales and 

use and similar taxes, assessments and charges (if any) relating to the Acquired Assets. 

 1.2 Other Definitional Provisions.  (a)  Unless otherwise stated, terms, phrases and 

expressions used in this Agreement (whether or not capitalized) which pertain to railroad assets shall have 

the meaning commonly given such terms under common usage and practice of the railroad industry.   

  (b) All references to the real and personal property and other assets, rights, benefits, 

privileges and interests transferred by NWPCO under the terms of this Agreement shall mean any and all 

ownership or leasehold interests of NWPCO in and to such real and personal property and other assets, 

rights, benefits, privileges and interests, to the extent applicable, as such real and personal property and 

other assets, rights, benefits, privileges and interests are owned, leased, used or held for use by NWPCO.  

  (c) The Article and Section headings contained in this Agreement are for reference 

purposes only and shall not effect affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  The 

Exhibits and Schedules identified in this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part 

hereof.  Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires: (i) words of any gender include the 

other gender; (ii) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, 

respectively; (iii) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar words refer to this entire 

Agreement; and (iv) the terms “Article” or “Section” refer to the specified Article or Section of this 

Agreement.  Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days, such number shall refer to calendar 

days unless otherwise specified.  Whenever the words “included,” “includes” or “including” are used in 

this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” 

II. TRANSFER OF NWPCO ASSETS 

2.1 Transfer of NWPCO’s Assets.   

 (a) Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, NWPCO hereby 

agrees to transfer and convey to SMART at Closing all of its right, title and interest in and to the 

Page 79 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 5 of 20 
 

following assets that are either owned by NWPCO or leased by it,  (subject to provisions of Section 2.2 

regarding Excluded Assets): 

 (i) any and all real property interests owned or leased by NWPCO (including any fee interest, 

leasehold interest, deed of trust or easement rights) in the railroad right of way and associated real 

property (including any spur or branch lines, depot property or other real property interests along or 

adjacent to the pertinent rail corridor) That constitute part of the line of railroad and rail corridor 

extending from approximately milepost 89.0 at the Sonoma/Mendocino County line south to 

approximately milepost 14 and east to the City of American Canyon approximately at milepost 49.80  

(Brazos Junction the “Rail Line”), which real property is more particularly described in the Quitclaim 

Deed attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Quitclaim Deed”).  

(ii) any and all fixtures, appurtenances and articles of personal property that constitute part of 

the Rail Line (including without limitation rail, ties, spikes, tie plates, ballast, rail anchors, bridges, 

culverts, materials, supplies and other supporting structures) as well as signals and road crossing 

protection equipment, which personal property is more particularly described in the Quitclaim Deed; 

 (iii) any and all personal property which is reasonably related to the operation and maintenance 

of the Rail Line, including but not limited to any locomotives, railcars and other railroad equipment, 

maintenance machinery, roadway equipment parts and supplies and rail inventories as more particularly 

described in the Bill of Sale attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Bill of Sale”); 

 (iv) any and all contractual rights, privileges and authorizations relating to the Rail Line,(the 

“Contracts”) as more particularly described in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement attached 

hereto as Exhibit C (“the Assignment and Assumption Agreement”) and Schedule 1 thereto (which lists 

the Contracts to be assigned from NWPCO to SMART at Closing); 

 (v) any and all licenses, certificates of public convenience and necessity, common carrier rights, 

freight restart rights, or other rights or authorizations relating to rail operations on the Rail Line; and 

 (vi) any and all other rights, privileges and assets relating to the Rail Line which may be 

identified by the Parties hereto prior to or subsequent to Closing. 

(b) The assets described above shall be referred to in this Agreement as the “Acquired 
Assets.”  

 
 2.2 Excluded Assets.  The following real property, personal property, fixtures, and other 

assets shall be excluded from the assets that will be transferred and conveyed from NWPCO to SMART 

pursuant to this Agreement (the “Excluded Assets”): 

  (a) the real property interests which constitute part of the right-of-way and rail 

corridor north of approximately milepost 89.0 at the Sonoma/Mendocino County Line; 

  (b) the portions of any and all contractual rights, privileges and authorizations that 

do not apply or relate to the Acquired Assets (including without limitation those contractual rights, 

Page 80 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 6 of 20 
 

privileges and authorizations relating or applying to the northern portion of the right-of-way and rail 

corridor north of approximately milepost 89.0 at the Sonoma/Mendocino County Line;   

(c)   any and all contractual rights, privileges and authorizations that would 

otherwise be transferred to SMART but that SMART instructs NWPCO to terminate prior to the Closing 

(including, without limitation, any contractual agreements between NCRA and NWPCO), provided 

NWPCO can lawfully effectuate such termination pursuant to such contractual agreements 

(d) any and all contractual rights, privileges and authorizations that entitle NWPCO to 

the repayment of amounts owed to it by NCRA, (except for any interest in real property owned by NCRA 

south of milepost 89.0) 

(e)  any interest in real property heretofore specifically pledged by NCRA to NWPCO for 

the repayment of debt (including the Ukiah Railroad Depot Property and the Mason Street Property 

pledged in that certain Remediation Agreement referenced hereto entered into by and between NCRA 

and NWPCO) or such interest in real property owned by NCRA north of milepost 89.0 as might be 

lawfully claimed by NWPCO in the future to secure or effectuate such repayment 

  (f)  Other assets not included in the Acquired Assets, including accounts receivable for 

goods or services already provided and cash related to the period prior to 12:01 a.m. Pacific Time on the 

day immediately following the Closing Date.  

 2.3 Assumed Obligations.  At the Closing, SMART shall assume the following obligations of 

NWPCO relating to the Acquired Assets (subject to the provisions of Section 2.4 regarding Excluded 

Liabilities) (the “Assumed Liabilities”): 

  (a) All obligations attributable to the period commencing on and after 12:01 a.m. 

Pacific Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date (as defined in Section 3.1 of this 

Agreement) that arise under the Contracts assigned by NWPCO to SMART pursuant to Section 2.1, as more 

particularly set forth in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and 

  (b) All obligations and liabilities attributable only to the period commencing on and 

after 12:01 a.m. Pacific Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date relating solely to SMART’s, 

operation or use of the Acquired Assets. 

 2.4 Limitation on Assumption of Liabilities. Except as expressly stated above with respect to 

the Assumed Liabilities, SMART shall not assume or be responsible for any and all of NWPCO, NCRA, the 

State of California and/or any other parties’ obligations and liabilities, including but not limited to the 

following (the “Excluded Liabilities”) 

  (a) All obligations and liabilities attributable to the period prior to 12:01 a.m. Pacific 
Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date that arose under the Contracts assigned to SMART 
pursuant to Section 2.1, as more particularly set forth in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement; 
 
  (b) All obligations and liabilities attributable to the period prior to 12:01 a.m. Pacific 

Page 81 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 7 of 20 
 

Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date relating to NWPCO’s ownership/leasehold, 

operation, use and/or possession of the Acquired Assets; 

(c) All obligations and liabilities of NWPCO for the payment of Taxes, damages, 
lawsuits, causes of action, fines or fees (if any) applicable to the Acquired Assets or otherwise that 
occurred or arose prior to 12:01 Pacific Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date, except 
to the extent expressly allocated to SMART under this Agreement;  
 
  (d) All obligations and liabilities of NWPCO under that portion of any Contract that 

does not relate to the Acquired Assets; and 

  (e) All obligations and liabilities of NWPCO relating to the Excluded Assets. 

 2.5 Purchase Price; Consideration.  As consideration for the sale to Buyer of the Purchased 

Assets, at the Closing Buyer shall pay to Seller the sum of Four Million Dollars ($4,000,000), (the “Purchase 

Price”). The parties acknowledge and agree that no other payments or other transfers of value from 

SMART to NWPCO or any other party will be required at Closing in order to consummate the transfer and 

conveyance transaction specified herein  nor is any part of the consideration intended to pay or offset any 

indebtedness owed by NCRA to NWPCO.   

 2.6 Adjustments and Prorations.  To the extent that any adjustment or proration of revenue 

received after Closing pertaining to the Contracts to be assigned to and assumed by SMART is determined 

by the Parties to be necessary, or other post-Closing adjustments and prorations relating to Taxes or 

otherwise are required, the Parties shall enter into an Administration and Proration Agreement in the 

form attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

III.    CLOSING: 

 3.1 Closing Date and Place.  The closing of the transactions contemplated herein (the 

"Closing") shall take place at the offices of SMART prior to December 31, 2020 on such specific date 

mutually agreeable to the Parties, which shall be no later than the third (3rd) business day after satisfaction 

or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII and IX (“Closing Date”). 

 3.2  Deliveries by NWPCO.  At or prior to the Closing, NWPCO shall deliver to SMART the 

following:  

  (a) an executed Quitclaim Deed; 

  (b) an executed Bill of Sale; 

  (c) an executed Assignment and Assumption Agreement; 

  (d) an executed Administration and Proration Agreement (if necessary);  

(e) an executed Agreement between NCRA and NWPCO (1) consenting to NWPCO’s 

discontinuation of operations and partial termination of Lease with NCRA south of the 

Sonoma/Mendocino County line (MP 89), and (2) the assignment transfer and conveyance of its 

Page 82 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 8 of 20 
 

railroad assets and associated rights to SMART, and (3) termination of the NCRA-SMART 2011 

Operating and Coordination Agreement as amended, dated December 13, 2017 as such 

agreement is applicable to sections south of milepost 89.0 

  (f) such certificates, resolutions, instruments and documents as SMART may 

reasonably require to evidence NWPCO’s transfer of the Acquired Assets to SMART in accordance with 

the legislative intent of [S.B. No. 1029].  

  (g) such certificates, resolutions, instruments and documents as SMART, STB or FRA 

may require to terminate NCRA and NWPCO freight operations and authorize SMART freight operation 

south of milepost 89.0.   

 3.3 Deliveries by SMART.  At or prior to the Closing, SMART shall deliver to NWPCO the 

following: 

(a) an executed Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and 

(b) an executed Administration and Proration Agreement (if necessary); and 

(c) the Purchase Price, which shall be payable by wire transfer of immediately 

available funds to the account designated by NWPCO; and 

(d) SMART shall use its reasonable efforts to take all necessary actions or resolutions 

and execute any required instruments and documents to acquire the regulatory 

approval contemplated under this and Section 12.1(a) 

IV.  ADDITIONAL UNDERTAKINGS AND AGREEMENTS 

4.1 Timing. The parties agree that in the event that any date on which performance is to occur 

falls on a Saturday, Sunday or state or national holiday, then the time for such performance shall be 

extended until the next business day thereafter occurring. 

 V. NWPCO'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

 NWPCO represents, warrants, and/or covenants, as applicable, as of the date hereof and as of 

Closing that: 

5.1 Organization and Power and Authority.  NWPCO is a California Corporation duly organized 

and validly existing under California law, and has all requisite power and authority and full legal capacity 

to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder.  The execution, delivery 

and performance of this Agreement by NWPCO have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the 

part of NWPCO.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by NWPCO, and assuming that 

this Agreement is a valid and binding obligation to SMART, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding 

obligation of NWPCO, enforceable against NWPCO in accordance with its terms. 

5.2 Noncontravention. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.2, and except for filings, permits, 

Page 83 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 9 of 20 
 

authorizations, consents and approvals as may be required by, and other applicable requirements of, the 

Surface Transportation Board (“STB”), the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement NWPCO 

will not (i) conflict with or result in a breach of any provision of NWPCO’s contracts or NCRA’s authorizing 

legislation (as amended by [S.B. No. 1029]); (ii) require any filing with, or permit, authorization, consent 

or approval of, any Governmental Entity; (iii) result in a violation or breach of any of the terms, conditions 

or provisions of any note, bond, or mortgage to which NWPCO is a party or by which it or any of its 

properties or assets may be bound; (iv) violate any order, writ, injunction, judgment, decree, statute, rule 

or regulation applicable to NWPCO (v) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any of the 

Acquired Assets.  To achieve the assurances hereunder as to NCRA, prior to closing, NWPCO shall confirm 

and provide SMART with the same verifications and noncontravention assurances from NCRA related to 

their ability to approve this agreement and the assignment, transfer and conveyance of the freight rights 

and interest to SMART. 

5.3 Licenses and Permits.  NWPCO has not received written notice from any Governmental 

Entity, and to NWPCO’s knowledge no notice has been threatened in writing by any Governmental Entity, 

asserting that NWPCO does not have a license, permit, variance, certification, exemption, franchise, 

authorization or approval necessary to own, lease, use and/or operate, as applicable, the Acquired Assets 

as such assets are currently operated.  

5.4 Litigation.  Except as disclosed in Schedule 5.4 attached hereto, there is no Action pending 

before any Governmental Entity or arbitrator, or to NWPCO’s knowledge threatened in writing before any 

Court, Governmental Entity or arbitrator, in either case against or affecting or involving: (i) the Acquired 

Assets, or the business, operations, value or use thereof or related thereto; or (ii) NWPCO, as to which an 

adverse determination would materially impair the ability of NWPCO to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement.  Neither NWPCO nor the Acquired Assets is subject to any outstanding order, writ, judgment, 

award, injunction or decree that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to prevent 

or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement.  

5.5 Title to Assets.   
(a) The real property leasehold interest held by NWPCO and personal property 

owned by NWPCO (including any locomotives, maintenance and construction equipment) to be conveyed 
by NWPCO to SMART pursuant to this Agreement will be free and clear of all Liens as of the Closing. 

 
(b) NWPCO has good and valid title to the personal property that will be conveyed to 

SMART. 
(c) For Assets owned by NCRA that NWPCO has a long-term lease, NWPCO will 

convey the long-term lease and transfer the exclusive right to use such Assets, under a long-term lease to 
SMART. 
 

 5.6 Status of Agreements.   
(a) NWPCO represents and warrants that, to its knowledge, no party to any of the 

Contracts is in breach or default thereof and each of the assigned Contracts is in full force and effect. 
 
(b) NWPCO represents and warrants that it has no knowledge of any other written 

Page 84 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 10 of 20 
 

contracts and agreements, except for those contracts covered by the Assignment and Assumption 

Agreement or the Agreement for the Resurrection of Operations Upon the Northwestern Pacific Railroad 

line and Lease Agreement dated September 2006, that give third parties the right to use, access, enter or 

operate over the Rail Line. 

5.7. Environmental Matters.  Except as set forth in Schedule 5.7 hereto, (i) NWPCO has not 
received written notice from any Governmental Entity alleging a violation by NWPCO of any applicable 
Environmental Laws, there are no pending Environmental Claims against NWPCO, and NWPCO has no 
knowledge of any Environmental Claim threatened in writing against the NWPCO, (ii) NWPCO is not 
subject to any judgment, decree, order, injunction or similar requirement relating to compliance with any 
Environmental Law or to Materials of Environmental Concern; and (iii) to the knowledge of NWPCO, it has 
provided to SMART true and complete copies of all Environmental Reports prepared on or after 2006,  
each of which is identified in Schedule 5.7. 
 

 5.8 Taxes. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.8, (i) NWPCO has timely filed all tax returns that 

it was required to file with respect to the Acquired Assets, (ii) all such tax returns were correct and 

complete in all material respects and were prepared in substantial compliance with all applicable laws and 

regulations, and (iii) all taxes due and owing by or with respect to NWPCO, to the extent applicable to the 

Acquired Assets, have been paid.  There are no Liens on any of the Acquired Assets that arose in 

connection with any Tax or otherwise.   

VI. SMART'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 SMART represents, warrants and/or covenants, as applicable, as of the date hereof and as of 

Closing, that: 

 6.1  Organization and Power and Authority. SMART is a public agency duly organized and 

validly existing under California law and has all requisite power and authority and full legal capacity to 

execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder.  The execution, delivery 

and performance of this Agreement by SMART have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the 

part of SMART.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by SMART, and assuming that this 

Agreement is the valid and binding obligation of SMART, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding 

obligation of SMART, enforceable against SMART in accordance with its terms. 

 6.2 Noncontravention.  Except for filings, permits, authorizations, consents and approvals as 

may be required under, and other applicable requirements of, the STB, the execution, delivery and 

performance of this Agreement by SMART will not (i) conflict with or result in any breach of its authorizing 

statute (as amended by [S.B. No. 1029],(ii) require any filing with, or permit, authorization, consent or 

approval of, any Governmental Entity, or (iii) violate any order, writ, injunction, judgment, decree, statute, 

rule or regulation applicable to SMART. 

 6.3 Litigation.  SMART is not subject to any outstanding order, writ, injunction or decree that, 

individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement. There is no Action pending, or to 

Page 85 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 11 of 20 
 

SMART’s knowledge threatened in writing, before any Governmental Entity or arbitrator against or 

affecting or involving SMART as to which an adverse determination would materially impair the ability of 

SMART to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

VII. COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 7.1 In making its determination to close the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 

the State and SMART have relied on the representations and warranties of NWPCO expressly and specifically 

set forth in this Agreement (including the Schedules attached hereto), the Quitclaim Deed, the Bill of Sale, the 

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Administration and Proration Agreement (if any), and any other 

agreements, documents and instruments delivered pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, the “Ancillary Agreements”).   

 7.2 NWPCO’s Management of the Acquired Assets Prior to Closing. 

  (a) Negative Covenants.  NWPCO covenants and agrees with SMART that, from the 

Effective Date of this Agreement through the Closing Date, it will not, without the prior written approval 

of SMART, do or agree to do any of the following:  

   (i) Sell, assign, lease, mortgage, pledge, grant any right or interest in, or 

otherwise transfer or dispose of, all or any part of its real or personal property rights or operating rights 

with respect to its portion of the Acquired Assets; 

   (ii) Grant, amend, modify, extend or terminate any operating agreement, 

trackage rights, haulage rights, marketing agreements, joint facility agreements or other agreements 

affecting use, access to or rail operations over the Rail Line; 

   (iii) Amend or renew any Contracts or enter into any new agreement or incur 

any obligation or liability (contingent or absolute) relating to its portion of the Acquired; 

   (iv) Abandon or discontinue service on all or any part of the Rail Line; 

   (v) Enter into, amend or renew any agreements with shippers or receivers 

for movement of traffic over the Rail Line or for other use of the Rail Line (including without limitation for 

storage of rail products or related products); or 

   (vi) Replace or substitute rail or any other Acquired Assets other than with 

material of the same or better kind and quality. 

  (b) Affirmative Covenants.  NWPCO covenants and agrees with SMART that from the 

date hereof through the Closing it will conduct its affairs relating to the Acquired Assets in the ordinary 

course and in consultation with SMART. 

 7.3 Other Action. Each of the Parties to this Agreement shall use its reasonable best efforts 

to cause the fulfillment at the earliest practicable date of all of the conditions to the obligations of the 

Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated under this Agreement. 

Page 86 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 12 of 20 
 

 7.4 Amended Schedules.   

  (a) At least five (5) business days prior to the Closing Date, NWPCO shall deliver to 
SMART any final amendments to the Schedules to this Agreement that reflect changes, if any, since the 
date of this Agreement, and which Schedules, as amended, shall supersede the prior schedules; provided, 
however, that if the amendments to such Schedules, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be 
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on SMART, then the parties shall be required to take 
reasonably steps to eliminate such Material Adverse Effect.  
 

VIII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO SMART'S OBLIGATION TO CLOSE 

 The obligations of SMART to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are 

subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions at or prior to the Closing (any or all of which may be 

waived in whole or in part by SMART, if lawful): 

 8.1 Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  The representations and warranties of 

NWPCO set forth in Article V shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing.  

NWPCO shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under 

this Agreement., except in any case where such failure to perform would not reasonably be likely to have 

a Material Adverse Effect on SMART; 

8.2 No Prohibition to Consummation.  No Governmental Entity shall have enacted, issued, 
promulgated, enforced or entered any law, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, injunction or other 
order that is then in effect and has the effect of restraining, prohibiting or restricting, in a material respect, 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 
 

8.3 Required Consents of Governmental Entities. All consents, authorizations, orders and 

approvals of (or filings or registrations with) any Governmental Entity required in connection with the 

execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement, the failure of which to obtain would prevent or 

materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or have a 

Material Adverse Effect on SMART, shall have been obtained and be in full force and effect without the 

imposition of any condition having a Material Adverse Effect on SMART; and   

 8.4 Documents at Closing.  NWPCO shall have delivered to SMART on or before the Closing 

all agreements, instruments and documents required to be delivered by NWPCO to SMART pursuant to 

Section 3.2.  NWPCO and SMART shall have agreed upon any Exhibits and other documents which, by the 

terms of this Agreement, are to be agreed upon by NWPCO and SMART after the date hereof and prior to 

Closing.   

 8.5 Governmental Litigation.  There shall be no governmental investigation pending or any 

order, injunction, or decree outstanding, against SMART relating to, or seeking to prohibit or otherwise 

challenge the consummation of, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to obtain substantial 

damages with respect thereto. 

Page 87 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 13 of 20 
 

 8.6 Future Funding and Assurances.  Prior to Closing SMART shall receive satisfactory 

assurances that the State is committed to and will allocate additional funds to SMART for freight, 

operations, maintenance and liability of the rail line and the Acquired Assets.     

IX. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO NWPCO’s OBLIGATION TO CLOSE 

 The respective obligations of NWPCO to consummate the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions at or prior to the Closing (any and 
all of which may be waived in whole or in part by NWPCO, if lawful): 
 

9.1 Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  The representations and warranties of 
SMART set forth in Article VI of this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as 
of the Closing, except in any case where such failure to be true and correct would not reasonably be likely 
to have a Material Adverse Effect on NWPCO.  SMART shall have performed in all material respects all 
obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement, except in any case where such failure 
to perform would not reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse Effect on NWPCO; 

 
9.2 No Prohibition to Consummation.  No Governmental Entity shall have enacted, issued, 

promulgated, enforced or entered any law, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, injunction or other 
order that is then in effect and has the effect of restraining, prohibiting or restricting, in a material respect, 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 
 

9.3 Required Consents of Governmental Entities.  All consents, authorizations, orders and 
approvals of (or filings or registrations with) any Governmental Entity required in connection with the 
execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement, the failure of which to obtain would prevent or 
materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or have a 
Material Adverse Effect on NWPCO, shall have been obtained and be in full force and effect without the 
imposition of any condition (other than the imposition by the STB of standard labor protective conditions) 
having a Material Adverse Effect on NWPCO; 
 
   9.4 Documents at Closing.   SMART shall have delivered to NWPCO on or before the Closing 

all agreements, instruments and documents required to be delivered by SMART to NWPCO pursuant to 

Section 3.3.  NWPCO and SMART shall have agreed upon any Exhibits and other documents which, by the 

terms of this Agreement, are to be agreed upon by NWPCO and SMART after the date hereof and prior to 

Closing. 

 9.5 Governmental Litigation.  There shall be no governmental investigation pending or any 

order, injunction, or decree outstanding, against NWPCO relating to, or seeking to prohibit or otherwise 

challenge the consummation of, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to obtain substantial 

damages with respect thereto. 

 9.6 RRIF Loan.   On or before closing, that certain debt obligation related to the liability for 

the Rail Line under the Federal Railroad Administration’s Rehabilitation and Improvement Financing (RRIF) 

loan balance due shall be placed into an escrow account.. 

Page 88 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 14 of 20 
 

X.  RISK OF LOSS: DEFAULT: TERMINATION 

10.1 Risk of Loss.   Subject to the limitations stated in this Section 10.1, as between NWPCO 

and SMART until Closing, the risk of loss or damage by fire or other casualty to the Acquired Assets, 

ordinary wear and tear excepted, shall be incurred by NWPCO; provided, however, that NWPCO may elect 

either (i) at its sole cost, to diligently restore, replace and repair such assets to their condition immediately 

prior to such loss or damage (for which time NWPCO may reasonably extend the Closing Date), or (ii) to 

provide SMART at Closing with an amount sufficient to pay for the restoration, replacement and repair of 

such assets to their condition immediately prior to such loss or damage through an assignment of 

insurance proceeds to which NWPCO would be entitled; provided, however, that, NWPCO shall not be 

obligated to restore, replace and repair (or pay for such restoration, replacement and repair of) such 

assets if:  (1) SMART, on the one hand, and NWPCO, on the other hand, mutually determine that such 

restoration, replacement and repair is not necessary; or (2) the aggregate cost of such restoration, 

replacement and repair is less than $30,000.   

10.2. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing: 
 

(a) by mutual written consent of SMART and NWPCO; 
 

  (b) By either party if the Agreement is not    consummated by the Closing Date. 

 (c)  by SMART if the State Transportation Agency does not transfer the appropriated 

 sum of four million dollars ($4,000,000) as provided for by Senate Bill No. 1029 

 to SMART. 

 (d) by SMART if satisfactory assurances for funding as stated in Section 8.6 of this 

 Agreement have not occurred. 

10.3 Effect of Termination.  Upon any termination of this Agreement by either NWPCO or 
SMART as provided in Section 10.2, this Agreement shall become void and of no further force and effect 
and there shall be no liability or obligation under this Agreement on the part of NWPCO or SMART.  
 

XI. SURVIVAL: INDEMNIFICATION  

 11.1 Indemnification.  NWPCO agrees to indemnify and hold harmless SMART its managers, 

officers, directors, employees, agents from and against any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages, costs 

and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ and accountants’ fees, costs of suit and costs of appeal 

(collectively, the “Damages”), insofar as such Damages (or actions in respect thereof) are based upon or 

arise out of this transaction transferring the Acquired Assets; or relate to NWPCO’s use or operations of  

the Acquired Assets under this Agreement that are attributable to the period prior to 12:01 a.m. Pacific 

Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date. 

 11.2 Indemnification.  SMART agrees to indemnify and hold harmless NWPCO its managers, 

Page 89 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 15 of 20 
 

officers, directors, employees, agents from and against any and all losses, liabilities, claims, damages, costs 

and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ and accountants’ fees, costs of suit and costs of appeal 

(collectively, the “Damages”), insofar as such Damages (or actions in respect thereof) are based upon or 

arise out of or relate to SMART’s use or operation of the Acquired Assets under this Agreement that are 

attributable to the period after 12:01 a.m. Pacific Time on the day immediately following the Closing Date. 

 11.3 Survival of Representations Warranties, Covenants and Indemnification. The 

representations, warranties, covenants and indemnification of the parties contained in this agreement or 

in any certificate delivered by them under this agreement will survive the Closing Date of this agreement 

for a period of two (2) years.  No claim for indemnification hereunder may be made after the expiration 

of the foregoing two-year period. 

XII.  MISCELLANEOUS` 

 12.1 Consents and Filings. 

  (a) Governmental Filings.  NWPCO will cause to be made all required filings and 

submissions under the ICC Termination Act of 1995 and any other laws or regulations applicable to the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. NWPCO shall be responsible for all 

filing fees, Transfers, Use, Taxes and other expenses in connection with such transfer and filings.  SMART 

shall use its reasonable efforts to take all actions and to do all things necessary to acquire the regulatory 

approval contemplated under this Section 12.1(a). 

  (b) With Respect to Freight Contracts.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in 

Schedule 12.1(b), and notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the obtaining of 

authorization, consent or approval for the assignment of the Contracts shall not be a condition precedent 

to each Party’s obligation to close the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement, nor shall SMART 

have any recourse against NWPCO in connection with the failure to obtain authorization, consent or 

approval for the assignment of any such Contract, except with respect to the Agreement for the 

Resurrection of Operations Upon the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Line and Lease Agreement dated 

September 2006 and any and subsequent amendments). 

 12.2  Reasonable Efforts.  NWPCO and SMART agree to use reasonable efforts to take, or cause 

to be taken, all actions necessary to comply promptly with all legal requirements that may be imposed 

with respect to the Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein (which actions shall include, 

without limitation, furnishing all information required in connection with required approvals of or filings 

with any Governmental Entity) and shall promptly cooperate with and furnish information to each other 

in connection with any such requirements imposed upon any of them in connection with the Agreement 

and the transactions contemplated herein.  NWPCO and SMART, both before and within a reasonable 

period after the Closing, will use reasonable efforts to take all reasonable actions necessary, proper or 

advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate and make effective, in the most 

expeditious manner practicable, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without 

limitation, defending any lawsuits or other proceedings challenging this Agreement. 

Page 90 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 16 of 20 
 

 12.3 Expenses.  All deed taxes, transfer taxes, sales taxes, use taxes, recording fees and similar 

charges, duties, levies and fees incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (if 

any) including the sale, transfer, and delivery of the Acquired Assets shall be borne by NWPCO.  Except as 

provided in the preceding sentence or as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, each Party 

hereto shall pay its own expenses incident to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated 

hereunder, including without limitation all legal and accounting fees, disbursements and mortgage 

registration taxes, whether or not the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated. 

 12.4 Waiver.  No delay or failure on the part of any Party hereto in exercising any right, power 

or privilege under this Agreement, or under any other agreements or instruments given in connection 

with or pursuant to this Agreement shall impair any such right, power or privilege or be construed as a 

waiver of default or any acquiescence therein.  No waiver shall be valid against any Party hereto unless 

made in writing and signed by the Party against whom enforcement of such waiver is sought and then 

only to the extent expressly specified therein. 

 12.5 Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY 

AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS 

AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.  

 12.6 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit 

of the respective successors and permitted assigns of the Parties; provided however, that this Agreement 

and any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may not be assigned, directly or indirectly, or by 

operation of law or otherwise, by any Party without the prior, written consent of the other Parties. 

12.7 Notices.  All notices and other communications (individually, a “Notice”) hereunder shall 
be in writing and shall be deemed received on the date such Notice is personally delivered (providing 
proof of delivery), on the first business day following the date on which such Notice is sent by a nationally 
recognized overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) or on the fifth business day following the date 
such Notice is mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested).  A Notice to a Party shall, 
unless another address is specified by such Party to the other Parties, be sent to the address indicated 
below: 

 

 If to NWPCO: 

 
 Douglas H. Bosco, Esq. 
 645 Fourth St, Suite 105 
 Santa Rosa, California 95403 
 
 If to SMART: 
 
 Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) 
5401 Old Redwood Hwy., Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

Page 91 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 17 of 20 
 

 
 
 12.8 Announcements.  No press release, or other public announcement or communication, 

related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be issued or made without the 

joint approval of NWPCO and SMART, unless required by law (in the reasonable opinion of counsel), in 

which case NWPCO and SMART shall each have the right to review and provide input on such press release 

or other public announcement or communication prior to publication. 

 12.9 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto and all 

other instruments and documents referred to herein or delivered pursuant hereto or in connection 

herewith, represents the entire understanding of the Parties hereto, supersedes all prior oral or written 

memoranda and agreements by or between two or more of the Parties to the extent they relate in any 

way to the subject matter hereof, and may not be supplemented or amended, except by a written 

instrument executed by and delivered to each of the Parties hereto designating specifically the terms and 

provisions so supplemented and amended. 

12.10 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which 

shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when said counterparts have 

been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Parties, it being understood that all Parties 

need not sign the same counterpart.  A facsimile signature shall be deemed an original. 

12.11 Limitation on Benefits.  This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto and 

the Ancillary Agreements) is not intended to confer upon any person other than the Parties hereto any 

rights or remedies hereunder, except, to the extent expressly set forth in this Agreement, a Party’s 

successors or permitted assigns. 

 12.12 Severability.  If fulfillment of any clause or provision of this Agreement or performance of 

any transaction related thereto, at the time such fulfillment or performance shall be due, shall exceed the 

limit of validity prescribed by law, then the obligation to be fulfilled or performed shall be reduced to the 

limit of such validity; and if any clause or provision contained in this Agreement operates or would operate 

prospectively to invalidate any portion of this Agreement, in whole or in part, then such clause or provision 

only shall be held ineffective, as though not herein contained, and the remainder of this Agreement shall 

remain operative and in full force and effect (unless the effect of so doing would deprive a Party 

substantially of the benefit of the bargain negotiated by such Party). 

 12.13 Governing Law.  This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements shall be construed in 

accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of California.  

12.14    Dispute Resolution.  If any dispute arises between the Parties relating to the 

interpretation, breach or performance of this Agreement or the grounds for the termination thereof, and 

the Parties cannot resolve the dispute within thirty (30) days of a written request by either Party to the 

other Party, the Parties agree to hold a meeting, attended by executive level personnel of each Party, to 

attempt in good faith to negotiate a resolution of the dispute prior to pursuing other available remedies.  

If, within sixty (60) days after such written request, the Parties have not succeeded in negotiating a 

Page 92 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 18 of 20 
 

resolution of the dispute, such dispute shall be submitted to final and binding arbitration under the then 

current commercial rules and regulations of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) 

relating to voluntary arbitrations.  The arbitration proceedings shall be held before a single arbitrator 

selected by mutual agreement of the Parties.  The Parties shall provide all documents, records and 

supporting information, and take all such further actions reasonably necessary to resolve the dispute as 

promptly as practicable after the selection of the arbitrator. Each Party shall bear its own costs and legal 

fees associated with such arbitration. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the 

Parties.  Judgment on the award so rendered may be entered in any court having competent jurisdiction 

thereof and shall be enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act.   

 12.15 Time is of the Essence.  With respect to the performance by the Parties of their obligations 

hereunder, and with respect to the consummation of the transactions that are the subject of this 

Agreement, the Parties agree and acknowledge that time is of the essence. 

 12.16 Books and Records.  The Parties hereto shall keep records and books of account relating 

to the Acquired Assets and all transactions contemplated by this Agreement and shall preserve such any 

such records and books of account for a period of at least 4 years or for the required period under the 

records retention act (which ever is longer) after Closing, or such longer period as may be required by 

applicable law.  Each Party hereto and its duly authorized representatives, during normal business hours 

upon reasonable advance notice to the other Party, shall have the right at its sole expense to inspect such 

books and records of account for purposes of verifying compliance with the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement; provided, however, that nothing herein shall require any Party to make available documents 

or data that bear no direct relationship to compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 93 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 19 of 20 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties hereto has executed this Agreement or has caused this 

Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf, as of the day and year first above written. 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District   Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company 

 

 

By:___________________________________   By:___________________________________ 

 

 

Its:____________________________________   Its:____________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 94 of 111



 
DRAFT 05/11/2020  

Page 20 of 20 
 

Exhibits 

Exhibit A – Quitclaim Deed 

Exhibit B – Bill of Sale 

Exhibit C – Assignment and Assumption Agreement 

Exhibit D – Administration and Proration Agreement (if necessary) 

 

Page 95 of 111



Senate Bill No. 1029

CHAPTER 934

An act to amend Sections 93000, 93010, 93020, and 93021 of, to add and
repeal Section 13978.9 of, to repeal Sections 93001, 93002, 93023, and
93024 of, and to repeal and add Sections 93003 and 93022 of, the
Government Code, and to amend Section 105095 of the Public Utilities
Code, relating to transportation, and making an appropriation therefor.

[Approved by Governor September 29, 2018. Filed with
Secretary of State September 29, 2018.]

legislative counsel’s digest

SB 1029, McGuire. North Coast Railroad Authority.
(1)  Existing law creates the North Coast Railroad Authority with various

powers and duties relating to rail service in the north coast area of the state,
including the authorization to acquire, own, operate, and lease real and
personal property reasonably related to the operation and maintenance of
railroads.

This bill would require the Transportation Agency, in consultation with
the Natural Resources Agency, upon the appropriation of moneys by the
Legislature for these purposes, to conduct an assessment of the North Coast
Railroad Authority to provide information necessary to determine the most
appropriate way to dissolve the authority and dispense with its assets and
liabilities, and to report on the assessment to the Legislature before July 1,
2020. The bill would authorize those agencies to request the Department of
General Services, the Department of Finance, or any department within
their agencies, or contract with other entities, to perform the work the
agencies deem necessary to carry out the assessment. The bill would require
the Transportation Agency to prioritize the assessment of the southern
portion of the rail corridor, and would authorize the Transportation Agency
to separately report information related to the potential transfer of the
southern portion of the rail corridor to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit
District.

This bill would repeal and revise various provisions relating to the
authority. The bill would authorize the authority to acquire, own, operate,
and lease real and personal property reasonably related to, instead, the
furtherance of certain purposes, the planned transfer of all of its assets, and
its dissolution. The bill would require the authority to cooperate with the
assessment conducted by the Transportation Agency and Natural Resources
Agency, and to provide access to all authority records, files, documents,
accounts, reports, correspondence, and financial affairs to the agencies, and
any entity conducting the assessment for the agencies.

 

 89  

Page 96 of 111



Existing law creates, within the Counties of Sonoma and Marin, the
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District with specified duties and powers.
Existing law requires the district to work with specified authorities to achieve
a safe, efficient, and compatible system of passenger and freight rail service,
and authorizes the district, among other things, to provide a rail transit
system for the transportation of passengers and their incidental baggage by
rail.

This bill would authorize the district to also provide a rail transit system
for the provision of freight service by rail.

Existing law creates the Public Transportation Account as a trust fund.
Existing law requires revenues in the account to be used solely for mass
transportation and transportation planning purposes, as specified.

This bill would appropriate $4,000,000 to the Transportation Agency
from the Public Transportation Account for rail improvements on the corridor
owned by the district and the authority. The bill would allocate those moneys
to the district for the acquisition of freight rights and equipment from the
Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company to ensure efficient provision of
goods movement requirements in the corridor in the context of growing
passenger service, and authorizes the transfer of those moneys to the district,
as specified.

(2)  Because this bill would impose new requirements on local entities,
it would impose a state-mandated local program.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies
and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory
provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates
determines that the bill contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement
for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory provisions noted
above.

Appropriation: yes.

The people of the State of California do enact as follows:

SECTION 1. The Legislature finds and declares that the North Coast
Railroad Authority’s railroad tracks, rights-of-way, and other properties
provide an opportunity to create a Great Redwood Trail for hiking, biking,
and riding, that may be in the public and economic best interests of the north
coast.

SEC. 2. Section 13978.9 is added to the Government Code, to read:
13978.9. (a)  Upon the appropriation of moneys by the Legislature for

these purposes, the Transportation Agency, in consultation with the Natural
Resources Agency, shall conduct an assessment of the North Coast Railroad
Authority to provide information necessary to determine the most appropriate
way to dissolve the North Coast Railroad Authority and dispense with its
assets and liabilities. The Transportation Agency shall report to the
Legislature before July 1, 2020, on its findings and recommendations from

89

— 2 —Ch. 934

 

Page 97 of 111



the assessment. The report shall include, but not be limited to, all of the
following:

(1)  An assessment of the North Coast Railroad Authority’s debts,
liabilities, contractual obligations, and litigation.

(2)  An assessment of the North Coast Railroad Authority’s assets,
including property, rights-of-way, easements, and equipment.

(3)  An assessment of the North Coast Railroad Authority’s freight
contractor lease, including the contractor’s assets and liabilities to the extent
that information is available.

(4)  A preliminary assessment of the viability of constructing a trail on
the entirety of, or a portion of, the property, rights-of-way, or easements
owned by the North Coast Railroad Authority, and recommendations relating
to the possible construction of a trail, including both of the following:

(A)  Options for railbanking and the governance structure or ownership
structure for a new or successor entity that is necessary to railbank property,
rights-of-way, and easements along the rail corridor.

(B)  A preliminary assessment of which portions of the terrain along the
rail corridor may be suitable for a trail.

(5)  An assessment of the options for transferring the southern portion of
the rail corridor to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District and
recommendations on the specific assets and liabilities that could be
transferred, including rights or abilities to operate freight rail.

(b)  The Transportation Agency and the Natural Resources Agency may
request the Department of General Services, the Department of Finance, or
any department within their agencies, or contract with other entities, to
perform the work the agencies deem necessary to carry out the duties
described in this section. Any work done by the Department of General
Services, the Department of Finance, or any department within the agencies
pursuant to such a request may be conducted using the power and authority
of the requested department.

(c)  The Transportation Agency shall prioritize the assessment of the
southern portion of the rail corridor and may separately report information
related to the potential transfer of the southern portion of the rail corridor
to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District. It is the intent of the
Legislature that information and recommendations regarding the potential
transfer of the southern portion of the rail corridor to the Sonoma-Marin
Area Rail Transit District be provided as expeditiously as possible and not
be delayed due to the potential complexity of assessing the northern portion
of the rail corridor.

(d)  (1)  A report to be submitted pursuant to this section shall be submitted
in compliance with Section 9795.

(2)  Pursuant to Section 10231.5, this section is repealed on January 1,
2024.

SEC. 3. Section 93000 of the Government Code is amended to read:
93000. This title shall be known and may be cited as the North Coast

Railroad Authority Closure and Transition to Trails Act.
SEC. 4. Section 93001 of the Government Code is repealed.

89

Ch. 934— 3 —

 

Page 98 of 111



SEC. 5. Section 93002 of the Government Code is repealed.
SEC. 6. Section 93003 of the Government Code is repealed.
SEC. 7. Section 93003 is added to the Government Code, to read:
93003. The Legislature finds and declares that it is in the public interest

to dissolve the authority, and to transfer its rights-of-way to other entities
for the purpose of potentially developing a trail that could include railbanking
and continuing freight where it was operational on January 1, 2018.

SEC. 8. Section 93010 of the Government Code is amended to read:
93010. (a)  The authority is hereby created, having a service area

comprised of the Counties of Humboldt, Mendocino, Sonoma, and Trinity.
(b)  The County of Marin may elect to join the authority and, if that

election is made, the authority is expanded to include that county.
SEC. 9. Section 93020 of the Government Code is amended to read:
93020. (a)  The authority has all of the following powers:
(1)  To acquire, own, operate, and lease real and personal property

reasonably related to the furtherance of the purposes of this title, the planned
transfer of all of its assets, and its dissolution. Any sale, easement, or lease
entered into by the authority after August 1, 2018, shall be approved by the
California Transportation Commission.

(2)  To operate railroads along the rights-of-way where they were in
operation on January 1, 2018.

(3)  To accept grants or loans from state or federal agencies.
(4)  To employ an executive officer, other staff, and consultants deemed

appropriate for support of the activities of the authority, to further the
purposes of this title.

(b)  The authority shall do all of the following:
(1)  In coordination with state agencies, immediately begin planning for

the transfer of all of the authority’s assets and liabilities and for the
dissolution of the authority.

(2)  Cooperate with its freight contractor to continue freight operations
along the rights-of-way where they were in operation on January 1, 2018.

(3)  Cooperate with, and provide information upon request to, the
Transportation Agency, Natural Resources Agency, or other state or local
agencies or contractors working at the direction of the Transportation Agency
or Natural Resources Agency.

(4)  Cooperate fully with the assessment conducted pursuant to Section
13978.9.

SEC. 10. Section 93021 of the Government Code is amended to read:
93021. The authority may acquire, own, lease, and operate railroad lines

and equipment, including, but not limited to, real and personal property,
tracks, rights-of-way, equipment, and facilities, to further the purposes of
this title.

SEC. 11. Section 93022 of the Government Code is repealed.
SEC. 12. Section 93022 is added to the Government Code, to read:
93022. The authority shall cooperate with the assessment conducted by

the Transportation Agency and Natural Resources Agency pursuant to
Section 13978.9, and shall provide access to all authority records, files,

89

— 4 —Ch. 934

 

Page 99 of 111



documents, accounts, reports, correspondence, and financial affairs to the
agencies, and any entity conducting the assessment for the agencies, pursuant
to Section 13978.9.

SEC. 13. Section 93023 of the Government Code is repealed.
SEC. 14. Section 93024 of the Government Code is repealed.
SEC. 15. Section 105095 of the Public Utilities Code is amended to

read:
105095. The district may provide a rail transit system for the

transportation of passengers and their incidental baggage by rail and
provision of freight service by rail.

SEC. 16.  If the Commission on State Mandates determines that this act
contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to local agencies and
school districts for those costs shall be made pursuant to Part 7 (commencing
with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

SEC. 17. The sum of four million dollars ($4,000,000) is hereby
appropriated to the State Transportation Agency from the Public
Transportation Account for rail improvements on the corridor owned by
the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District and the North Coast Railroad
Authority. These moneys shall be allocated to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail
Transit District for the acquisition of freight rights and equipment from the
Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company to ensure efficient provision of
goods movement requirements in the corridor in the context of growing
passenger service. Following a signed baseline agreement between the State
Transportation Agency and the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
that articulates deliverables, the anticipated expenditure schedule, and
reporting requirements, the Secretary of Transportation may transfer these
moneys to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District pursuant to the
provisions of the baseline agreement. These moneys shall not be transferred
to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District for the acquisition of freight
rights and equipment from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company
unless the terms and conditions of the baseline agreement have been
approved by both the Secretary of Transportation and the Director of
Finance. If these moneys are not transferred to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail
Transit District within two years of the chaptering of this act, these moneys
shall be returned to the Public Transportation Account.

O

89

Ch. 934— 5 —

 

Page 100 of 111



AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY AUGUST 19, 2019 

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY JUNE 18, 2019 

AMENDED IN SENATE MAY 17, 2019 

SENATE BILL  No. 356 

Introduced by Senator McGuire 

February 19, 2019 

An act to add Section 93029 to the Government Code, and to amend 
Sections 105003, 105012, 105003 and 105032 of, and to repeal Sections 
105104, 105105, and Section 105180 of, the Public Utilities Code, 
relating to transportation. 

legislative counsel’s digest 

SB 356, as amended, McGuire. North Coast Railroad Authority: rail 
right-of-way: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District. 

Existing law creates the North Coast Railroad Authority with various 
powers and duties relating to rail service in the north coast area of the 
state, including the authority to acquire, own, operate, and lease real 
and personal property reasonably related to the operation and 
maintenance of railroads, the planned transfer of all of the authority’s 
assets, and the authority’s dissolution. 

Existing law creates, within the Counties of Sonoma and Marin, the 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District, which is governed by a 
12-member board of directors, with specified duties and powers. 
Existing law requires the district to work with specified authorities, 
including the North Coast Railroad Authority, to achieve a safe, 
efficient, and compatible system of passenger and freight rail service 
and authorizes the district to, among other things, provide a rail transit 
system for the provision of freight service by rail. 

  

 96   

Page 101 of 111



This bill would require the authority, within 90 days of removing all 
of its debts, liabilities, and contractual obligations, to convey and transfer 
its rights, interests, privileges, and title, lien free, relating to a specified 
rail right-of-way, its licenses and certificates of public convenience and 
necessity, any common carrier obligations held by the authority or an 
associated freight operator, and the railroad assets the authority owns 
to the district. 

This bill would give the board of governors of the district the duty 
and power to, among other things, own, operate, manage, and maintain 
a freight rail system within the district and fix rates, rentals, charges, 
and classifications of freight service operated by the district. The bill 
would also give the board of governors of the district the duty and power 
to consider potential alternatives to help address the housing needs of 
current and future employees. The bill would repeal the requirement 
that the district obtain coverage for itself and its employees under certain 
federal laws. 

By imposing new requirements on local entities, the bill would impose 
a state-mandated local program. 

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local 
agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. 
Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement. 

This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates 
determines that the bill contains costs mandated by the state, 
reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory 
provisions noted above. 

Vote:   majority.   Appropriation:   no.  Fiscal committee:   yes.

State-mandated local program:   yes.

The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 

 line 1 SECTION 1. Section 93029 is added to the Government Code, 
 line 2 to read: 
 line 3 93029. Within 90 days of removing all of its debts, liabilities, 
 line 4 and contractual obligations, the authority shall convey and transfer 
 line 5 all of its rights, interests, privileges, and title, lien free, relating to 
 line 6 its rail right-of-way south of mile post 89.0, including any 
 line 7 associated real property, rail easements, and branch or spur lines, 
 line 8 its licenses and certificates of public convenience and necessity, 
 line 9 any common carrier obligations held by the authority or an 

 line 10 associated freight operator, and the railroad assets the authority 

96 

— 2 — SB 356 

  

Page 102 of 111



 line 1 owns to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District, created 
 line 2 pursuant to Section 105010 of the Public Utilities Code. 
 line 3 SEC. 2.
 line 4 SECTION 1. Section 105003 of the Public Utilities Code is 
 line 5 amended to read: 
 line 6 105003. As used in this part, the following terms have the 
 line 7 following meanings: 
 line 8 (a)  “District” means the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
 line 9 District. 

 line 10 (b)  “Rail transit” means the transportation of passengers and 
 line 11 their incidental baggage by rail and provision of freight service by 
 line 12 rail. 
 line 13 (c)  “Rail transit works” or “rail transit facilities” means any or 
 line 14 all real and personal property, equipment, rights, or interests owned 
 line 15 or to be acquired by the district for rail transit service purposes, 
 line 16 including ancillary bicycle and pedestrian pathways that provide 
 line 17 connections between and access to station sites. 
 line 18 (d)  “Board of directors,” “board,” or “directors” means the board 
 line 19 of directors of the district. 
 line 20 (e)  “Public agency” includes the state, and any county, city and 
 line 21 county, city, district, or other political subdivision or public entity 
 line 22 of, or organized under the laws of, this state, or any department, 
 line 23 instrumentality, or agency thereof. 
 line 24 SEC. 3. Section 105012 of the Public Utilities Code is amended 
 line 25 to read: 
 line 26 105012. (a)  Upon the dissolution of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
 line 27 Rail Transit Commission and the Northwestern Pacific Railroad 
 line 28 Authority, the district shall succeed to any or all of the powers, 
 line 29 duties, rights, obligations, liabilities, indebtedness, bonded and 
 line 30 otherwise, immunities, and exemptions of the commission and its 
 line 31 board of commissioners and the authority and its board of directors. 
 line 32 (b)  Upon the dissolution of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
 line 33 Commission and the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Authority, the 
 line 34 district shall assume the rights and obligations of the commission 
 line 35 and the authority under any contract to which the commission or 
 line 36 the authority is a party and that is to be performed, in whole or in 
 line 37 part, on or after the date of dissolution of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
 line 38 Rail Transit Commission and the Northwestern Pacific Railroad 
 line 39 Authority. 

96 

SB 356 — 3 — 

  

Page 103 of 111



 line 1 (c)  All real and personal property owned by the Sonoma-Marin 
 line 2 Area Rail Transit Commission and the Northwestern Pacific 
 line 3 Railroad Authority may be transferred to the district. 
 line 4 (d)  Upon the dissolution of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
 line 5 Commission, the district shall assume, without any condition 
 line 6 whatsoever, all responsibilities and obligations previously assumed 
 line 7 by the commission with respect to its fund transfer agreement with 
 line 8 the Department of Transportation for the funding of the 
 line 9 Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Project. 

 line 10 (e)  On and after the date of dissolution of the Sonoma-Marin 
 line 11 Area Rail Transit Commission and the Northwestern Pacific 
 line 12 Railroad Authority, any reference in any law or regulation to the 
 line 13 commission or the authority shall be deemed to refer to the district. 
 line 14 SEC. 4.
 line 15 SEC. 2. Section 105032 of the Public Utilities Code is amended 
 line 16 to read: 
 line 17 105032. It shall be the duty of the board and it shall have the 
 line 18 power to: 
 line 19 (a)  Own, operate, manage, and maintain a passenger and freight 
 line 20 rail system within the territory of the district. 
 line 21 (b)  Determine the rail transit and freight facilities, including 
 line 22 ancillary bicycle and pedestrian pathways, to be acquired and 
 line 23 constructed by the district, the manner of operation, and the means 
 line 24 to finance them. 
 line 25 (c)  Adopt an annual budget for the district that provides for the 
 line 26 compensation of its officers and employees. 
 line 27 (d)  Fix rates, rentals, charges, and classifications of rail transit 
 line 28 and freight service operated by the district. 
 line 29 (e)  Adopt an administrative code that prescribes the powers and 
 line 30 duties of district officers, the method of appointment of district 
 line 31 employees, and the methods, procedures, and systems for the 
 line 32 operation and management of the district. 
 line 33 (f)  Adopt rules and regulations governing the use of rail transit 
 line 34 and freight facilities owned or operated by the district. 
 line 35 (g)  Cause a postaudit of the financial transactions and records 
 line 36 of the district to be made at least annually by a certified public 
 line 37 accountant. 
 line 38 (h)  Adopt rules and regulations providing for the administration 
 line 39 of employer-employee relations. 

96 

— 4 — SB 356 

  

Page 104 of 111



 line 1 (i)  Consider potential alternatives to help address the housing 
 line 2 needs of current and future employees. 
 line 3 (j)  Do any and all things necessary to carry out the purposes of 
 line 4 this part. 
 line 5 SEC. 5. Section 105104 of the Public Utilities Code is repealed. 
 line 6 SEC. 6. Section 105105 of the Public Utilities Code is repealed. 
 line 7 SEC. 7.
 line 8 SEC. 3. Section 105180 of the Public Utilities Code is repealed. 
 line 9 SEC. 8.

 line 10 SEC. 4. If the Commission on State Mandates determines that 
 line 11 this act contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to 
 line 12 local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made 
 line 13 pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 
 line 14 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 

O 

96 

SB 356 — 5 — 

  

Page 105 of 111



NAPA
COUNTY

SONOMA
COUNTY

MARIN
COUNTY

SOLANO
COUNTY

HEALDSBURG

WINDSOR

CLOVERDALE

SANTA ROSA

ROHNERT
PARK

COTATI

PETALUMA

SONOMA

NOVATO

VALLEJO

BENICIA

FAIRFIELD

SUISON CITY

VACAVILLE

DIXON

RIO VISTA

MENDOCINO
COUNTY

Page 106 of 111



  

 

 

 

 

 
Eric Lucan, Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
 
Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  
 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Joe Naujokas 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 

 

 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 

 
May 20, 2020 
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT:   SMART Budget Survey and Service Reduction Options 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Receive report on Survey and Provide Direction on Further Budget 
Reductions  
 
OVERVIEW: 
As we have discussed at your last two meetings, we are continuing to work 
to address the dual challenges of the loss of Measure I and the ongoing 
impacts of the COVID-19 shutdowns.  At your last meeting we presented 
options for reducing the budget.  Today we will be presenting you with 
survey information you requested regarding our future service and the 
implications for our budget.  
 
BUDGET INPUT:  
Because we are facing uncertain economic circumstances, we have been 
working to provide your Board with options for budget reductions.  At your 
last two meetings, we discussed potential inclusion of three “buckets” of 
expenditure reductions, two of which your Board has already given early 
direction on.  
 
The first bucket, which will save $3.5 million in one-time expenses that we 
are able to defer, eliminate or fund using other sources.  The second 
bucket of $2.6 million includes reductions in contracts for services such as 
customer service, WiFi and an expectation of savings from a smaller 
refinancing.  Your Board has already given direction on this package and 
those will be included in the budget presentation in June.    

 
We are also continuing to evaluate other savings we can squeeze out of 
the current expenditures and are making progress at capturing those for 
additional fund balance in the future.  We anticipate our budget will 
include other reductions we have been able to capture as part of our 
efforts.  

 
 

Page 107 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 2 of 5 
 

The third “bucket” we presented to you was made up of the elimination of weekend service, a 
reduction to 22 trips on weekdays, and the associated salary and employee reductions.  We identified 
for you that the weekend service reduction would provide a net savings of $1.6 million.  The 
reduction to 22 trips would allow SMART a net savings of $3.2 million.  Also included in this bucket 
are various ideas to reduce benefits and pay of $1.1 million that we are currently exploring with our 
staff and union representatives.  These reductions are available to us at any point we need to 
implement them, whether we do it this year, or in the future as our economic circumstances require.   

 
Upon presentation of these reduction options, your Board requested that we do outreach on the 
proposed new schedule and other reduction options such as the WiFi service.   We immediately went 
to work on that request.  
 
SURVEY RESULTS: 
Within days of your meeting, we quickly prepared and distributed a survey to provide the public with 
an opportunity to hear about the reductions that SMART is considering and to receive input.    We 
will have a complete presentation for you at our meeting, because the survey is still ongoing and will 
not be complete until Sunday May 17th.  The survey was widely distributed and we are receiving good 
feedback.   
 
Although we do not yet have complete survey results, we can share with you some preliminary 
results from the more than 2,700 responses so far.   
 
Who responded to the survey? 

▪ 75% of respondents have traveled on SMART (38% are regular weekday riders) 
▪ 25% of respondents have never traveled on SMART 

 
SMART riders on Elimination of WiFi 

▪ 90% said the elimination of WiFi would NOT factor into their decision to ride SMART 
▪ 57% were not willing to pay for WiFi service. (90% said they would either use their own data 

plan (64%) or create a personal hotspot (27%) to access the internet.  Only 7% reported that 
data limits would prevent them from accessing the internet 

▪ 30% would be willing to pay a $1 - $2 fee per use for onboard WiFi 
 

SMART riders on the Elimination of Weekend Service 
▪ 22% reported they ONLY ride SMART on weekends 
▪ 37% reported they only ride on weekdays, and this change would not impact them   
▪ Weekend and leisure riders who frequently take SMART would no longer have a use for the 

service if weekend service were to be eliminated. 
▪ Respondents also expressed that the weekend schedule did not fit their needs. The majority 

of these comments suggested weekend schedule changes such as: 
▪ Earlier and Later Weekend Service, with fewer mid-afternoon trips. 
▪ Eliminating one, but not both, weekend service days.  Example: Saturday only service 

 

Page 108 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 3 of 5 
 

▪ Another common theme was the need for weekend service for recreation, events, cycling, 
tourism, and business. Riders were anticipating taking SMART more frequently, noting that 
the connection to the Larkspur Ferry increased their desire to ride.  

 
SMART riders on the Weekday Service Reductions 

▪ Only 50% weekday riders found the proposed weekday schedule to be acceptable for their 
commute needs. 

▪ Respondents frequently cited the need for: 
▪ Earlier morning trains for both southbound and northbound commuters 
▪ Later evening trains for both southbound and northbound commuters 
▪ Trains that accommodated school commuters 
▪ Maintaining a schedule that synced with the Larkspur Ferry 

 
Again, we will have more complete survey results for you by the end of Monday and will post those 
results on SMART website.  

 
BUDGET IMPLICATIONS: 
Our policy question is this: How quickly do we move to implement the next “bucket” of reductions?  
How many of those reductions should we implement right away?   We have direction already to 
implement our first two “buckets” of reductions in the budget. However, we have imperfect 
information about the length and impact of the health and economic crisis.  We do not know how 
deeply we need to cut in the long run.  
 
 In trying to answer this policy question there are three important factors that argue for a more 
measured approach to this moment in our decision making.   
 
1. Federal CARES Act Funding: 
We are very fortunate that we will be receiving substantial funds from the Federal government that 
will help us to close immediate revenue gaps. Assuming the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) allocates the remaining 31% of CARES Act funds using the same formula that they 
agreed to with the 25 General Managers of the Bay Area transit services, our share would be $16.9 
million in funding.  This can support the equivalent of our full operating costs for 6 months.  
 
Having these funds allows us time to determine the true impact of the shelter in place order on the 
sales tax and make better projections into future years. 
 
2.  Implications of Staff Layoffs: As we discussed in our May 6 meeting, we do not believe that it 
serves our riders and the public to react too quickly by laying off good employees that we discover 6 
months later we needed to keep.  Eventually the public will return to work and our ridership will 
ultimately begin to return, even if the timing of that is uncertain.  Ramping up service requires 
trained, qualified employees which, as you know, takes significant time.   So, although we have the 
ability to make drastic cutback decisions at any point, there is a human toll and a long-term strategic 
risk to our future sustainability. 
 

Page 109 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 4 of 5 
 

3.  Year-Round Budget:  Finally, although we are required to adopt a budget by June 30th, we will not 
be stopping the budget process on July 1. After July 1 we will be getting more information on 
quarterly sales tax, more information on the economy reopening, and seeing if our budget needs to 
be corrected.  Every service, business, government and individual will be doing the exact same thing 
seeing where we are and readjusting to the conditions on the ground.  
 
In the face of these three important considerations and the survey results we have presented to you, 
the policy decision before the Board is what our ultimate service schedule will look like when we are 
fully functioning? Do we make significant service cut assumptions now, or do we wait?  
 
There is no crystal ball that will tell us what level of reductions will be needed in the long run.  Given 
the uncertainty of sales tax impacts over the next two to four years and our previously identified 
structural deficit, it would be prudent to make some assumptions of a reduction in full service now.  
It would also make planning more clear for our staff and our riders. 
 
The cutback scenarios we presented to you at your May 6 meeting all involve layoffs that we might 
need to implement at some time in the coming months or beyond.  However, given the significant 
CARES Act funding we expect to receive, the difficulty of replacing skilled employees who have been 
laid off, and our ability to review our decision making at any time, we would like to suggest an 
alternative fourth “bucket” for your consideration.   
 
We have the option of choosing to look at a smaller reduction in service that would result in restoring 
an extra train at the beginning and another one at the end of the work day in response to the public 
input. This would achieve two goals: First it would respond to the survey results we have received to 
date about and earlier and later train option.  Second, it could be accomplished without staff layoffs.  
We would be able to make reductions using attrition and the deletion of vacant positions.   
 
In this scenario, SMART would run a “6-1-6” schedule, which means six morning runs, six evening runs 
and one midday run, for a total of 26 runs on the weekday.  Our projection of the savings associated 
with that service are $1.1 million.  For now, we would not assume any cuts to the weekend.  We would 
defer that decision to later in the year after our revenue picture is clearer.  We would continue not 
running weekend service until the shelter-in-place is lifted and weekend ferry service is restored.   
 
Based on the reduction decisions we have made so far, and this additional $1.1 million reduction 
associated with running 26 trips on weekdays, we believe we could maintain that new level of service 
utilizing the CARES act funding and our unallocated fund balances for several years without dipping 
into the minimum $10 million operations reserve your Board agreed on. 

 
This policy choice could be implemented in the budget that we present on June 3 for your further 
discussion and public input.  The budget will then be adopted on June 17th at your last meeting 
before the end of the Fiscal Year.   

 
 
 

Page 110 of 111



SMART Board of Directors 
May 20, 2020 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
Again, that would only be the beginning of the process for our management of this crises.  We will 
continue to monitor and examine the revenues and we will know more in July than we do today 
about sales tax receipts for the April, May and June quarter.  We will also continue to engage MTC 
on the disbursement of the CARES Acts funds we have yet to receive.  In whatever scenario we 
choose and reductions we implement, we will return in the coming months to report on our findings 
and whether our assumptions and decisions should be revisited.   
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
  /s/ 
Farhad Mansourian 
General Manager 
 
 

 

Page 111 of 111


	01_Agenda_05.20.2020
	02_Unapproved Minutes_05.06.2020
	06a_Monthly Financial Report
	06b_Monthly Ridership Report
	06c_Clipper START Program Report
	07_SB 1029 Report
	08_Budget and Service Reduction Report



